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Cott Beverages Limited

Directors’ report
for the 52 week period ended 31 December 2011

The directors present their directors’ report and the audied financial statements of Cott Beverages
Limited for the 52 week penod ended 31 December 2011

Principal activity
The principal activity of the Company dunng the penod was the manufacture and sale of soft drninks

Business review

Whilst the traditional Own Label carbonated soft dninks market continued its dechne in 2011, in
volume terms, the Company has continued to broaden its category offering, develop its own brand
portfollo and increase its co-packing business. This strategy has delivered a revenue growth of
16 7% over the previous year (52 weeks ending 1 January 2011 4 2%).

Gross margins have decreased period on period to 17 6% (52 weeks ending 1 January 2011
19 9%}, due to continued volattity on key commodities and other input prices  Wherever possible we
have fixed input prices to allow certanty of costs and the business has continued with a relentless
focus on input costs and operational efficiency

Our increase In Selling and Distnbution expenses was caused by the increased cost of delivering
product to our customers, principally due to increased fuel costs, as well as our decision to Increase
investment in our own brands

The company continues to generate surplus cash and i1s well placed to continue to invest in growth
opportunities when they anse In the year the Company completed the installation of an additional
production ine and reached agreement to purchase an existing water bottling hne at a leased site to
aliow further growth in 2012.

The prncipal risk facing the business 1s the fluctuation of prices of key commodities, in particular
those against which we cannot buy forward to give us certainty in our customer pricing. With some
commodities this 1s further complicated by currency fluctuattons We continue to work with our key
suppliers to manage this nsk and wherever possible to obtain certainty m our cost prnices over the
short term

Future developments

The Company will continue to support and develop its core retail business, invest in and develop
new distnbution channels, build its portfolio of brands, whilst also strengthening relationships with
major brand owners in the provision of co-packing services

The Company 1s making further investments in capacity and flexibility at its production sites in order
to allow it to continue to grow sales and to secure contracts with customers and will also make
selective iInvestments in new formats or capabilihes, to meet proven customer demand, and continue
to secure export opportunities that utiise the Company’s existing asset base and core strengths.

The directors are committed to delivenng excellent service, stnngent cost control and manufactunng
efficiency, whilst making selective capital investments By delivering to the Company’s customers
both value and service, the directors am to continue to increase revenue duning the forthcoming
year.




Cott Beverages Limited

Directors’ report
for the 52 week period ended 31 December 2011 (continued)

Key performance indicators

The key performance measures for the Company are revenue growth, profit growth and cash flow
generation Progress toward achievement of these targets 15 monitored on a monthly basis by
companng actual and expected volume, sales, margin, cost and working capital performance aganst
the annual budget, periodic re-forecasts and previous perods

Financial risk management

The Company's operations expose it to a vanety of financial nsks that include the effects of changes
in debt market prices, credit nsk, liquidity risk and interest rate cash flow nsk. The Company I1s a
participant 1in the Cott Corporation global credit facility which provides the Company with extra
funding capacity Management also has access to Cott Corporation’s Treasury Department that
assists in the monitonng and managing of financial nisk

Price risk

The Company's primary nsk is its exposure to commodity price fluctuations as a resuit of its
operations, in particular those against which we cannot buy forward to give us certainty in our
customer pnicing With some commodities this 1s further comphlicated by currency fluctuations We
continue to work with our key supphers to manage this nsk and wherever possible to obtain certainty
in our cost prices over the short term. If the Company's operations change in size or nature, the
directors revisit pnce nisk te ensure the nsks are still being managed appropniately. The Company
has no exposure to equity securities pnce nsk as it holds no histed or other equity investments

Credit risk
The Company has in place policies that require appropriate credit checks on potential customers
before sales are made

Liquidity risk

The UK directors manage the UK nsk through monitoring performance against forecast and have
regular discussions with the ultimate parent company (Cott Corporation) to ensure appropnate
funding

Foreign exchanga risk

The company sells to a number of customers in Europe in foreign currency, however this is still a
small proportion of the overall sales of Cott Beverages Limited and therefore the foreign exchange
nsk 1s considered to be immatenal to the business

Interest rate cash flow risk

The Company has both interest bearing assets and interest beanng labilittes Interest beanng assets
include only cash balances, all of which earn interest at floating rates The interest bearng habilities
relate to group habthties which are managed by a Treasury team within the ulimate parent company
{Cott Corporation)

Results and dividends
The profit and loss account for the penod is set out on page 7. The profit for the financial penod 15
£11,869,000 (52 weeks ended 1 January 2011 £8,362,000)

The directors do not recommend payment of a dividend in respect of the cuirent penod (52 weeks
ending 1 January 2011 £nil} No dwvdends were paid dunng the penod (52 weeks ending 1 January
2011: none)

Donations
The Company made chantable donations totalling £2,281 to national chanties (52 weeks ending 1
January 2011 £2,520)




Cott Beverages Limited

Directors’ report
for the 52 week period ended 31 December 2011 (continued)

Directors
The directors, who held office dunng the penod and up to the date of signing these financial
statements, unless otherwise stated, are given below

Mike Tumer
Steve Kitching
Greg Leiter
Trevor Cadden
Jerry Hoyle
Matthew Vernon
Laura Jackson
Mark Grover

Qualifying third-party indemnity insurance was held by all the directors dunng the perod

Research and development

We continue to invest in developing new products within all markets in which the Company trades
The directors regard innovation as integral to the continuing success of the business and the
ongoing growth of all our businesses. The amount spent on research and development in the perod
was £590,000 {52 weeks ending 1 January 2011 £627,000).

Employees

Apphcations for employment by disabled persons are always fully considered, bearing in mind the
respective aptitudes and abilities of the applicant concerned All necessary assistance with inihal
training courses 1s given, and, In common with all employees, a career plan 1s prepared so as to
maximise individual development opportunities In the event of members of staff becoming disabled,
arrangements are made where possible for retraining, to enable them to perform work dentified as
appropnate to their aptitudes and abiliies. it is the policy of the Company that the training, career
development and promotion of a disabled person should, as far as possible, be identical to that of a
person who does have a disability

Consultation with employees or therr representatives has continued at all levels, through unions, staff
consultaton committees and at meetings with the aim of ensunng that therr iews are taken into
account when decisions are made that are likely to affect their interests and that all employees are
aware of the financial and economic performance of their business units and of the Company as a
whole Communication with employees continues through quarterly bnefs and through the use of
staff notice boards.

Payment to suppliers

It 1s the Company’s policy to agree terms of payment with its suppliers when agreeing the terms of a
business transaction or transactions All suppliers are aware of this procedures and the Company
abides by the agreed payment terms subject to the terms and condittons being met by the suppliers.
Trade creditors at the penod end represented 41 days (1 January 2011: 36 days) of purchases.




Cott Beverages Limited

Directors’ report
for the 52 week period ended 31 December 2011 (continued)

Statement of directors' responsibilities
The dwrectors are responsible for prepanng the directors’ report and the financial statements in
accordance with applicable law and regulations.

Company law requires the directors to prepare financial statements for each financial penod Under
that law, the directors have prepared the financial statements in accordance with United Kingdom
Generally Accepted Accounting Practice (United Kingdom Accounting Standards and applicable
law). Under company law, the directors must not approve the financial statements unless they are
satisfied that they give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the company and of the profit or
loss of the company for that period In prepanng these financial statements, the directors are
required to

select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently,
make judgements and accounting estimates that are reasonable and prudent,
state whether applicable UK Accounting Standards have been followed, subject to any
matenal departures disclosed and explained in the financial statements, and

e prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless it 1s inapproprate to
presume that the company will continue in business

The directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficient to show
and explain the company’s transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the
financial position of the company and enable them to ensure that the financial statements comply
with the Companies Act 2006 They are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the company
and hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other
iIrregulanties

Disclosure of information to auditors
In accordance with section 418 of the Companies’ Act 2006, the directors confirm that the auditors
have been provided with appropnate informatton, and that.

+ so far as the director 1s aware, there 1s no relevant audit information of which the company’s
auditor 1s unaware, and

« he/she has taken all the steps that he ought to have taken as a director in order to make
himself/herself aware of any relevant audit information and to establish that the company's
auditor 1s aware of that information.

Independent auditors

The auditors, PrnicewaterhouseCcoopers LLP, have indicated therr willingness to continue in office and
a resolution concerming their re-appointment will be proposed at the Annual General Meeting

By order of the board

/

erry Hoyle
Director
3 August 2012




Independent auditors’ report to the members of Cott Beverages
Limited

We have audited the financial statements of Cott Beverages Limited for the 52 week penod ended
31 December 2011, which compnise the Profit and Loss Account, Statement of Total Recognised
Gains and Losses, the Balance Sheet and the related notes The financial reporting framework that
has been applied in their preparation 1s applicabte law and United Kingdom Accounting Standards
(United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice).

Respective responsibilities of directors and auditors

As explained more fully in the statement of directors’ responsibilities set out on page 5, the directors
are responsible for the preparation of the financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a
true and fatr view Our responsibility 1s to audit and express an opinion con the financial statements in
accordance with applicable law and International Standards on Auditing (UK and Iretand). Those
standards require us to comply with the Auditing Practices Board’s Ethical Standards for Auditors.

Thus report, including the opinions, has been prepared for and only for the company’'s members as a
body in accordance with Chapter 3 of part 16 of the Companies Act 2006 and for no other purpose
We do not, in giving these opinions, accept or assume responsibility for any other purpose or to any
other person to whom this report 1s shown or into whose hands it may come save where expressly
agreed by our prior consent in writing

Scope of the audit of the financial statements

An audit iInvolves obtaining evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements
sufficient to give reasonable assurance that the financial statements are free from matenal
misstatement, whether caused by fraud or error. This includes an assessment of whether the
accounting policies are appropriate to the company’s circumstances and have been consistently
applied and adequately disclosed, the reasonableness of significant accounting estmates made by
the directors, and the overall presentation of the financial statements In addition, we read all the
financial and non-financial information in the Directors’ report to identify matenal inconsistencies with
the audited financial statements If we become aware of any apparent matenal misstatements or
inconsistencies we consider the implications for our report

Opinion on financial statements
In our opinion the financial statements
e gwe atrue and fair view of the state of the company's affairs as at 31 December 2011 and of
its profit for the penod then ended,
+ have been properly prepared in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted
Accounting Practice, and
e have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006

Opinion on other matters prescribed by the Companies Act 2006
In our opinton, the information given in the directors’ report for the financial penod for which the
financial statements are prepared 1s consistent with the financial statements

Matters on which we are required to report by exception
We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters where the Companies Act 2006
requires us to report to you If, in our opinion:
¢ adequate accounting records have not been kept, or returns adequate for our audit have not
been received from branches not visited by us, or
the financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and retumns, or
certain disclosure of directors’ remuneration specified by law are not made; or
we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit

Christopher Hibbs (Senior Stdtutory Auditor)
For and on behalf of PncewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Chartered Accountants and Statutory Auditors,
East Midlands

3 August 2012




Cott Beverages Limited

Profit and loss account

for the 52 week period ended 31 December 2011

52 week 52 week

period ended penod ended

Note 31 December 2011 1 January 2011

£'000 £'000

Turnover 2 278,880 238,876

Cost of sales (229,894} (191,336)

Gross profit 48,986 47,540

Administrative expenses (9,358) {10,404)

Selling and distnbution expenses {21,503) {20,563)
Profit on ordinary activities before interest

and toxation Y 3 18,125 16,573

Interest receivable and simitar income 6 36 8

Interest payable and similar charges 7 {7,042) (6,479)

Other finance expense (267) (86)

Profit on ordinary activities before taxation 10,852 10,016

Tax on profit on ordinary activities 8 1,017 {1,654)

Profit for the financial period 11,869 8,362

Allitems dealt with in amving at the profit on ordinary activities before taxation relate to continuing

activities

There 1s no difference between the profit on ordinary activittes before taxation and the profit for the
financial penods stated above, and therr histoncal cost equivalents




Cott Beverages Limited

Statement of total recognised gains and losses
for the 52 week period ended 31 December 2011

52 week 52 week

period ended pencd ended

Note 31 December 2011 1 January 2011

£'000 £'000

Profit for the financial penod 11,869 8,362

Actuanal losses on pension scheme 17 {2,858) (355)

I(':urrent tax deductions allocated to actuanal 8 181 165

osses

Movement on deferred tax relating to pension

deficit 17 534 (118)

Total recognised gains and losses relating 9,726 8,056

to the period




Cott Beverages Limited

Balance sheet
as at 31 December 2011

31 December 1 January
Note 2011 2011
£'000 £'000
Fixed assets
intangible assets 9 491 666
Tangible assets 10 57,091 57,257
investments 11 152,249 108,723
209,831 166,646
Current assets
Stock 12 13,288 12,067
Debtors 13 45,430 37,278
Cash at bank and in hand 30,121 16,723
88,839 66,068
;:;:?itors - amounts falling due within one 14 (48,741) (39,034)
Net current assets 40,098 27,034
Total assets less current liabilities 249,929 193,680
Creditors - amounts falling due after more
than one year 9 15 (83,392) (81,045)
Provisions for habiities 16 (2,337) (3.377)
Net assets excluding pension deficit 164,200 109,258
Net pension liabiliies 17 (4,938) (3,248)
Net assets including pension deficit 159,262 106,010
Capital and reserves
Called-up share capital 19 79,839 157,839
Share premium account 20 11,765 11,765
Other reserve 20 43,526 -
Profit and loss account 20 24,132 (63,594)
Total shareholders® funds 21 159,262 106,010

The financial statements on pages 7 to 29 were approved by the board of directors on 3 August 2012
and were signed on its behalf by

-

emry Hoyle
Director

Registered company number: 2836071




Cott Beverages Limited

Notes to the financial statements
for the 52 week period ended 31 December 2011

Accounting policies

The pnncipal accounting poficies, which have been consistently applied in the preparation of these
financial statements, are set out below

Basis of preparation

These financial statements are prepared on a going concern basis, under the historical cost
convention, and in accordance with Companies Act 2006 and applicable accounting standards n the
United Kingdom The directors consider that the Company’s accounting policies and estimation
techmiques are the most appropnate in accordance with FRS18

Basis of consolidation

The company is a wholly owned subsichary of Cott Corporation, a company incorporated in the
United States of America, and i1s included in the consolidated financial statements of Cott
Corporation, which are publicly avallable Consequently, the company has taken advantage of the
exemption from consolidating at this level under the terms of FRS 1 (revised 1996) The detai of the
highest and lowest point of consolidation 1s isted in note 26

Cash flow statement

Given that the company 1s a wholly owned subsidiary of Cott Corporation and 1s included in the
consolidated financial statements of Cott Corporation which are publicly available, the company has
taken advantage of the exemption from preparing a cash flow statement under the terms of FRS 1
(revised 1996)

Turnover

Tumover, which excludes value added tax, represents the invoiced amounts denved from the
manufacture and sale of soft drinks after deductions have been made for trade discounts Tumover
Is recognised when the goods are accepted by the customer

Research and development
Costs incurred in respect of research and development are expensed to the profit and loss account
In the penod in which they are incurred

Pension costs

The Company's defined benefit pension scheme 1s assessed annually in accordance with FRS 17
The accounting valuation 1s based on assumptions determined with independent actuanai advice
These assumptions include pnce inflation, pension and salary ncreases, the discount rate used in
assessing actuanal habiities, mortality and other demographic assumptions, and the level of
contnbutions Further details are included in note 17

Since 2008, the Company has adopted the amendment to FRS 17 which requires that equity
investments and bonds held in pfan assets are valued at current bid-pnce rather than mid-pnce

Payments to the Company's defined contnbution schemes are charged as an expense as they fall
due.

10




Cott Beverages Limited

Notes to the financial statements
for the 52 week period ended 31 December 2011 (continued)

Accounting policies (continued)

Finance and operating leases
Costs in respect of operating leases are charged on a straight ine basis over the term of the lease.

Leasing arrangements which transfer to the Company substantially all the benefits and risks of
ownership of an asset are treated as If the asset had been purchased outright The assets are
included n tangible fixed assets and the capital element of the leasing commitments 1s shown as an
obligation under finance leases The lease rentals are treated as consisting of capital and interest
elements. The capital element 1s applied to reduce the outstanding obligations and the interest
element I1s charged against profit in proportion to the reducing capital element outstanding Assets
held under finance leases are depreciated over the shorter of the lease terms or the useful ives of
equivalent owned assets

Foreign currencies

Transactions in foreign currencies are recorded at the rate of exchange at the date of the
transaction Monetary assets and llabiities denominated in foreign currencies at the balance sheet
date are reported at the rates of exchange prevailing at that date, or «f appropnate, at the forward
contract rate.

Intercompany balances denominated in foreign currencies are translated at each balance sheet date
using the rates prevailing at that date Differences are recognised within admimistrative gains and
expenses

Taxation
The charge for taxation i1s based on the profits for the penod as adjusted for disallowable items.

Deferred taxation has been recognised as a liability or asset If transactions have occurred at the
balance sheet date that give nise to an obligation to pay more taxation in future, or a nght to pay less
taxation in future Deferred tax balances are not discounted and are recogmsed to the extent that it 1s
regarded more than likely that there will be suitable taxable profits against which these assets can be
recovered in future perods

Tangible assets and depreciation
Tangible assets are stated at hustoric purchase cost less accumulated depreciation and any provision
for impairment

Depreciation 1s calculated so as to wnite off the cost of tangible assets, less their estimated residual
values, on a straight ne basis over the expected usefui economic hives of the assets concerned.

The principal annual rates used for this purpose are

Freehold bulldings 2 50% to 10 00%
Plant and machinery 8 33% to 25 00%
Computer equipment 33 00%
Fixtures and fitings 10 00%

Freehold land 1s not depreciated
Capitalisation of finance costs

Financing fees in relation to the cost of raising debt are capitalised and written off on a straight fine
basis over the life of the financing arrangement

1




Cott Beverages Limited

Notes to the financial statements
for the 52 week period ended 31 December 2011 (continued)

Accounting policies {continued)

Purchased intangible assets
Intangible assets are stated at historic cost net of amortisation and any provision for impairment.

Impairment of goodwill and tangible assets

In accordance with FR311, the Company performs impairment reviews where there 1s an indication
that the carrying amount of goodwill or tangible assets may not be recoverable The impairment
review involves using measurement techniques to estimate the asset’s recoverable amount, based
upon the higher of post-tax net realisable value and value in use, and companng that with the
carrying value of the asset

Where it 1s established that an asset has been impaired, then an amount equal to the impairment 1s
charged to the profit and loss account in the period of the imparment.

Where an impairment review has been carned out and the recoverable amount has been based on
value in use, the Company monitors the results of the review of the next five periods f, during this
monitoring penod, the resuits of the onginal impairment review are no longer considered to be
appropnate, then a reversing credit or increased charge 1s made to the profit and loss account

Share based payments

The company operates a share based compensation scheme where the ulimate parent company
Issues equity-settled share based payments to certan employees of Cott Beverages Limited Shares
iIssued to employees have been measured at fair value at the date of the grant The farr value of
equity settled share based payments 1s determined at the date of grant and 1s expensed on a
straight-line basis over the vesting period based on the group’s estimate of when shares or share
options will eventually vest and adjusted for the effect of non-market conditions

Investments
Investments are stated at cost less provisions for impairment

Stocks

Stocks are valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value, cost being determined on the first-in,
first-out (FIFO) basis and net realisable value being the sales price less costs of sale. In the case of
manufactured products, cost includes all direct expenditure and production overheads based on the
normal level of activity. Where necessary, provision 1s made for obsolete, slow moving or defective
stocks

Turnover

The directors consider there to be one class of business The analysis by geographical area of
destinatton of the Company’s turnover and profit on ordinary activites before interest and taxation is
set out below All the Company’s assets and habilities are held in the UK.

52 week period ended 52 week penod ended

31 December 2011 1 January 2011
Turnover Profit Tumaver Profit
£000 £'000 £'000 £'000
United Kingdom and Ireland 270,919 17,190 230,775 16,179
Europe 7,926 933 6,531 300
Rest of the World s 2 1,570 94
Total 278,880 18,125 238,876 16,573

12




Cott Beverages Limited

Notes to the financial statements
for the 52 week period ended 31 December 2011 (continued)

3  Profit on ordinary activities before taxation

52 week 52 week
period ended penod ended
31 December 2011 1 January 2011

£'000 £'000
Operating profit is stated after charging:
Wages and salanes 25,838 23,374
Social secunty costs 2,778 2,830
Other pension costs (note 17) 1,239 942
Share based compensation {note 18) 344 310
Staff costs 30,199 27,456
Amortisation of intangible assets 175 175
Depreciaticn of tangible fixed assets
- Owned assets 7,212 6,563
Operating lease charges
- Plant and machinery 849 758
- Other 27 160
Hire of plant and machinery 3 452
Loss on disposal of fixed assets 34 -
Research and development 590 627
Services provided by the company's auditor
Fees payable for the audit 203 188
Fees payable for other services - tax compliance 10 22
4 Directors’ emoluments
52 week 52 week
period ended penod ended
31 December 2011 1 January 2011
£'000 £000
Aggregate emoluments 1,256 1,172
Company pension contributions to defined 53 41
contnbution pension schemes
1,309 1,213

Emoluments for the services of G Leiter were paid by other subsidiaries of the Cott Corporation
group of companies and accordingly his emoluments are disclosed in the financial statements of Cott
Corporation. No recharge 1s made to Cott Beverages Limited

Retirement benefits are accruing to six directors (52 weeks ending 1 January 2011 six) under
defined contnbution pension schemes Retirement benefits are accruing to one director (52 weeks
ending 1 January 2011 one) under defined benefit pension schemes. No directors exercised share
options in Cott Corporation dunng the period (52 weeks ending 1 January 2011 none} No directors
received shares under long term incentive schemes (52 weeks ending 1 January 2011. none).

13




Cott Beverages Limited

Notes to the financial statements

for the 52 week period ended 31 December 2011 (continued)

4 Directors' emoluments (continued)

52 week 52 week

penod ended penod ended

Highest paid director 31 December 2011 1 January 2011

£'000 £'000

Total amount of emoluments and amounts {excluding 363 428
shares) receivable under long-term incentive schemes

Company pension contnbutions to defined contnbution 16 18

pension schemes
379 444

5 Employee information

The average monthly number of persons {including executive directors} employed by the Company

dunng the penod was:

52 week
period ended
31 December 2011

52 week
penod ended
1 January 2011

Number Number

By activity
Production 612 568
Selling and distnbution 55 49
Adminustration 103 92
770 709

6 Interest receivable and similar income

52 week 52 week

period ended
31 December 2011

penod ended
1 January 2011

£'000 £'000
Interest receivable on overdrafts and bank loans 16 8
Interest recerwvable from other group undertakings 20 -
36 8
7  Interest payable and similar charges
52 week 52 week

period ended
31 December 2011

penod ended
1 January 2011

£'000 £'000
Interest payable on overdrafts and bank loans 128 155
Interest payable to other group undertakings 6,746 6,193
Amortisation of financing costs 168 131
7,042 6,479

14




Cott Beverages Limited

Notes to the financial statements
for the 52 week period ended 31 December 2011 (continued)

Tax on profit on ordinary activities

52 week 52 week
period ended penod ended
31 December 2011 1 January 2011
£000 £'000
Current tax-
- UK corporation tax on profits of the year - 1,862
- Adjustment in respect of previous years 23 94
Total current tax 23 1,956
Deferred tax
- Ongination and reversal of timing differences (790) (218)
- Impact of change in tax rate (250) {B4)
Total deferred tax (note 16) (1,040) {302)
Tax on profit on ordinary activities (1,017) 1,654

The current tax charge is lower (52 weeks ending 1 January 2011 lower) than the standard effective
rate of corporation tax in the UK for the penced ended 31 December 2011 of 26 49% (52 weeks
ending 1 January 2011 28 00%).

The differences are explained below

52 week 52 week
period ended penod ended
31 December 2011 1 January 2011
£'000 £'000
Profit on ordinary activities before tax 10,852 10,016
Profit on ordinary activities muitiplied by standard rate in
the UK 26 49% (52 weeks ending 1 January 2011 2,875 2,804
28 00%)
Effects of:
- Expenses not deductible for tax purposes 223 165
- Accelerated capital allowances and other timing
differences 522 200
- Tax effect of controlled foreign company apportionment 415 -
- Group relief claimed not paid (4,035) {1,307)
- Adjustments to tax charge in respect of previous years 23 94
Current tax charge for the year 23 1,956

Tax on recognised gains and losses not included in the profit and loss account

52 week 52 week
period ended penod ended
31 December 2011 1 January 2011
£000 £000

UK corporation tax at 26.49% (52 weeks ending 1
January 2011 28%) (757) (96)
Impact of change in tax rate 42 47

{715) (49)

15
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Cott Beverages Limited

Notes to the financial statements
for the 52 week period ended 31 December 2011 (continued)

Tax on profit on ordinary activities (continued)

Factors affecting future and current tax charges

In addition to the changes in rates of Corporation tax, a number of further changes to the UK
Corporation tax system were announced in the March 2012 UK Budget Statement. A resolution
passed by Parhament on 26 March 2012 reduced the main rate of corporation tax to 24% from 1
April 2012 Legislation to reduce the main rate of corporation tax from 24% to 23% from 1 Apnl 2013
Is expected to be included in the Finance Act 2012. A further reduction to the main rate i1s also
proposed to reduce the rate to 22% from 1 Apnl 2014 None of these rate reductions had been
substantively enacted at the balance sheet date and, therefore, are not included in these financial
statements

The effect of the changes enacted by Parlament on 26 March 2012 1s to reduce the net deferred tax
liability provided at the balance sheet date by £28,000 This £28,000 decrease n the deferred tax
habiity would increase profit by £93,000 and decrease other gans and losses by £65,000 This
decrease in the deferred tax hability 1s due to the additicnal reduction in the corporation tax rate to 24
per cent with effect from 1 Apnl 2012

The effect of the changes expected to be enacted in the Finance Act 2012 would be to further reduce
the deferred tax liability provided at the balance sheest date by an additional £28,000 This £28,000
decrease in the deferred tax hability would increase profit by £93,000 and decrease other gains and
losses by £65,000 This decrease in the deferred tax hability 1s due to the reduction in the corporation
tax rate from 24 per cent to 23 per cent with effect from 1 Apnl 2013

Intangible assets

Brand
£000
Cost
At 31 December 2011 and 2 January 1,750
2011
Accumulated amortisation
At 2 January 2011 1,084
Charge for the penod 175
At 31 December 2011 1,259
Net book amount at 31 December 2011 491

Net book amount at 1 January 2011 666
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Cott Beverages Limited

Notes to the financial statements
for the 52 week period ended 31 December 2011 (continued)

Tangible assets

Land and Plant and Fixtures and
Buildings Machinery Fittings Total
£'000 £'000 £000 £'000

Cost
At 2 January 2011 32,343 83,195 4,830 120,368
Additions - 7,012 68 7,080
Disposals - (5.341) - (5,341)
At 31 December 2011 32,343 84,866 4,898 122,107
Accumulated depreciation
At 2 January 2011 10,231 48,075 4,805 63,111
Charge for the period 815 6,310 87 7,212
Disposals - (5,307) - (5,307)
At 31 December 2011 11,046 49,078 4,892 65,016
Net book amount
At 31 December 2011 21,297 35,788 6 57,091
At 1 January 2011 22,112 35,120 25 57,257

The assets are subject to a fixed and floating charge in favour of the Company’s bankers
All land and builldings relate to freehold land and buildings

Freehold land and bulldings includes £6,117,000 (2010 £6,117,000)1n respect of land which 1s not
subject to depreciation

There are no assets held under finance leases and capitalised within any of the above tangible asset
categones (52 weeks ending 1 January 2011 none).
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Cott Beverages Limited

Notes to the financial statements
for the 52 week period ended 31 December 2011 (continued)

Fixed asset investments

£'000
At 2 January 2011 108,723
Capital contnbutions 43,526
At 31 December 2011 152,249

Over the course of the year, seven capital contnbutions were made from Cott Retadl Brands Lirmited
to Cott Beverages Limited Following each capital contnibution receipt, Cott Beverages Limited then
made a capital contnbution to Cott US Holdings LLC of the same value, each of which have been
recognised as an increase in the mvestment in Cott Beverages Incorporated. The capital
contnbutions have been descnbed below

On 16 March 2011, a capital contribution of £16,136,000 was received,

On 15 August 2011, a capital contnbution of £4,440,497 was received,

On 15 September 2011, a capital contnbution of £1,421,369 and one of £4,255,092 were received,
On 21 October 2011, a capital contribution of £11,031,885 was received,

On 2 December 2011, a capital contnbution of £4,859,616 was received, and

On 15 December 2011, a capttal contribution of £1,381,116 was recewved

All fixed asset investments relate to interests in group undertakings, all of which are subsidianes of
Cott Beverages Limited The directors believe that the carrying values are supported by the
recoverable amounts of the subsidiary companies that are detailed below
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Cott Beverages Limited

Notes to the financial statements
for the 52 week period ended 31 December 2011 (continued)

Fixed asset investments (continued)

Descnption
Country of Pnncipal of shares Group Share
Name of subsidiary incorporation activity held ownership  ownership
Cott Nelson England and Ordinary °
(Holdings) Limited * Wales Dormant shares 100% 100%
Cott (Nelson} England and Ordinary o
Limited Wales Dormant shares 100% 100%
Cott Private Label England and Ordeinary
Limited * Wales Dormant shares 100% 100%
Cott US Holdings Delaware, United Holding Ordinary
LLc* States of America Company shares 100% 100%
Cott Holdings Delaware, United Holding Ordinary 100% 100%
Incorporated States of Amenca Company shares ° ¢
Cott USA Detaware, United Holding Ordinary o
Corporation States of Amenca Company shares 100% 100%
Coft Beverages Georgia, United Manufacture Ordinary 100% 100%
Incorporated States of Amenca  of soft dnnks shares ° °
Cott US Acquisiton  Delaware, United Holding Ordinary o o
LLC States of Amenca Company shares 100% 100%
Cott UK Acquisition England and Holding Ordinary o
Limited Wales Company shares 100% 100%
Cott Acquisihion England and Holding Ordmnary o °
Limited Wales Company shares 100% 100%
Cott Acquisition Delaware, United Holding Ordinary o o
LLC States of Amenca Company shares 100% 100%
Manufacture

Delaware, Unmited Ordinary
Cliffstar LLC States of Amernca of fdn;: i:lce shares 100% 100%
Star Real Property  Delaware, Uruted Holding Ordinary o o
LLC States of Amenca  Company shares 100% 100%

Delaware, United Holding Ordinary o o
Intenm BCB. LLC States of Amenca Company shares 100% 100%
Cott IP Holdings Delaware, United Holding Ordmnary 100% 100%
Corporation States of Amenca Company shares ° °
Cott Vending Delaware, United Holding Qrdinary 100% 100%
Incorporated States of Amenca  Company shares ° °
Northeast Finco Delaware, United Holding Ordmary 100% 100%
Incorporated States of Amenca  Company shares ° °
Cott NE Holdings Delaware, United Holding Ordmary 100% 100%
Incorporated States of Amenca  Company shares ° °
Northeast Retailer

Delaware, United Holding Ordinary o o
Brands States of Amenca Company shares 100% 100%

Incorporated

* indicates direct subsidiary
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Cott Beverages Limited

Notes to the financial statements
for the 52 week period ended 31 December 2011 (continued)

12 Stock
31 December 1 January
2011 2011
£000 £'000
Raw matenals 3,866 3,205
Firushed goods 9,422 8,862
13,288 12,067
13 Debtors
31 December 1 January
2011 2011
£000 £000
Trade debtors 40,080 34,724
Amounts owed by group undertakings 3,058 539
Other debtors 201 345
Prepayments and accrued income 2,091 1,670
45,430 37,278

Within the ‘Amounts owed by group undertakings’ 1s a £2,000,000 short term loan (1 January 2011
£nil}, which 1s unsecured, repayable on demand and bears interest at 3% pa The remaining
amounts owed by group undertakings shown as falling due within one year are unsecured, repayable
on demand and non-interest beartng

14 Creditors — amounts falling due within one year

31 December 1 January

2011 2011

£'000 £'000

Trade creditors 27,907 21,041
Amounts owed to group undertakings 1,168 2,888
Corporation tax 1,307 808
Taxation and social security 5,879 3,563
Accruals and deferred ncome 12,482 10,734
48,741 39,034

The amounts owed to group undertakings are unsecured, repayable on demand and are non-interest
beanng

15 Creditors — amounts falling due after more than one year

31 December 1 January

201 2011

£'000 £'000

Amounts owed to group undertakings 83,390 81,043
Redeemable preference shares 2 2

83,392 81,045
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Cott Beverages Limited

Notes to the financial statements
for the 52 week period ended 31 December 2011 (continued)

Creditors — amounts falling after more than one year (continued)

Included within amounts due to other group companies 1s an amount of £68,000,000 (1 January
2011 £68,000,000) which represents a bond listed on the Channel Island Stock Exchange which 1s
owned entirely by other group companies Interest s charged on this bond at a fixed rate of 8.3% (1
January 2011 8 3%) and the bond was redeemable at par on 31 March 2012 The Directors are of
the opinicn that the fair value of the loan notes at 31 December 201115 £58,418,523 (1 January
2011 £68,000,000). The fair value of the loan notes 15 calculated by discounting future cash flows at
prevailing rates

in addition to the Eurobond noted above, a loan note of £14,682,000 (1 January 2011- £12,335,000)
owed to another group undertaking 1s included within amounts due to other group companies This 1s
unsecured with an effective rate of unwinding of 8 3% (1 January 2011: 8.3%) and was redeemable
on 31 March 2012 The remaiming £708,000 batance (1 January 2011 £708,000) relates to amounts
owed to group undertakings that are unsecured and non-interest bearing

Following the year end, the Eurobond of £68,000,000 was renewed with the Channel Island Stock
Exchange It remains in the ownership of the other group companies and interest is charged at a
fixed rate of 8 3% The bond i1s now redeemable at par on 31 March 2020 Additionally, the loan of
£14,682,000 held by another group company has been exchanged in a debt to equity swap at par
subsequent to 31 December 2011 At 31 December 2011 the company had received confirmation
from other group companies that the tong term llabilities descnbed above would not be called within
twelve months of 31 December 2011

The redeemable {(at par) preference shares are undated and are eligible to receive a fixed
cumulative dividend of 0 5% payable bi-annually on 25 March and 29 September on the nominal
value of the shares. The shares are non-voting and have a preferenttal nght to return of capital upon
winding-up of the Company. Since these shares were acquired by Cott Retall Brands Limited, the
rights to these dividends have been waived

Provisions for liabilities
Excludmng deferred tax on pension hability.
£'000
At 2 January 2011 3,377
Credited to the profit and loss account (note 8) (1,040)
At 31 December 2011 2,337

Deferred taxation provided in the financial statements 1s as follows
31 December 1 January

2011 2011
£000 £'000
Tax effect of timing differences because of:
Excess of capital allowances over depreciation 2,432 3,444
Other timing differences (145) (87)
Deferred tax hability excluding the asset relating to pension liabihity 2,337 3.377
Deferred tax asset on pension scheme liability (note 17) (1,646) (1,201)

Net deferred tax liability 691 2,176

21




17

Cott Beverages Limited

Notes to the financial statements
for the 52 week period ended 31 December 2011 (continued)

Pension commitments
The Company operates a number of defined contnbution schemes

The assets of these schemes are held separately from those of the Company 1n iIndependently
administered funds The pension charge represents contrnibutions payable by the Company, and
amounted to £785,000 {1 January 2011 £709,000) for the penod

Defined benefit schemes

The Company operates a defined benefit pension scheme In the UK, the Cott Beverages Limited
Retirement and Death Benefit Scheme The assets of the scheme, which 1s a funded scheme, are
held in a separate trustee administered fund and employees are entitled to retirement benefits based
on therr final pensionable salanes and length of service

The valuation of the scheme 1s based on the most recent actuanal valuation as at 1 May 2009,
updated by the scheme actuary to 31 December 2011

The disclosures set out below are based on calculations carried out as at 31 December 2011 by a
qualified independent actuary

The scheme assets are held in a separate trustee administered fund to meet long-term pension
habihties to past and present employees The Trustees of the scheme are required to act in the best
interest of the fund's beneficianes The appointment of Trustees to the scheme 1s determined by the
scheme’s trust documentation

The habilities of the defined benefit scheme are measured by discounting the best estimate of future
cash flows to be paid out of the scheme using the projected unit method This amount ts reflected in
the deficit in the balance sheet The projected umt method 1s an accrued benefits valuation method in
which the scheme liabilities make allowance for the projected earnings

As at 31 December 2011, contributions are payable to the scheme by the Company at the rates set
out in the Schedule of Contnbutions dated 27 May 2010

The employer contributions expected to be made in the year commencing 1 January 2012 are
£1,037,000 (1 January 2011 £1,030,000) Employee contnbutions are expected at £81,000 (1
January 2011 £79,000)

At 31 December 2011, no contributions were due to the pension scheme (1 January 2011 none)

Principal assumptions

The principal actuanal assumptions at the balance sheet date were
31 December 1 January 2 January 27 December

2011 2011 2010 2008
% % % %

Rate of increase In
salaries 325% 370% 370% 310%
Expected return on scheme assets 570% 6 90% 720% 6 90%
Discount rate 4.60% 5 40% 580% 6 40%
Rate of inflation (RPI) 3.25% 370% 370% 310%
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Cott Beverages Limited

Notes to the financial statements
for the 52 week period ended 31 December 2011 (continued)

17 Pension commitments (continued)
The assumptions used by the actuary are the best estimates chosen from a range of possible
actuanial assumptions which, due to the timescale covered, may not necessarily be borne out in
practice
Mortahty assumptions used were as follows
31 December 1 January
2011 2011
Years Years
Longevity at age 65 for current pensioners
- Men 2160 2160
- Women 24,00 2380
Longevity at age 65 for future pensioners
- Men 23.50 2340
- Women 25 80 2570
Scheme assets
The fair value of the scheme’s assets, which are not intended to be realised in the short term and
may be subject to significant change before they are realised and the present value of the scheme's
habilities, which are derived from cash flow projections over long periods and thus inherently
uncertain are
Long-term rate of Value at31 Long-termrateof WValueat1 Long-termrateof Valueat2
return expected at December return expected at January return expected at January
31 December 2011 2011 1 January 2011 2011 2 January 2010 2010
Y% £'000 Y% £'000 % £'000
zquities 6.9% 8,707 7 7% 9,416 8 00% 7,885
3onds 4 0% 6,293 54% 4,926 5 80% 4,125
Zash 0.5% 91 0 5% 145 2 00% 121
Total market value of assets 15,091 14,487 12,131
Iresent value of
scheme habilities (21,675) (18,936) (16,836)
Jeficit in scheme (6,584) (4,449) {4,705)
Jelated deferred
ax asset 1,646 1,201 1,317
Net pension deficit {4,938) {3,248) {3,388)

The Company adopted the amendment to FRS 17 “Retirement benefits” in 2008 which requires that
equity investments and bonds held in plan assets are valued at current bid price rather than mid
pnce This has not had a matenal impact on the results or balances at 31 December 2011 or 1
January 2010 and consequently no restatement Is required
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Cott Beverages Limited

Notes to the financial statements

for the 52 week period ended 31 December 2011 (continued)

Pension commitments (continued)

Change in plan assets

31 December 1 January

2011 2011

£000 £'000

Opening value 14,487 12,131
Expected return on scheme assets 1,030 899
Actuanal (losses)/gains {1,059) 708
Benefits paid (476) (263)
Contnbutions paid by employees 79 82
Contnbutions paid by employer 1,030 930
Closing value 15,091 14,487

The expected return on scheme assets 1s determined by considenng the expected retumns available
on the assets underlying the current investment policy Expected yields on fixed interest investments
are based on gross redemption yields as at the balance sheet date Expected returns on equity
investments reflect long-term real rates of expected return experienced in the respective markets

The actual return on scheme assets in the year was a loss of £29,000 (52 weeks ending 1 January

2011 gan of £1,607,000).

Change in plan habilities

31 December 1 January

2011 201

£000 £000

Opening cost {18,936) {16,836)
Current service cost (311) {233)
Interest cost {1,026) {985)
Employee contributions (79) (82)
Benefits paid 476 263
Actuanal loss (1,799) (1,063)
Closing cost {21,675) (18,936)

Analysis of service costs and the amount charged to other finance expense

31 December 1 January

2011 2011

£'000 £000

Current service cost 3N 233
Expected return on pension scheme assets (1,030) (899)
Interest on pension scheme habilities 1,026 285
Total 307 319
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Cott Beverages Limited

Notes to the financial statements
for the 52 week period ended 31 December 2011 (continued)

17  Pension commitments (continued)

Analysis of the amounts recognised In statement of total recognised gans and losses

52 week
period ended
31 December 2011

52 week
penod ended
1 January 2011

£'000 £'000
Actuanal (losses)/gains on assets (1,059) 708
Expenence losses on habilities (560) (111)
Losses on change of assumptions (1,239) (952)
Total loss recognised in the statement of total
recognised gains and losses before adjustment {2,858) (355)
for tax
Cumulative actuarial loss recognised in
statement of total recognised gains and losses {3,059) {201)
|
History of experience gains and losses !
Dec Jan Dec Cec Dec

2011 2011 2009 2008 2007

Defined benefit obligation (21,675) (18,936) (16,836) (13,636) (14.827)
Plan assets 15,091 14,487 12,131 9,341 12,037
Defiat (6,584) (4,449) (4,705) (4,295) (2,790)
Expenence adjustments on plan

assets

Amount (1,059) 708 1,866 (3,750) {304)
(Loss)/gan from changes in the assumptions on

the value of plan habilities:

Amount {1,239) (952) (2,954) 1,933 943
Expenence adjustments on plan habilities.

Amount {560) {111) 474 {71) (438)
Total amount recognised in the statement of total (2,858) (355) 614)  (1,888) 201

recogmsed gains and losses
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Cott Beverages Limited

Notes to the financial statements
for the 52 week period ended 31 December 2011 (continued)

Share based payments

At 31 December 2011, Cott Corperation had the following types of share-based payments in
issuance to Cott Beverages Limited employees

Coftt Corporation issued the following awards related to common shares to certain Cott Beverages
Limited directors and other eligible employees, pursuant to the restricted stock units ('RSU’) and
performance shares ('PSU’)

RSUs are granted with a $nil exercise price The awards have a three year vesting penod and
employees must remain in the employment of Cott Beverages Limited for the full three year vesting
penod to achieve the award The holder of a RSU 1s entitled to receive one common share for each
vest RSU, with awards considered exercised once vested In 2011 Cott Corporation granted 22,509
RSU awards to Cott Beverages Limited employees The RSUs were granted with a $nil exercise
price and the market price of the underlying shares at the date of grant was $8 54

PSUs are granted with a $nil exercise price The awards vest over the estimated expected
achievement of projected financial targets established at the time of grant with a condition being that
the employees are still employed when the targets are met. The holder of a PSU 1s entitied to receive
one common share for each vest PSU, subject to the achievement of pre-determined performance
targets, with awards considered exercised once vested In 2011 Cott Corporation granted 67,530
PSU awards to Cott Beverages Limited employees The PSUs were granted with a $nil exercise
pnce and the market price of the underlying shares at the date of grant was $8 54

Cott Beverages Limited accounts for the above as equity-settled share based payment transactions
as the employees are entitled to shares in the ulimate parent company If the vesting conditions are
met. The total charge recognised dunng the peniod 1s £344,110 (52 weeks ending 1 January 2011
£309,947) These amounts are recharged to the company directly from the ultimate parent company
and therefore a capital contnbution 1s not recognised for these transactions

All share price values relating to share-based payments have been disclosed in US Doliars This 1s
due to the fact that all shares 1ssued to Cott Beverages Limited employees are 1ssues from the
ultimate parent company, being Cott Corporation, a company incorporated within Canada and listed
on the New York Stock Exchange

The following reconciles the outstanding RSUs and PSUs granted at the end of the financial period

No. of

shares

Balance at the beginning of the financial penod 432,768
Granted dunng the financial period 90,039

Forfeited dunng the financial penod -
Exercised dunng the financial period -
Qutstanding at 31 December 2011 (522,807)
Exercisable at 31 December 2011 -

26




19

Cott Beverages Limited

Notes to the financial statements
for the 52 week period ended 31 December 2011 (continued)

Called up share capital

£000
Allotted and fully paid up
157,839,000 shares of £1 each as at 2 January 2011 157,839
Capital reduction (78,000)
79,839,000 shares of E1 each as at 31 December 2011 79,839

On 22 December 2011, all the directors voted to reduce the 1ssued share capital by £78,000,000

after satisfying certain legal requirements This increased the profit and loss account by £78,000,000

(note 20).

20 Reserves

21

Share premium Other Profit and

account reserve loss account

£'000 £'000 £'000

2 January 2011 11,765 - (63,594)
Retamed profit for the financiat year - - 11,869
Actuanal losses on pension scheme - - (2.143)
Capital contributions - 43,526 -
Capital reduction - - 78,000
31 December 2011 11,765 43,526 24,132
Pension deficit - - (4,938)
Profit and loss account excluding ) ) 19,194

pension deficit

Reconciliation of movements in shareholders’ funds/(deficit)

31 December 1 January

2011 2011

£000 £'000

Profit for the financiat year 11,869 8,362
Capital contnbution 43,526 108,216
Actuarial losses on pension scheme net of tax {2,858) (355)
Movement on deferred tax relating to actuanal loss 534 (116)
Movement on current tax relating to pension deficit 181 165
Total movements 53,252 116,272
QOpening shareholders’ funds/(deficit) 106,010 (10,262)

Closing shareholders’ funds 159,262 106,010
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Cott Beverages Limited

Notes to the financial statements
for the 52 week period ended 31 December 2011 (continued)

22 Contingent liabilities

On 31 March 2008, Cott Corporation entered into a secured asset-based lending {ABL} facility with
vanous lenders led by JP Morgan Chase Bank, N A, which was further expanded in August 2010
The ABL facility is a five year revolving facility of up to $275,000,000 that expires on 17 August 2014
The borrowing base comprises of certain Cott Corporation group assets - namely eligible stock,
debtors and fixed assets interest on the facility 1s set at 2 5% above LIBOR rate The facility covers
Cott Corporation and its subsidianes which includes Cott Beverages Limited

Coftt Corporatien’s senior unsecured notes of $215,000,000 due 1n 2017 are due on 15 November
2017, and the interest 1s payable semi-annually on 15 May and 15 November each year from 15 May
2010 Cott Corporation’s senior unsecured notes of $375,000,000 due in 2018 are due on 17 August
2018, and the interest is payable semi-annually on 1 March and 1 September each year The issuer
of these notes s Cott Beverages Inc, but Cott Corporation and most of Cott Corporation's U S,
Canadian and U K. subsidiaries guarantee these notes

On 19 July 2012, the ABL facility was renewed with JP Morgan Chase Bank, N A to 19 July 2017,
or 15 May 2017 if the senior unsecured notes due n 2017 have not been renewed by 1 May 2017.

23 Financial commitments

Annual commitments under non-cancellable operating leases were as follows.

31 December 1 January

2011 2011

£'000 £'000

within one year 334 79
Within two to five years 140 565
After five years - -
474 644

All operating leases relate to plant, machinery and office equipment

24 Capital commitments
Capital expenditure contracted but not provided for in the financial statements amounts

31 December 1 January

2011 2011

£°000 £000

Contracts placed for future capital expenditure not 2,312 2.805

provided in the financial statements

25 Related party disclosures

Transactions with other wholly owned companies within the Cott Corporation group are not disclosed
as the company has taken advantage of the exemption available under Financial Reporting Standard
No B (“FRS8") ‘Related party disclosures’ as the consolidated financial statements of Cott
Corporation, in which the company 1s mcluded, are publicly available
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Cott Beverages Limited

Notes to the financial statements
for the 52 week period ended 31 December 2011 {continued)

26 Ultimate parent company and controlling party

The immediate parent undertaking 1s Cott Retail Brands Limited, a company registered in England
and Wales.

The utttmate parent undertaking and controlling party 1s Cott Corporation, which 1s the parent
undertaking of the smallest and largest group to consolidate these financial statements Copies of
Cott Corporation consolidated financial statements can be obtained from the Company Secretary at
6525 Viscount Road, Mississauga, Ontano, L4V 1H6, Canada

29




United States

Securities and Exchan%e Commission
Washington, D.C. 20549

Form 10-K

Anmnual Report Pursuant to Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934
For the fiscal year ended December 31, 2011

(O Transition Report Pursuant to Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934
For the transition period from to

Commission fite number 001-31410

COTT CORPORATION

(Exact name of registrant as specified in its charter)

CANADA 98-0154711
(State or Other Jurisdiction (IRS Employer
of Incorporation or Organization) Identification No.)
6525 VISCOUNT ROAD L4V 1H6
MISSISSAUGA, ONTARIO
5519 WEST IDLEWILD AVENUE
TAMPA, FLORIDA, UNITED STATES 33634
{Address of principal executive offices) (Zip Code}

Registrant’s telephonre number, including area code: (905) 672-1900 and (813) 313-1800
Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(b) of the Act:

Title of each class Name of each exchange on which registered
COMMON SHARES WITHOUT NOMINAL OR NEW YORK STOCK EXCHANGE
PAR VALUE TORONTO STOCK EXCHANGE

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(g) of the Act: NONE

Indicate by check mark if the registrant 1s a well-known seasoned 1ssuer, as defined 1n Rule 405 of the Secuntres Act  Yes [] No
Indicate by check mark if the registrant 15 not required 1o file reports pursuant to Section 13 or Section 15(d) of the Act  Yes [J No

indicate by check mark whether the registrant (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) of the Secuniues Exchange
Act of 1934 duning the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter pertod that the registrant was required to file such reports), and (2) has been
subject to such filing requirements for the past 90 days  Yes No (]

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant has submutted electronically and posted on 1ts corporate Web site, if any, every Interactive
Data File required to be submitted and posted pursuant to Rule 405 of Regulation S-T (§ 232 405 of this chapter) during the preceding 12 months
{or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to submit and post such files) Yes [ No [J

Indicate by check mark if disclosure of delinquent filers pursuant 1o ltem 405 of Regulation S-K (§229 405) 1s not contammed herein, and will
not be contained, to the best of the registrant’s knowledge, in defimtive proxy or information statements incorporated by reference in Part 111 of
this Form 10-K or any amendment to this Form 10-K

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant 1s a large accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, or a non-accelerated filer, or a smaller reporting
company See the defimtions of “large accelerated filer,” “accelerated filer” and “smaller reporting company™ 1n Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act
(Check one)

Large accelerated filer Accelerated filer [J Non-accelerated filer ] Smaller reperting company [
(Do not check 1f a smaller reporting company)

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant 1s a shell company (as defined 1n Rule 12-12 of the Act) Yes [J No

The aggregate market value of the common equity held by non-affiliates of the registrant as of July 2, 2011 (based on the closing sale pnice
of $8 56 for the registrant’s common stock as reported on the New Yark Stock Exchange on July 2, 2011) was $795 2 omllion

(Reference 1s made to the last paragraph of Pan 11, [tem 5 for a statement of assumptions upon which the calculation 15 made)
The number of shares outstanding of the registrant’s common stock as of February 21, 2012 was 95,101,230
Documents incorporzted by reference

Portions of our defimtive proxy circular for the 2012 Annval Meeting of Shareowners, to be filed within 120 days of December 31, 2011, are
incorporated by reference tn Part [II Such proxy circular, except for the parts therein which have been specifically incorporated by reference,
shall not be deemed “filed™ for the purposes of this Annual Report an Form 10-K




PART1
ITEM 1.
ITEM 1A,
ITEM 1B.
ITEM 2.
ITEM 3.
ITEM 4.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

BUSINESS

RISK FACTORS

UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS
PROPERTIES

LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES

SUPPLEMENTAL ITEM PART 1. EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF THE REGISTRANT

PARTII
ITEM 5.

ITEM 6.
ITEM 7.

ITEM 7A.

ITEM 8.
ITEM 9,

ITEM 9%A.

ITEM 9B,

PARTIII .

TTEM 10.
ITEM 11.
ITEM 12.

ITEM 13.

ITEM 14,
PARTIV
ITEM 15.

MARKET FOR THE REGISTRANT’S COMMON EQUITY AND RELATED
SHAREOWNER MATTERS

SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION
AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET
RISK . . . .o

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA |

CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON
ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE

CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES
OTHER INFORMATION

DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF THE REGISTRANT
EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND
MANAGEMENT AND RELATED SHAREOWNER MATTERS

CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS, AND DIRECTOR
INDEPENDENCE

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES

EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES

INDEX TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
SCHEDULE II--VALUATION AND QUALIFYING ACCOUNTS

10
21
21

"B R

27

29

50

gegragan

g

23

55
55
F-1
F-54




Our consolidated financial statements are prepared 1n accordance with United States (“U § ) generally
accepted accounung principles (“GAAP”) tn U S. dollars Unless otherwise indicated, all amounts in thas report
areinUS dollars and US GAAP

Any reference to 2011, 2010 and 2009 cemresponds to our fiscal years ended December 31, 2011, January 1,
2011, and January 2, 2010, respectuively

Forward-looking statements

In additzon to hustonical information, this report, and the reports and documents incorporated by reference 1n
thus report, may contain statements relating to future events and future results These statements are “forward-
looking” within the meaning of the Pnivate Secunties Litigation Reform Act of 1995 and applicable Canadian
secunties legislation and involve known and unknown nsks, uncertaintres, future expectations and other factors
that may cause actual results, performance or achievements of Cott Corporation to be matenally different from
any future results, performance or achievements expressed or implied by such forward-looking statements. Such
statements include, but are not hmited to, statements that relate to projections of sales, eamnings, earmings per
share, cash flows, capital expenditures or other financial tems, discusstons of esumated future revenue
enhancements and cost savings These statements also relate to our business strategy, goals and expectations
concerning our market position, future operations, margins, profitability, hquudity and capstal resources. '
Generally, words such as “anticipate,” “believe,” “continve,” “could,” “endeavor,” “estumate,” “expect,”
“mtend,” “may,” “wall,” “plan,” “'predict,” “project,” “should” and simular terms and phrases are used to identfy
forward-looking statements in this report and in the documents incorporated 1n tius report by reference These
forward-looking statements reflect current expectations regarding future events and operating performance and
are made only as of the date of this report.

LAY

The forward-looking statements are not guarantees of future performance or events and, by their nature, are
based on certain estimates and assumptions regarding interest and foreign exchange rates, expected growth,
results of operations, performance, business prospects and opportunities and effective income tax rates, which are
subject to itherent nisks and uncertainties Matenal factors or assumptions that were apphed 1n drawing a
conclusion or making an estumate set out 1n forward-looking statements may include, but are not limited to,
assumptions regarding management’s current plans and estimates, our ability to remain a low cost suppler, and
effective management of commodity costs Although we believe the assumptions underlying these forward-
looking statements are reasonable, any of these assumptions could prove to be inaccurate and, as a resulft, the
forward-looking statements based on those assumptions could prove to be incorrect Qur operations involve nsks
and uncertainties, many of which are outside of our control, and any one or any combination of these risks and
uncertainttes could also affect whether the forward-looking statements ultinately prove to be comect. These nsks
and uncertanties include, but are not linuted to, those descnbed 1n Part I, Item 1A “Rusk Factors™ and elsewhere
in this report and those descnbed from time to ime 1n our future reports filed with the Securites and Exchange
Commusszon (“SEC™) and Canadsan secuntes regulatory authonues

We undertake no obligation to update any information contained in this report or to publicly release the
results of any revisions to forward-looking statements to reflect events or circumstances of which we may
become aware of after the date of this report Undue rehiance should not be placed on forward-looking
statements

All future wntten and oral forward-looking statements attnbutable to us or persons acting on our behalf are ,
expressly qualified in their entirety by the foregoing




PARTI

ITEM 1. BUSINESS
Our Company

Cott Corporation, together with its consolidated subsidianes (“Cott,” “the Company,” “our Company,”
“Cott Corporation,” “we,” “us,” or “our’), 1s one of the world’s largest beverage compares focusing on private-
label and contract manufactunng Our product lines include carbonated soft dnnks (“CSDs™), clear, sull and
sparkhng flavored waters, energy-related drinks, juice, juice-based products, bottled water and ready-to-dnnk
teas, which we produce through five reporting segments—North America (which includes our U S operating
segment and Canada operating segment), Umted Kingdom (“U K ) (which includes cur United Kingdom
reporting unit and our Continental European reporting unit), Mexico, Royal Crown Intemational {(“RCT”) and All
Other (which includes our international corporate expenses)

We incerporated in 1955 and are governed by the Canada Business Corporations Act, Our registered Canadian
office 1s located at 333 Avro Avenue, Pomnte-Claire, Quebec, Canada HOR 5W3 and our pnincipal executive offices
are located at 5519 W Idlewild Avenue, Tampa, Flonida, United States 33634 and 6525 Viscount Road,
Mississauga, Ontano, Canada L4V tH6

Competitive Strengths

We believe that our competitive strengths will enable us to maintain our position as one of the world's
largest beverage compames with a focus on pnivate-label products and contract manufactunng and will allow us
to capitalize on future opportunities to drive sustainable and profitable growth.

Leading Producer of Private-Label Beverages with Diverse Product Portfolie and Contract Manufacturing
Capabilities

We currently have the leading private-label market share 1n each of the United States, Canada, the United
Kingdom and Mexico by annual volume of cases produced. Our product Lines include CSDs, clear, still and
sparkhing flavored waters, energy-related dnnks, juice, juice-based products, bottled water and ready-to-drink
teas. We beheve our proven ability to innovate and develop cur product portfolio to meet changing consumer
demand will position us well to continue to serve our customers and thewr consumers We also manufacture
beverages on a contract basis for centain customers. Dunng 2011, we launched more than 100 new product stock
keeping umts (“SKUs"), including new flavor profiles based on successful new product launches by the national
brands, new package types and new product category introductions for our customers,

We market or supply over 500 retailer, icensed and Company-owned brands 1n our four core geographic
segments We sell CSD concentrates and non-carbonated concentrates in over 50 countries We believe that our
leaderstup position, our broad portfolio offening and our existing infrastructure will enable us to conunue to
penetrate the private-label and contract manufacturing markets, whether it 1s winnmng new customers, launching
new product SKUs with existing customers, or supplying retalers who currently self-manufacture.

|
Extensive, Flexible Manufacturing Capabilities !

Our business 1s supported by our extensive manufactuning network and flexible production capabihties Our
manufactunng footpnint encompasses 32 strategically located beverage manufacturing and fruit processing
facihittes, including 20 1n the United States, five in Canada, five 1n the United Kingdom and one i Mexico, as
well as one vertically-integrated global concentrate manufacturing facility in Columbus, Georgia

We are the only dedicated private-label beverage producer and contract manufacturer with a manufacturing
footpnint across North Amenca Manufactuning flexibihity 1s one of our core competencies and 1s critical to our

2




success, as our products wall typically feature custormzed packaging, design and graphics for our key customers
Our abitity to produce multiple SKUs and packages on our production hines and manage complexities through
quick-line changeover processes differentiates us from our competition

High Customer Service Level and Strong Customer Integration

Qur business requires a high level of coordination with our customers 1n areas such as supply chain, product
development and customer service In addinon to efficiently managing increased product manufactunng
complexity, we have a proven track record of maintaining high service levels across our customer base We also
partner closely with customers on supply chain planning and execution to mummize freight costs, reduce working
capital requirements and increase 1n-store product avalabiity. We work as partners with our customers on new
product development and packaging designs Our role mcludes providing market experttse as well as knowledge
of category trends that may present opportunities for our customers A high level of customer integration and
partnership coupled with a nanonwide manufacturing footpnnt 1s cnitical for the development of successful
beverage programs for our customers

Strategic Importance to Our Customers

We have longstanding partnerships with many of the world’s leading retailers 1n the grocery, mass-
merchandise and drug store channels, as well as customers for whom we manufacture beverages on a contract
basis, giving our customers access to hugh-quality, affordable beverages. Our competitive advantages include-

* pnvate-label and contract manufactuning expertise;

* vertically integrated, low-cost production platform,

* one-stop sourcing,

+ category insights and markeung expertise,

+ supply chain and lugh quality consistency 1n products, and

+ product innovation and differentiation

For 2011, our top 10 customers accounted for 55 1% of total revenue. Walmart was the only customer that

accounted for more than 10% of our total revenue for the period We have established long-standing relationships
with most of our top 10 customers. As a result of our lagh product quahity and commutment to service, coupled

with a nattonal manufacturing footpnnt, we believe we will continue to play a meamngful role m helping our
customers develop strategies to build loyalty with consumers

Business Strategy

Our primary goal is to mamtain long-term profitability and enhance our position as the market leader and
preferred suppher of prnivate-tabel beverages, as well as beverages manufactured on a contract basis, in the
markets where we operate Contnued leadership 1n our core markets will enable us to sustain and grow
profitabulity as we dnve for increased penctration and share growth within our core product categories We
believe that the following strategies will help us to achieve our goal

Maintain Customer Focus

Customer relationships are important for any business, but at Cott, where many of our products bear our
customers’ brand names, we must maintain particularly close partnershups with our customers We will continue
to provide our customers with lugh quahity products and great service at an attractive value that will help them
provide quality, value-onented products to their consumers




We will continue to focus on our lugh customer service levels as well as innovations through the
introduction of new packages, flavors and varieues of beverages We believe our focus on our customers will
enable us to leverage our existing relationships and to develop new ones 1n existing and new markets As a fast
follower of snnovatve products, our goal is to 1dentify new products that are succeeding in the marketplace and
develop similar products of high quality for our customers to offer their consumers at a better value

Control Operating Costs

We understand that our long-term success will be closely ued to our ability to remain a low-cost supplier
Effective management of commodity costs 1s crrtical to our success, including entenng into contract
commitments with supphers of key raw materials such as aluminum sheet metal, lugh fructose corn syrup
(“HFCS™), frurt and frut concentrates. On an ongoing basis we review our fixed overhead and manufacturing
costs for opportunities for further reductions In 2009, we sigmficantly reduced overhead costs, and 1n 2010, we
implemented more modest cost reductions In 2011, we transformed the Company’s informauon technology
function from a nearly 100% outsourced, single vendor relauonship to a combmation of in-house resources and
multi-vendor strategy, sigmficantly reducing our total information technology spend

Control Capital Expenditures and Rigorously Manage Working Capital

Consistent with our status as a low-cost supplier, we leverage our existing manufactunng capacity to
maintam an efficient supply chain We are commutted to carefully pnontizing our capital investments that
provide the best financial returns for Cott and for our customers, while maintaining safety, effictency and
supenior product quahity Our manufacturing faciliies operate according to the highest standards of safety and
product quality We perform regular third-party audats of our facilities and are subject to quahity audits on behalf
of our customers We will continue to evaluate growth and other opportumities, while remaimng mindful of our
total capital expenditure targets

In 2011, our caprtal expenditures were devoted pnmanly to maintaimng existing beverage production
facilities, equipment upgrades in the United States and Canada to meet customner needs, and expanding can and
energy-related drink production capability n the United Kingdom

Cash Flow Management

We believe that a strong financial position will enable us to capitalize on opportunities n the marketplace
As a result, we continuously review and improve the effectiveness of our cash management processes We stnve
to achieve the most optimal working capatal level, ratonahize our capital expenditures and continuously drive
operating cost improvements to enhance cash flow

Pursue Select Acquisitions

We behieve that opportumities exist for us to enhance our scale, reduce fixed manufactunng costs and
broaden our product portfoho In August 2010, we completed the acquisition of substantially all of the assets and
habilhises of Chffstar Corporation (“CLffstar”) and its affikated comparues pursuant to an Asset Purchase
Agreement dated July 7, 2010 for approximately $503 0 mullion 1n cash, $14 0 mullion 1n deferred consideration
to be pard over three years and contingent consideration of up to $55 0 million (the “Chiffstar Acqmsition™) The
Chiffstar Acqusition provided us with a foothold tn the North Amenica private- label juice market. We intend to
continue to evaluate and pursue strategic opportunities 1f we believe they would enhance our indusiry position,
strengthen our business and bild value for our shareholders

Principal Markets and Products

We estimate that as of the end of 2011, we produced (either directly or through thurd party manufacturers
with whom we have co-packing agreements) a majonty of all retaler brand CSDs and juice, sold in the Umted
States, as well as retailer brand CSDs sold in the UK




We have a diversified product portfoho across major beverage categones, including beverages that are
on-trend with consomer demand In 2011, CSDs, juice, concentrate, and all other products represented 40 7%,
25 8%, 1 6% and 31.9%, as a percentage of revenue respectively We began reporing “Juice™ as a separate
product category 1n 2010 following the Chiffstar Acquisiion In 2010, CSDs, jurce, concentrate, and all other
products represented 50 4%, 13 1%, 2 2% and 34 3%, as a percentage of revenue, respectively In 2009, CSDs,
concentrate, and all other products represented 60 0%, 1.9%, and 38 1%, as a percentage of revenue,
respectively

We believe that opportunities exist to increase sales of beverages in our core markets by leveraging existing
customer relationships, capitahzing on cross-selhing and up-selling opportunities across our CSD and juice
customers, obtaining new customers, manufactunng beverages on a contract basis for new and existing
customers, explorning new channels of distnbution and introducing new products.

Restructuring Initiatives

From 2006 through 2007, we implemented our North Amencan Realignment and Cost Reduction Plan (the
“North Amencan Plan”) to consolidate the management of our Canadian and U S businesses to a North
Amerncan basis, rattonalize product offerings, ehminate underperforming assets and focus on high potental
accounts We pard the remaining lease termination costs under the North American Plan in 2010, We also
unplemented plans in 2008 (the “Refocus Plan”) and 2009 (the “2009 Restructuning Plan”) that resulted 1n a
partial reduction of our workforce 1n those years

We do not anticipate incurnng any additional charges related to the North Amertcan Plan, the Refocus Plan
or the 2009 Restructuning Plan, nor did we incur any such costs in 2011

Financial Infeormation about Segments

For financial information about reporting segments and geographic areas, see Note 9 to the consohidated
financial statements contained n this Annual Report on Form 10-K

Manufacturing and Distribution Network

Substantially all of our beverages are manufactured 1n facihities that we, or thard-party manufacturers with
whom we have long-term co-packing agreements, erther own or lease We rely on thurd parties to produce and
distnibute products in areas or markets where we do not have our own production facilities, such as in continental
Europe, or when additional production capacity 1s required

Our products are either picked up by our customers at our facihties or delivered by us, a common carner, or
thurd-party distnbutors to our customers’ distnnbution centers or to retail locations

Ingredient and Packaging Supplies

In addition to water, the principal raw matenals required to produce our products are aluminum cans and
ends, polyethylene terephthalate (“PET™) bottles, preforms and caps, labels, cartons and trays, sweeteners, frot
concentrates and fruit The cost of these raw materials can fluctuate substantially over time

Under many of our supply arrangements for these raw matenals, the pnice we pay fluctuates along with
certamn changes in underlying commodity costs, such as aluminum in the case of cans and ends, resin in the case
of PET bottles, preforms and caps, com 1n the case of HFCS, fruit and fruit concentrates We beheve that we will
be able to either renegotiate contracts with these suppliers when they expire or find alternative sources for
supply We also behieve there 1s adequate supply of the ingredient and packaging matenials used to produce and
package our products




Generally, we bear the nsk of increases 1n the costs of the ingredient and packaging matenals used to
produce our products, includmg the underlying costs of the commodities used to manufacture them and, to some
extent, the cosis of converting those commodities into the matenals we purchase

Alummnum for cans and ends, resin for PET bottles, preforms and caps, corn for HFCS, frmt and frun
concentrates are examples of underlying commodities for which we bear the nsk of increases in costs In
addition, the contracts for certain of our ingredient and packaging matenals permit our suppliers to increase the
costs they charge us based on 1ncreases n their cost of converting the underlying commodities 1nto the matenals
we purchase In certain cases those increases are subject to negonated hmuts Changes in the prices we pay for
mgredient and packaging matenals occur at tmes that vary by product and suppler, and take place, on a
monthly, quarterly or annual basis

Crown Cork & Seal USA, Inc (“CCS”) supplies us with alummunum cans and ends under a contract entered
into 1n 2010 with a mulu-year term The contract provides that CCS will supply our aluminum cans and ends
requirements worldwide, subject to certain exceptions The contract contans pricing mechanisms for certain
matenals and representations, warranties, indemmties and termmination events (including termiation events
related to bankruptcy or insolvency of either party) that we believe to be customary In 2011, we had fixed pnce
commitments for a majonty of our forecasted aluminum requirements for 2011 and entered 1nto fixed price
commitments for over half of our aluminum requirements for 2012 and a portion of our alumnum requirements
for 2013

PET resin prices have fluctuated sigmficantly 1n recent years as the price of o1l has fluctuated and demand
for synthetic fibers has increased Because PET resin 1s not a traded commodity, no fixed pnce mechanism has
been implemented, and we expect to pay prevaitling market prnices for our PET resin needs

Corn has a lustory of volatile price changes We expect that corn market prnices will continue to fluctuate as
a result of an increase 1n the demand for corn-related products such as HFCS In 2011, we had fixed pnice
commutments for all of our HFCS requirements for 2011 and entered into fixed price commtments for all of our
HFCS requirements for 2012

Fruit and fruit concentrate prices have been, and we expect them to continue to be, subject to sigmificant
volattlity Whale frut 1s available from numerous independent supphers, these raw matenals are subject to
fluctuations 1 price attributable to, among other things, changes in crop size and federal and state agricultural
programs In 2011, we had fixed price commtments for a majonty of our fruit concentrate and fruit requirements
for 2011 and entered into fixed price commitments for a portion of our fnnt concentrate and fnnt requirements
for 2012

Trade Secrets, Copyrights, Trademarks and Licenses

We sell the majonty of our beverages under retailer brands to customers who own the trademarks associated
with those products We also own registrations, or applications to register, various trademarks that are importam
to our worldwide business, ncluding Cott®, Red Rain® and Onent Emporium Tea Co.™ in the United States,
Canada, the U K and the European Umion, Stars & Stripes®, Vess®, Vintage®, So Clear®, Shansiar®, Harvesi
Classic®, Chadwick Bay® and Golden Crown® m the United States, Emerge®, Red Rooster®, Carters®, and Ben
Shaws® in the U K and the European Umon , Stars & Stripes® in Mexico, and RC® 1n more than 100 countnies
and temtones outside of North Amenca Moreover, we are licensed to use certain trademarks such as Old
Jamaica Ginger Beer™ and Ting'™ 1n the U K The heenses to which we are a party are of varying terms,
including some that are perpetual Trademark ownership 1s generally of indefimite duration when marks are
properly mamntained i commercial use

Our success depends in part on our intellectual property, which inctudes trade secrets in the form of
concentrate formulas for our beverages and trademarks for the names of the beverages we sell To protect this
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mntellectuat property, we rely pnncipally on registration of trademarks, contractual responsibihties and
restnctions 1 agreements (such as indemnification, nondisclosure and confidentality agreements) with
employees, consultants and customers, and on the commeon law and statutory protections afforded to trademarks,
copynghits, trade secrets and propnietary “know-how ™ We 2lso closely momtor the use of our trademarks and
vigorously pursue any party that infninges on our trademarks, using all available legal remedies

Seasonality of Sales

The beverage market 1s subject to some seasonal vanations Our beverage sales are generally hugher dunng
the warmer months and also can be influenced by the timing of holidays and weather flucwations This
seasonality also causes our working capital needs to fluctuate with inventory being igher in the first half of the
year to meet the peak summer demand and accounts receivable dechmng in the fall as customers pay thewr
hugher-than-average outstanding balances from the summer delivenes.

Customers

A significant portion of our revenue 1s concentrated in a small number of customers Our customers include
many large national and regional grocery, mass-merchandise, drugstore, wholesale and convemience store chains,
as well as customers for whom we manufacture beverages on a contract basis For 2011, sales to Walmart
accounted for 31 6% (2010—31 0%, 2009—33 5%) of our total revenue, 35 9% of our North Amenca reporting
segment revenue (2010—35 3%, 2009--39 4%), 14 6% of our U K reporting segment revenue (201016 6%,
2009—17.7%) and 44 7% of our Mexico reporung segment revenue {2010—38 9%, 2009—18 4%) Walmart
was the only customer that accounted for more than 10% of our total revenue in those pentods Sales to our top
ten customers m 2011, 2010 and 2009 accounted for 55 1%, 55 4% and 60 0%, respectively, of our total revenue
We expect that sales of our products to a imited number of customers will continue to account for a mgh
percentage of revenue for the foreseeable future The loss of any customers that individually or in the aggregate
represent a sigmficant portion of our revenue, or a dechine 1n sales to these customers, would have a matenal
adverse effect on our operating results and cash flow

We supply Walmart and uts affihated companies, under annual non-exclusive supply agreements, with a
vanety of products 1n the Unuted States, Canada, U K and Mexico, including CSDs, clear, sull and sparkhing
flavored waters, jutce, juice-based products, bottled water, energy dnnks and ready-to-dnnk teas In 2011 we
supphied Walmart with all of its pnivate tabel CSDs 1n the United States In the event Walmart were to utihize
additional supphliers to fulfill a portion of its requirements for such products, our operating results could be
materially adversely affected

Research and Development

We engage 1o a vanety of research and development acuvities These activitzes pnincipally mvolve the
development of new products, improvement in the quality of existing products, improvement and modernizatton
of production processes, and the development and implementation of new technologies to enhance the quahty
and value of both current and proposed product hines Consumer research 1s excluded from research and
development costs and included wm other marketing costs Research and development costs were $2.5 million in
2011, $3 | mullion 1n 2010 and $3 0 mllion 1n 2009 and are included as a component of selling, general and
adnmunistrative expenses

Competition

We compete aganst a wide range of compames that produce, directly and on a contract basis, and sell
prnivate-label beverages including CSDs, clear, still and sparkling flavored waters, energy-related dninks, juice,
jJurce-based products, bottled water and ready-to-dnink teas While CSDs and CSD concentrate accounted for
63 1% of our 2011 case volume, they accounted for 42 3% of our 2011 revenue The non-CSD products
generated 36 9% of our 2011 case volume and 57 7% of our 2011 revenue
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We principally compete in the non-alcohohic beverages category, which 1s hughly competitive in each region
tn which we operate Competition for mcremental volume 15 intense The brands owned by the four major
national soft drink compames, Coca-Cola, Pepsi, Nestle Waters North Amenca and Dr Pepper Snapple
(formerly Cadbury Schweppes), control 83% of the aggregate take-home volume of the hquid refreshment
beverage category These compames have significant financial resources and spend heavily on promotional
programs They also have direct store delivery systems in North America, which enable their personnet to visit
retarlers frequently to promote new items, stock shelves and build displays We also face competition 1n the yurce
category from juice brands such as Welch's, Ocean Spray and Mott’s

In addition, we face compention 1n North Amenica, the United Kingdom and Mexico from regional
beverage manufacturers who sell aggressively-priced brands and, in many cases, also supply retailer brand
products A few larger U S retalers also self-manufacture products for thewr own needs and consistently
approach other retailers seeking additronal business

We seek to differentiate ourselves from our competitors by offering our customers efficient distnbution
methods, lugh-quality products, category management strategies, packaging and marketing strategies, and
superior service

Government Regulation and Envirenmental Matters

The production, distribution and sale m the United States of many of our products are subject to the Federal
Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act, the Federal Trade Comnussion Act, the Lanham Act, state consumer protection
laws, federal, state and local workplace health and safety laws, vanous federal, state and local environmental
protection laws and vanous other federal, state and local statutes and regulatons apphcable to the production,
transportation, sale, safety, advertising, labeling and mgredients of such products Outside the United States, the
production, distribution and sale of our many products and related operanons are also subject to numerous
stmilar and other statutes and regulations

A number of states have passed laws setting forth warning or labeling requirements relating to products
made for human consumption For example, the Califormia law known as “Proposttion 65" requires that a
specific warning appear on any product sold in California contaiming a substance hsted by that state as having
been found to cause cancer or reproductive toxicity This law, and others like it, expose all food and beverage
producers to the possibulity of having to provide warnings on their products. The detection of even a trace amount
of a listed substance can subject an affected product to the requirement of a warning label, although products
contamning hsted substances that occur naturally or that are contnbuted to such products solely by a mumicipal
water supply are generally exempt from the warming requirement From tume to me over the past several years,
certain of our customers have received notices alleging that the labeling requirements of the relevant state
regulation would apply to products manufactured by us and sold by them There can be no assurance that we will
not be adversely affected by actions against our customers or us relating to Propositten 65 or simular “failure to
warn” laws

We currently offer and use non-refillable recyclable containers in the United States and other countries
around the world We also offer and use refillable containers, which are also recyclable Legal requirements
apply 1n vanious junsdictions in the Umted States and other countrnies requinng that deposits or certan ecotaxes
or fees be charged for the sale, marketing and use of certain non-refillable beverage contaners The precise
requirements umposed by these measures vary Other types of beverage container-related deposit, recycling,
ecotax and/or product stewardship statutes and regulations also apply 1n vanous junsdictions in the United States
and overseas We anticipate that additional, simular legal requirements may be proposed or enacted m the future
at local, state and federal levels, both in the United States and elsewhere

All of our beverage production facthties and other operations are subject to various environmental
protection statutes and regulations, including those of the U S Environmental Protection Agency, which pertain
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to the use of water resources and the discharge of waste water Falure to comply with these regulations can have
senous consequences, including cival and admimstrative penalites Comphiance with these provisions has not had,
and we do not expect such comphance to have, any matenal adverse effect on our Company’s capital
expenditures, net imcome or compettive positon However, as discussed below, changes in how the Ontano
Mimstry of the Environment enforces the Ontario Environmental Protecuon Act could result in our having to
make matenal expenditures for environmental comphance

Subject to the terms and condittons of the applicable polictes, we are insured against product habihity claims
and product recalls that could result from the injury, iliness or death of consumers using our products,
contanunanion of our products, or damage to or mislabeling of our products. We behieve that our insurance
coverage 15 adequate

The Ontario Environmental Protection Act (““OEPA™)

OEPA regulations provide that a mimmum percentage of a bottler’s soft dnnk sales within specified areas in
Ontano must be made 1n refillable contamers The penalty for non-comphance 1s a fine of $50,000 per day
beginning upon when the first offense occurs and continues until the first conviction, and then increasing to
$100,000 per day for each subsequent conviction These fines may be increased to equal the amount of monetary
benefit acquired by the offender as a result of the commussion of the offense

We, and we believe other industry participants, are cumrently not in comphance with the requrements of the
QEPA To comply with these requirements we, and we behieve many other industry participants, would have to
significantly increase sales in refillable containers to a mimmum refillable sales rato of 30% We do not expect
to be in comphance with these regulations m the foreseeable future. Ontano 15 not enforcing the OEPA at thus
tume, despite the fact that it 15 still 1n effect and aot amended, but if 1t chooses to enforce it 1n the future, we could
incur fines for non-comphance and the possible prohibition of sales of soft drinks 1n non-refillable containers 1n
Ontano We estimate that approxumately 3% of our sates would be affected by the possible limitation of sales of
soft dnnks 1n non-refillable contamers 1n Ontano if the Ontanio Mimstry of the Environment imitiated an action to
enforce the provistons of the OEPA against us Moreover, the Ontano Mimstry of the Envircnment released a
report 1n 1997 stating that these OEPA regulations are “outdated and unworkable ” However, despite the
“unworkable” nature of the OEPA regulations, they have not yet been revoked

We belteve that the magnitude of the potential fines that we could 1ncur if the Ontano Ministry of the
Environment chose to enforce these regulations 1s such that the costs to us of non-compliance could be, although
are not contemplated to be, matenal However, our management believes that probabihty of such enforcement 1s
very remote

Employees

As of December 31, 2011, we had 3,945 employees, of whom 2,855 were in the North Amenca reporting
segment, 819 were in the U.K reporting segment, 257 were in the Mexico reporung segment and 14 were 1n the
combined RCI/All Other reporting segments We have entered into numerous collective bargaining agreements
covering 844 employees in the United States, Canada and Mexico that contain terms that we believe are typical
in the beverage industry As these agreements expire, we believe that they can be renegouated on terms
satisfactory to us We consider our relations with employees to be generally good

Availability of Information and Other Matters

We are required to file annual, quarterly and current reports, proxy statements and other informaton with
the SEC and Canadian secunties regulatory authonities The public may read and copy any matenals that we file
with the SEC at the SEC’s Public Reference Room at 100 F Street, NE, Washington, D C 20549 Information 1n
the Public Reference Room may be obtained by calling the SEC at }-800-551-8090 In addition, the SEC
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mantans an Internet site that contains reports, proxy and information statements, and other informaton
regarding 1ssuers that file with the SEC at www sec gov Information filed with the Canadian secunties
regulatory authontes 1s available at www sedar com

Our Annuval Report on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, current reports on Form 8-K and
amendments to reports filed or furnished pursuant to Sections 13(a) and 15(d) of the Secunties Exchange Act of
1934, as amended, are also available free of charge on our website at www cott com, as soon as reasonably
practicable after such matenal s electronically filed with, or furished to, the SEC The information found on our
website 1s not part of thus or any other report that we file with, or furmish to, the SEC or to Canadian secunties
regulatory authorities

We are responsible for estabhshing and mamntarmng adequate mternal control over financial reporung as
required by the SEC See “Management’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporung™ on page 52

ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS

In addition to the other information set forth 1n this report, you should carefully consider the following
factors, which could matenally affect our business, financial condition or future results The nsks descnibed
below are not the only nsks that we face Additional nsks and uncertainties not currently known to us or that we
currently deem to be immatenal also may matenally adversely affect our business, financial condition or results
of operations

We may be unable to compete successfully in the highly competitive beverage category.

The markets for our products are extremely compettive In comparnson to the major national brand
beverage manufacturers, we are a refatively small participant in the industry. We face competition from the
nantional brand beverage manufacturers in all of our markets, both from other retailer brand beverage
manufacturers and from other contract beverage manufacturers If our competitors reduce their selling prices,
increase the frequency of their promotional activities in our core market or enter into the production of pnvate-
label products or expand their contract manufactunng efforts, 1f our customers do not allocate adequate shelf
space for the beverages we supply, we could expenence a decline 1n our volumes, be forced to reduce pricing,
forgo pnice increases required to offset increased costs of raw matenals and fuel, increase capital and other
expenditures, or lose market share, any of which could adversely affect our profitability

We may not be able to respond successfully to consumer trends related to our products.

Consumer trends with respect to the products we sell are subject to change Consumers are seeking
wmcreased variety 1n thewr beverages, and there 1s a growing interest among consumers, public health officials and
government officials regarding the ingredients in our products, the attnbutes of those ingredients and health and
wellness tssues generally. In addition, some researchers, health advocates and dietary gudelines are encouraging
consumers to reduce consumption of sugar-sweetened beverages, including those sweetened with HFCS or other
nutnuve sweeteners. As a result, consumer demand has declined for full-calone CSDs and consumer demand has
increased for products associated with health and wellness, such as reduced-calone CSDs, water, enhanced
water, teas and certain other non-carbonated beverages, including juices Consumer preferences may change due
to a vanety of other factors, including the aging of the general population, changes in social trends, the real or
percerved impact that the manufactunng of our products has on the environment, changes in consumer
demographucs, changes in travel, vacation or leisure acuvity pattemns, negative pubhicity resulting from regulatory
action or hitigation against companies in the industry, or a downturn n economic conditions Any of these
changes may reduce consumers’ demand for our products There can be no assurance that we can develop or be a
“fast follower™ of mnovanve products that respond to consumer trends Our failure to develop innovative
products could put us at a competitive disadvantage 1n the marketplace and our business and financial results
could be adversely affected
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Because a small number of customers account for a significant percentage of our sales, the loss of or
reduction in sales to any significant customer could have a material adverse effect on our results of
operations and financial condition.

A significant portion of our revenue 1s concentrated in a small number of customers Our customers nclude
many large nationat and regional grocery, mass-merchandise, drugstore, wholesale and convemence store chains
1n our core markets of North Amenca, U K and Mexico, as well as customers for whom we manufacture
beverages on a contract basis Sales to Walmart, our top customer 1n 2011, 2010 and 2009 accounted for 31 6%,
31 0% and 33 5%, respecuvely, of our total revenue Sales to our top ten customers in 2011, 2010 and 2009
accounted for 55 1%, 55 4% and 60 0%, respectively, of our total revenue We expect that sales of our products
to a hmited number of customers will continue to account for a hugh percentage of our revenue for the
foreseeable future

On January 27, 2009, we recerved wntten notice from Walman stating that Walmart was exercising its nght
to terminate, without cause, our Exclusive U S Supply Contract, effective on January 28, 2012. Pursuant to the
terms of the Exclusive U S Supply Contract, we were the exclusive supplier to Walmart of retailer brand CSDs
1n the United States The termsanon provision of the Exclusive U S Supply Contract provides for exclusivity to
be phased out over a penod of three years following nottce of termination (the “Notice Penod”). Accordingly, we
had the exclusive nght to supply at least two-thirds of Walmart's total CSD volume 1n the United States dunng
the first 12 months of the Nouce Penod, and we had the exclusive rnight to supply at least one-thuird of Walmart's
total CSD volume in the US dunng the second 12 months of the Notice Penod Notwithstanding the termunation
of the Exclusive U S Supply Contract, we continue to supply Walmart and its affihated compames, under annual
non-exclusive supply agreements, with a vartety of products 1n the United States, Canada, U K. and Mexico,
wncluding CSDs, clear, stll and sparkling flavored waters, juice, juice-based products, bottled water, energy
dnnks and ready-to-dnnk teas

The loss of Walmart or any sigmficant customer, or customers that in the aggregate represent a sigmficant
portion of our revenue, or a matenal reduction 1n the amount of business we undertake with any such customer or
customers, could have a matenal adverse effect on our operating results and cash flows Furthermore, we could
be adversely affected if Walmart or any sigmficant customer reacts unfavorably to any pricing of our products or
decides to de-emphasize or reduce their product offerings 1n the categones with which we supply them At
December 31, 2011, we had $248 4 million of customer relationships recorded as an intangible asset The
permanent loss of any customer included in the intangible asset would result in impairment 1n the value of the
intangible asset or accelerated amortization and could lead to an impairment of fixed assets that were used to
service that chent

Qur ingredients, packaging supplies and other costs are suhject to price increases and we may be unable to
effectively pass rising costs on to our customers.

We bear the nsk of changes in prices on the ingredient and packaging in our products The majonty of our
ingredient and packaging supply contracts allow our supplters to alter the pnices they charge us based on changes
in the costs of the underlying commodsties that are used to produce them Aluminum for cans and ends, resin for
PET bottles, preforms and caps, comn for HFCS, fruit and frut concentrates are examples of these underlying
commodities In addition, the contracts for certain of our ingredient and packaging matenals permit our suppliers
to mncrease the costs they charge us based on increases in therr cost of converting those underlying commodities
into the matenals that we purchase In certam cases those increases are subject to negotated Limits and, 1n other
cases, they are not. These changes in the prices that we pay for ingredient and packaging materials occur at imes
that vary by product and suppler, and are principally on a menthly, quarterly or annual basis

We are at risk with respect to fluctuating alurmnum pnces In 2011, we had fixed pnce commtments for a
majonty of our forecasted aluminum requirements for 2011, and entered 1nto fixed price commitments for over
half of our aluminum requirements for 2012 and a portion of our requirements for 2013 Because PET resin 1s not
a traded commodaty, no fixed price mechanism has been implemented, and we are accordingly also at nsk with
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respect to changes 1n PET pnices Corn, and thus HFCS, has a lustory of volatile price changes In 2011, we
entered into fixed pnce commutments for all our HFCS requirements for 2011 and 2012 Fruit and frunt
concentrate pnices have been, and we expect them to continue to be, subject to significant volaulity Whle they
are avalable from numerous independent supphers, these raw matenals are subject to fluctuations in price
attributable to, among other things, changes 1n crop stze and federal and state agricultural programs In 2011, we
had fixed price commtments for a majonity of our frurt concentrate and fruit requirements for 2611 and have
entered into fixed pnce commutments for a portion of our fruit concentrate and fruit requirements for 2012 If the
cost of commodities for which we have entered 1nto fixed price commitments decreases, we will not be able to
take advantage of such decreased costs

Accordingly, we bear the rnisk of fluctuations in the costs of these ingredient and packaging matenals,
including the underlying costs of the commodities used to manufacture them and, to some extent, the costs of
converting those commodities into the materials we purchase We currently do not use denvatives to manage this
nsk If the cost of these ingredients or packaging matenals increases, we may be unable to pass these costs along
to our customers through adjustments to the prnices we charge If we cannot pass on these increases to our
customers on a tunely bass, they could have a matenal adverse effect on our results of operations I we are able
to pass these costs on to our customers through price increases, the umpact those increased pnces could have on
our volumes 15 uncertan

Our beverage and concentrate production facilities use a sigmficant amount of electnicity, natural gas and
other energy sources to operate Fluctuations i the pnice of fuel and other energy sources for which we have not
locked n long-tenn pricing commutments or arrangements would affect our operating costs, which coutd impact
our profitability

If we fail to manage our operations successfully, our business and financial results may be materially and
adversely afTected.

In recent years, we have grown our business and beverage offerings pnmanly through the acquisition of
other compames, development of new product lines and growth with key customers We believe that
opportunities exist to increase sales of beverages in our markets by leveraging existing customer relauonships,
obtaining new customers, explonng new channels of distnbution, introducing new products or identifying
appropnate acquisition or strategic alhance candidates. The success of this strategy with respect to acquisitions
depends on our ability to manage and integrate acquisiions and alhiances into our existing business Furthermore,
the businesses or product Lines that we acquire or align with may not be integrated successfully into our bustness
or prave profitable. In addition to the foregomg factors, our abihity to expand our business in foreign countnes 1s
also dependent on, and may be himited by, our ability to comply with the laws of the vanous jurisdictions 1o
which we may operate, as well as changes n local government regulations and policies in such junsdictions If
we fa1l to manage the geographic atlocation of production capacity surrounding customer demand in North
Amenca, we may lose certain customer product volume or have to utilize co-packers to fulfill our customer
capacity obligations, either of which could negatively impact our financial results

QOur geographic diversity subjects us to the risk of currency fluctuations.

We conduct operations 1n many areas of the world, involving transactions denomunated in a variety of
currencies We are subject to currency exchange rate nsk to the extent that our costs are denorminated n currencres
other than those 1n which we earn revenues In addition, because our financial statements are denonunated 1n U S
dollars, changes in currency exchange rates between the U S dollar and other currencies have had, and will
continue to have, an impact on our results of operattons Whle we customanly enter inte financial transactions to
address these nsks, there can be no assurance that currency exchange rate fluctuations will not adversely affect our
results of operanons, financial condition and cash flows. In addition, whule the use of currency hedging 1nstruments
may provide us with protection from adverse fluctuattons in currency exchange rates, by uthzing these mstruments
we potentially forego the benefits that might result from favorable flectuanons in currency exchange rates.

12




If we are unable to maintain relationships with our raw material suppliers, we may incur higher supply
costs or be unable to deliver preducts to our customers.

In addition to water, the principal raw matenals required to produce our products are aluminum cans and
ends, PET bottles, preforms and caps, labels, cartons and trays, sweeteners, fruit concentrates and fruit We rely
upon our ongoing relationships with our key suppliers to support our operations

We typically enter into annual or multi-year supply arrangements with our key supphers, meamng that our
suppliers are obhgated to continue to supply us with matenals for one-year or mult-year pertods, at the end of
which we must exther renegotiate the contracts with those suppliers or find alternative sources for supply There
can be no assurance that we will be able to erther renegotiate contracts (with sumular or more favorable terms)
with these suppliers when they expire or, altematvely, if we are unable to renegouate contracts with our key
suppliers, there can be no assurance that we could replace them We could also incur higher ingredient and
packaging supply costs 1n renegotiaung contracts with existing supphers or replacing those supphers, or we could
expenence temporary disruptions 1n our ability to deliver products to our customers, either of which could have a
matertal adverse effect on our results of operations

With respect to some of our key packaging supplies, such as aluminum cans and ends, and some of our key

wngredients, such as sweeteners, we have entered into long-term supply agreements, the rematmng terms of which ,
range from 12 to 60 months, and therefore we are assured of a supply of those key packaging supphes and |
mgredients dunng such terms CCS supphes aluminum cans and ends under a contract with a multi-year term |
The contract provides that CCS will supply our aluminum can and end requirements worldwide, subject to |
certain exceptions In additon, the supply of specific ingredient and packaging matenals could be adversely i
affected by many factors, including industry consohdation, energy shortages, governmental controls, labor

disputes, natural disasters, transportation interruption, political instabihity, acts of war or terrorism and other ‘
factors |

We may not realize the expected benefits of the Cliffstar Acquisition because of integration difficulties and
other challenges.

The ulumate success of the Chiffstar Acquisiion will depend, in part, on our ability to reahize all or some of
the anticipated benefits from integrating Chffstar’s business with our existing businesses The integration process
may be complex, costly and ume-consuming The difficulties of integraung the operations of Cliffstar’s business
include, among others-

* failure to implement our business plan for the combined business,

» unanticipated 1ssues 10 integrating manufacturing, logistics, mformation, commumications and other
systems,

* resolving consistencies in standards, controls, procedures and policies, and compensation structures
between Chiffstar’s structure and owr structure,

» falure to retain key customers and suppliers,
* unanticipated changes 1n applicable laws and regulations,
« failure to retain key employees,
¢ operating nisks inherent in Chifstar’s business and our business, and
* unanticipated 1ssues, expenses and habilities
We may not be able to maintain the levels of revenue, earmings or operating efficiency that each of Cott and

Chffstar had achieved or might achieve separately In addittion, we may not accomplish the integration of
Chffstar’s business smoothly, successfully or within the anticipated costs or umeframe If we expenence

13




difficulies with the integration process, the anticipated benefits of the Chffstar Acquisition may not be reahzed
fully, or at all, or may take longer to reahize than expected

We face risks associated with our Asset Purchase Agreement in connection with the Cliffstar Acquisition.

As a result of the Chffstar Acquisition, we assumed substanunally all of the habilities of Cliffstar and its
affihated compames that were not satisfied on or pnor to the closing date Under the Asset Purchase Agreement,
the seller provided us with a limited set of representations and warranttes Our sole remedy from the seller for
any breach of those representations and wamanties 15 an action for indemmnufication, which may only be brought
in certain circumstances and withun certain time peniods Indemmification payments may not exceed $50 0
million Damages resulting from a breach of a representation or warranty could have a matenal and adverse
effect on our financial condition and results of operations

We incurred substantial indebtedness in order to finance the Cliffstar Acquisition, which could adversely
affect our business and limit our ability to plan for or respond to changes in our business.

In connection with the Chiffstar Acquisinon, we 1ssued $375 0 muihon of senior notes that are due on
September 1, 2018 (the “2018 Notes™) Additionally, we refinanced our existng asset based lending facility and
drew down a substantial amount of indebtedness under that facility 1n order to fund the Chffstar Acquisition. As
a result, we have substantially more indebtedness than has been the case for us histoncally

Our ability to make payments on and to refinance our debt obligattons and to fund planned capital
expenditures depends on our ability to generate cash from our future operations Tlus, to a certain extent, 15
subject to financial, competitive, legislative, regulatory and other factors that are beyond our control In addition,
if we cannot service our mndebtedness, we may have to take actions such as selling assets, seeking additional
equity or reducing or delaying capital expenditures, strategic acquisiuons, investments and alhances, any of
which could umpede the implementation of our business strategy, prevent us from entenng into transacttons that
would otherwise benefit our business and/or have a matenal adverse effect on our financial condition and results
of operations. We may not be able to refinance our indebtedness or take such other actions, if necessary, on
commercially reasonable terms, or at all

We have a significant amount of outstanding debt, which could adversely affect our financial health and
future cash flows may not be sufficient to meet our obligations.

As of December 31, 2011, our total debt was $608 0 million Our present debt and any future borrowings
could have important adverse consequences to us and our mvestors, mncluding

« requinng a substantial portion of our cash flow from operations to make interest payments on this debt,
« making 1t more difficult to satisfy debt service and other obligations,

¢ ncreasing the nsk of a future credit ranngs downgrade of our debt, which would increase future debt
costs,

« ncreasing our vulnerability to general adverse economic and industry conditions,

+ reducing the cash flow available to fund capital expenditures and other corporate purposes and to grow
our business,

+ lumnng our flexibility 1n planming for, or reacung to, changes in our business and the industry,
= placing us at a competitive disadvantage to our competitors that may not be as lhighly leveraged, and

¢ limutng our ability 1o borrow additional funds as needed or take advantage of business opportumties,
such as acquisitions, as they anise, pay cash dividends or repurchase common stock
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To the extent we become more leveraged, the nsks descnbed above would increase. In addition, our actual
cash requirements n the future may be greater than expected We cannot assure you that our business will
generate sufficient cash flow from operations, or that future borrowings will be avaslable to us 1n amounts
sufficient to enable us to pay our debt or to fund our other hquidity needs

If we fail to generate sufficient cash flow from future operations to meet our debt service obligations, we
may need to refinance all or a poruion of our debt on or before matunty We cannot assure you that we will be
able to refinance any of our debt on attractive terms, commercially reasonable terms or at all Qur future
operating performance and our ability 1o service or refinance our debt will be subject to future economic
conditions and to financial, business and other factors, many of which are beyond our control.

Our asset based lending (“ABL”) facility, the indenture governing the 2017 Notes, and the indenture
governing the 2018 Notes each contain various covenants limiting the discretion of our management in
operating our business, which could prevent us from capitalizing on business opportunities and taking
some corporate actions.

Our ABL facility, the indenture goverming the $215 0 milkion of semor notes that are due on November 15,
2017 (the “2017 Notes™, and the indenture govermng the 2018 Notes each impose sigmficant operating and
financial restnictions on us These restrictions will mat or restnict, among other things, our abihity and the abihity
of our restricted subsidianes to:

» ancur addinonal indebtedness,

* make restncted payments (including paymng dividends on, redeeming, repurchasing or retinng our
capital stock),

+ make mnvestments,
¢ create liens,
» sell assets,

« enter into agreements restricting our subsidianes’ ablity to pay dividends, make loans or transfer assets
to us,

* engage in transactions with affiliates, and

» consolidate, merge or sell all or substantially all of our assets

These covenants are subject to important excepuions and quahfications In addition, our ABL facility also
requires us, under certain circumstances, to mamtain comphance with certain financial covenants as described 10
the “Covenant Comphiance” section on page 49 Our ability to comply with thus covenant may be affected by
events beyond our control, including those descnbed 1n this “Rusk Factors™ section A breach of any of the
covenants contaned in our ABL facihty, including our inability to comply with the financial covenant, could
result 1n an event of default, which would allow the lenders under our ABL facility to declare all borrowings
outstanding to be due and payable, which would n turn tngger an event of default under the indenture governing
the 2017 Notes and the indenture govermng the 2018 Notes and, potentially, our other debt At maturity or mn the
event of an acceleration of payment obligations, we would hkely be unable to pay our outstanding debt with our
cash and cash equivalents then on hand We would, therefore, be required to seck alternative sources of funding,
which may not be available on commercially reasonable terms, terms as favorable as our current agreements or at
all, or face bankruptcy If we are unable to refinance our debt or find alternative means of financing our
operations, we may be required to curtail our operations or take other actions that are inconsistent with our
current bustness practices or strategy For additional information about our ABL facility, see “Management’s
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations—Liquidity and Capital Resources.”
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A portion of our debt may be variable rate debt, and changes in interest rates could adversely affect us by
causing us te incur higher interest costs with respect to such variable rate debt.

Our ABL facility subjects us to mterest rate risk The rate at which we pay interest on amounts borrowed
under such facility fluctuates with changes in interest rates and our debt leverage Accordingly, with respect to
any amounts from tme to tune outstanding under our ABL facility, we are and will be exposed to changes in
interest rates If we are unable to adequately manage our debt structure 1n response to changes in the market, our
interest expense could increase, which would negatively 1mpact our financial condstion and results of operations
As of December 31, 2011 we had no vanable rate debt

Our financial results may be negatively impacted by glebal financial events.

In recent years, glebal financial events have resulted in the consohdation, failure or near farlure of a number ;
of imstitutions 1n the banking, insurance and investment banking industries and have substantially reduced the
ability of compames to obtain financing These events also adversely affected the financial markets These events
could continue to have a number of different effects on our business, mcluding

« areduction tn consumer spending, which could result in a reduction 1n our sales volume;

+ anegative impact on the ability of our customers to tumely pay their obligations to us or our vendors to
umely supply matenals, thus reducing our cash flow,

*  an ncrease 1n counterparty nsk,

+ an increased likehhood that one or more members of our banking syndicate may be unable to honor 1ts
commitments under our ABL facility, and '

« restricted access to capital markets that may Lunit our ability to take advantage of business
opportunities, such as acquisitions

Other events or conditions may arise or persist directly or indirectly from the gtobal financial events that
could negatively impact our business

We may not fully realize the expected cost savings and/or operating efficiencies from our restructuring
activities.

Durning the last six years we have implemented, and may 1n the future implement, restructuring activities to
suppert the implementation of key strategic imtiatives designed to aclhueve long-term sustainable growth These
activities are intended to maximize our operating effectiveness and efficiency and to reduce our costs We cannot
be assured that we will achieve or sustain the targeted benefits under these programs or that the benefits, even 1f
achieved, will be adequate to meet our long-term growth expectations In addition, the implementation of key
elements of these activities, such as employee job reductions and plant closures, may have an adverse impact on
our business, particularly in the near-term

Substantial disruption to production at our beverage concentrates or other beverage production facilities
could occur.

A disruption in production at our beverage concentrates preduction facility, which manufactures almost all
of our concentrates, could have a maienal adverse effect on our business In addition, a disruption could occur at
any of our other faciiues or those of our suppliers, bottlers or distnbutors The disruption could occur for many
reasons, including fire, natural disasters, weather, manufacturing problems, disease, strikes, transportation
interruption, government regulation or terronsm Alternative facihuies wath sufficient capacity or capatmhties
may not be available, may cost substantially more or may take a significant ume to start production, each of
whach could neganvely affect our business and financial performance
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Our success depends, in part, on our intelleciual property, which we may be unable to protect.

We possess certain intellectual property that 1s important to our business This intellectual propenty includes
trade secrets, in the form of the concentrate formulas for most of the beverages that we produce, and trademarks
for the names of the beverages that we sell While we own certain of the trademarks used to identify our
beverages, other trademarks are used throngh hicenses from third parties or by permission from our custorners
Our success depends, 1n part, on our ability to protect our intellectual property

To protect this intellectual property, we rely pnncipally on registration of trademarks, contractual
responsibilities and restnictions 1n agreements (such as indemmification, nondisclosure and confidenualhity
agreements) with employees, consultants and customers, and on common law and statutory protections afforded
to trademarks, trade secrets and propnetary “know-how ” In addition, we vigorously protect our intellectual
property against infringements using any and all legal remedies available Notwithstanding our efforts, we may
not be successful 1n protecting our intellectual property for a number of reasons, including

= our competitors may independently develop intellectual property that 1s simular to or better than ours,

+ employees, consultants or customers may not abide by their contractual agreements and the cost of
enforcing those agreements may be prohibitive, or those agreements may prove to be unenforceable or
more hmited than antcipated,

+ foreign intellectual property laws may not adequately protect our intellectual property rights, and
* our intellectual property nghts may be successfully challenged, invalidated or circumvented

If we are unable to protect our intellectual property, our compeuuve position would weaken and we could
face sigmficant expense to protect or enforce our intellectual property nghts At December 31, 2011, we had
$45 ¢ milhon of nghts and $5 9 mullion of trademarks recorded as intangible assets

Occasionally, third parties may assert that we are, or may be, infnnging on or misappropriating thewr
intelectual property nghts In these cases, we mntend to defend against clarms or negotiate heenses when we
consider these actions appropnate. Intellectual property cases are uncertain and involve complex legal and
factual questions. If we become involved 1n this type of liigation, 1t could consume significant resources and
chvert our attention from business operations

If we are found to infringe on the intellectual property nights of others, we could incur sigmficant damages,
be enjoined from continuing to manufacture, market or use the affected product, or be required to obtain a license
to continue manufactuning or using the affected product. A license could be very expensive to obtain or may not
be avalable at all Simularly, changing products or processes to avoid infninging the nghts of others may be
costly or impracticable

Our products may not meet health and safety standards or could become contaminated and we could be
liable for injury, illness or death caused by consumption of our products.

We have adopted vanous quality, environmental, health and safety standards However, our products may sull
not meet these standards or could otherwise become contamunated A fatlure to meet these standards or
contamination could occur 1n our operations or those of our bottlers, distributors or supphers This could result in
expensive production interruptions, recalls and lrability claims ‘We may be Liable to our customers if the
consumption of any of our products causes injury, illness or death Moreover, negative publicity could be generated
from false, unfounded or nominal liability claims or hmuted recalls Any of these falures or occurrences could have
a matenal adverse effect on our results of operations or cash flows

Litigation or legal proceedings could expose us to significant liabilities and damage our reputation.

We are party to various hngation claims and legal proceedings We evaluate these claims and proceedings
to assess the likelihood of unfavorable outcomes and estmate, 1f possible, the amoum of potential losses We
may establish a reserve as appropnate based vpon assessments and estimates 1n accordance with our accounting
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policies We base our assessments, estimates and disclosures on the information avatlable to us at the hime and
rely on legal and management judgment Actual outcomes or losses may differ matenally from assessments and
estmates Actual settlements, judgments or resolutions of these claims or proceedings may negatively affect our
business and financial performance For more information, see “Item 3 Legal Proceedings ™

Changes in the legal and regulatory environment in the jurisdictions in which we operate could increase
our costs or reduce our revenues, adversely affect demand for our products or result in litigation.

As a producer of beverages, we must comply with vanous federal, state, provincial, local and foreign laws
relating to production, packaging, quality, labeling and distnbution, including, in the United States, those of the
federal Food, Drug and Cosmetic Act, the Fair Packaging and Labeling Act, the Federal Trade Commussion Act,
the Nutnition Labeling and Education Act and California Proposiion 65 We are also subject to vanous federal,
state, provincial, local and foreign environmental laws and workplace regulations These laws and regulations
nclude, 1n the Umited States, the Occupational Safety and Health Act, the Unfair Labor Standards Act, the Clean
Aur Act, the Clean Water Act, the Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation, and Liabihty Act,
the Resource Conservation and Recovery Act, the Federal Motor Carnier Safety Act, laws governing equal
employment opportunity, customs and foreign trade laws and regulations, laws relating to the mamntenance of
fuel storage tanks, laws relanng to water consumption and treatment, and vanous other federal statutes and
regulanons These laws and regulations may change as a result of pohtical, economuc, or social events Such
regulatory changes may include changes in food and drug laws, laws related to advertising, accounting standards,
taxation requirements, competition laws and environmental laws, mcluding laws relating to the regulation of
water nghts and treatment Changes in laws, regulations or government policy and related interpretattons may
alter the environment in which we do busmess, which may impact our results or icrease our costs or hiabilities

A number of states have passed laws setting forth warning or labehing requurements relating to products
made for human consumption For example, the Califorma law known as Proposition 65 requures that a specific
warning appear on any product sold i Cahfornia containing a substance listed by that state as having been found
to cause cancer or reproductive toxicity This law, and others like 1t, expose all food and beverage producers to
the possibility of having to provide warmngs on their products The detection of even a trace amount of a hsted
substance can subject an affected product to the requirement of a warming label, although products containing
histed substances that occur naturally or that are contnbuted to such products solely by a municipal water supply
are generally exempt from the warming requirement. From time to time over the past several years, certan of our
customers have received notices alleging that the labeling requirements of the relevant state regulation would
apply to products manufactured by us and sold by thern There can be no assurance that we wall not be adversely
affected by actions aganst our customers or us relating to Proposition 65 or sumilar “failure to wam™ laws. were
any such claim to be pursued or succeed, we might 1n some cases be required to indemmnufy our customers for
damages, and our products muight be required to bear warning labels m order to be sold 1n certain states Any
negative media attention, adverse publicity or action ansing from allegations of violations could adversely
impact consumer perceptions of our products and harm our business

Proposed taxes on CSDs and other drinks could have an adverse effect on our business.

Federal, state, local and foreign governments have considered 1mposing taxes on soda and other sugary
dnnks Any such taxes could negatively impact consumer demand for our products and have an adverse effect on
our revenues

We are not in compliance with the requirements of the OEPA and, if the Ontario government seeks to
enforce those requirements or implements modifications to them, we could be adversely affected.

Certamn regulations under the OEPA provide that a munmimum percentage of a bottler’s soft dnnk sales within
specified areas 1n Ontano must be made in refillable containers The penalty for non-compliance 15 a fine of $50,000
per day begintung when the first offense occurs and continuing unt the first conviction, and then increasing to
$100,000 per day for each subsequent conviction These fines may be increased to equal the amount of monetary
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benefit acquired by the offender as a result of the commussion of the offense We, and we believe other industry
participants, are currently not in compliance with the requirements of the OEPA We do not expect to be in
comphiance with these regulations 1n the foreseeable future Ontano s not enforcing the OEPA at thus ume, but 1f it
chose to enforce the OEPA 1n the future, we could incur fines for non-comphance and the possible prohubition of
sales of soft drinks in non-refillable containers in Ontano We esumate that approximately 3% of our sales would be
affected by the possible limutation on sales of soft drtnks 1n non-refillable containers in Ontano if the Ontano
Mimstry of the Environment iutiated an action to enforce the provisions of the OEPA.

Adverse weather conditions could affect our supply chain and reduce the demand for our products.

Severe weather conditions and natural disasters, such as freezes, frosts, floods, hurricanes, tornados,
droughts or earthquakes and crop diseases may affect our faciihes and our supply of raw matenals such as fruit
If the supply of any of our raw matenals 1s adversely affected by weather conditions, it may result in increased
raw matenal costs and there can be no assurance that we will be able to obtain sufficient supphes from other
sources In addition, the sales of our products are influenced to some extent by weather conditions in the markets
m whuch we operate Unusually cold or rainy weather duning the summer months may reduce the demand for our
products and contrnibute to lower revenues, which could negatively impact our profitability

Global or regional catastrophic events could impact our operations and financial results,

Our business can be affected by large-scale terronst acts, especially those dwrected against the Umited States
or other major industnahzed countnies in which we do business, major natural disasters, or widespread outbreaks
of infectious diseases Such events could impair our ability to manage our business, could disrupt our supply of
raw matenals, and could impact production, transportation and dehivery of products In addition, such events
could cause disruption of regional or global economic activity, which can affect consumers’ purchasing power in
the affected areas and, therefore, reduce demand for our products

Our success depends in part upon our ability to recruit, retain and prepare succession plans for our CEQ,
CFO, senior management and key employees.

The performance of our CEO, CFO, semior management and other key employees 1s critical to our success.
We plan to continue to invest ime and resources 1n developing our semor management and key employee teams
Our long-term success wtll depend on our abihity to recrurt and retain capable semor management and other key
employees, and any failure to do so could have a matertal adverse effect on our firture operating resulis and
financial condition Further, if we fail to adequately plan for the succession of our CEO, CFQ, semor
management and other key employees, our operating results could be adversely affected

Changes in future business conditions could cause business investments and/or recorded goodwill,
indefinite life intangible assets or other intangible assets to become impaired, resulting in substantial losses
and writedowns that would negatively impact our results of operations.

As part of our overall strategy, we will, from time to tme, make 1nvestments in other businesses These
investments are made upon careful target analysis and due diligence procedures designed to achieve a desired
return or strategic objective These procedures often involve certain assumptions and judgment 1n determiming
mvestment amount or acquisition price After acquisition or investment, unforeseen 1ssues could anse that
adversely affect anticipated returns or that are otherwise not recoverable as an adjustment to the purchase pnce
Even after careful integration efforts, actual operating results may vary significantly from ininal estimates
Goodwill accounted for $129 6 mallion of our recorded total assets as of December 31, 2011 We evaluate the
recoverability of recorded goodwill amounts annually, or when evidence of potential imparment exists The
annual impairment test 1s based on several factors requinng judgment and certain underlying assumptions Our
only intangible asset with an indefinite hife relates to the 2001 acquisttzon of intellectual property from Royal
Crown Company, Inc including the nght to manufacture our concentrates, with all related mventions, processes,
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technologies, techrical and manufactunng information, know-how and the use of the Royal Crown brand outside
of North Amenca and Mexico (the *Raghts™) This asset, which has a net book value of $45 0 mulhion, 1s more
fully described 1n Note 1 to the Consolidated Financial Statements

As of December 31, 2011, other intangible assets were $296 1 milhien, which consisted principally of
$248 4 mllion of customer relationshaps that arose from acquisittons, $15 7 million of financing costs, $10 7
mullion of information technology assets, and trademarks of $5 9 milion Customer relationships are amortized
on a straight-hine basis for the period over which we expect to receive economic benefits, which 1s up to 15 years
We review the estumated useful hife of these intangible assets annually, taking into consideration the specific net
cash flows related to the intangible asset, unless 1t 1s required more frequently due to a tnggenng event such as
the loss of a customer The permanent loss of any customer mncluded in the intangible asset would result in
impairment tn the value of the intangible asset or accelerated amortization and could lead to an impatrment of
fixed assets that were used to service that chient Prnincipally, a decrease in expected reporting segment cash
flows, changes 1n market conditions, loss of key customers and a change 1n our imputed cost of capital may
indicate potential impairment of recorded goodwill or the Rights For additional informanon on accounting
policies we have 1n place for goodwill impairment, see our discusston under “Cntical Accounting Pohicies and
Estimates™ i “Item 7 Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations™
of this Annual Report on Form 10-K and Note 1, “Summary of Significant Accounting Policies,” 1n the Notes to
the Consolidated Financial Statements

We may not be able to renew collective bargaining agreements on satisfactory terms, or we could
experience strikes.

As of Decemnber 31, 2011, 844 of our employees were covered by collective bargaining agreements in the
United States, Canada and Mexico These agreements typically expire every three to five years at vanious dates
‘We may not be able to renew our collective bargaining agreements on satisfactory terms or at all This could
result 1n strikes or work stoppages, which could umpair our ability to manufacture and distnbute our products and
result 1n a substantial loss of sales The terms of existing or renewed agreements could also sigmficantly increase
our costs or negatively affect our abibty to increase operational efficiency

We depend on key information systems and third-party service providers.

We depend on key informanon systems to accurately and efficiently transact our business, provide
wnformation to management and prepare financial reports We have typically relied on third-party providers for
the majority of our key information systems and business processing services, including hosting our pnmary data
center In particular, we are i the process of implementing a new SAP software platform to assist us in the
management of our business and have also reorgamzed certamn processes within our finance and accounting
departments As a part of the reorganization, we have outsourced certain back office transactional finance
processes Additionally, in connection with the efforts to integrate the Cliffstar business with our operations, we
transformed the Company’s information technology function from a nearly 100% outsourced, single vendor
relationship to a combination of 1n-house resources and multi-vendor strategy If we fail to successfully
implement these projects or if the projects do not result 1n increased operational efficiencies, our operations may
be disrupted and our operating expenses could increase, which could adversely affect our financial results.

In addition, these systems and services are vulnerable to interruptions or other failures resulting from, among
other things, natural disasters, terrorist attacks, software, equipment or telecommunications failures, processing
errors, computer viruses, hackers, other secunty 1ssues or suppher defaults Security, backup and disaster recovery
measures may not be adequate or implemented properly to avoid such disruptions or fanlures Any distuption or
faiture of these systems or services could cause substantial errors, processing inefficiencies, security breaches,
inabihity to use the systems or process transactions, loss of customers or other business disruptions, all of which
could negatively affect our business and financial performance

Our stock price may be volatile,

Our common stock 15 traded on the New York Stock Exchange (the “NYSE”) and Toronto Stock Exchange
(“TSX™) The market price of our commeon stock has fluctuated substantially in the past and could fluctuate
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substanually 1n the future, based on a vanety of factors, including future announcements covering us or our key
customers or compeutors, govemment regulations, hitigation, changes in earnsngs estaimates by analysts,
fluctuations 1n quarterly operating results or general conditions 1n our industry Furthermore, stock prices for
many compamnes fluctuate widely for reasons that may be unrelated to thetr operating results Those fluctuations
and general economuc, political and market conditions, such as recessions or international currency fluctuations
and demand for our services, may adversely affect the market price of our common stock

Failure to maintain our stock exchange listings would adversely affect the trading price and liquidity of
our common shares.

We have, n the past, received notice of non-comphance with NYSE hsting requirements due to our share
price trading below $1 00 for penods of tme. While we have cured such deficiencies, if we are not able to
maintain comphance with the listing requirements of the NYSE and/or TSX, our shares may be subject to
removal from Listing on the NYSE and/or TSX Trading 1n our common shares after a delisting, 1f any, would
likely be conducted in the over-the-counter markets 1n the Over-The-Counter Bulletin Board or the “pink sheets”
and could also be subject to addinonal restnictions As a consequence of a delisting, our shareholders would find
1t more difficult to dispose of, or to obtain accurate quotations as to the market value of, our common shares In
addinon, a delising would make our common shares substantially less attractive as collateral for margin and
purpose loans, for investment by financial mstitunons under their internal policies or state investment laws, or as
consideration 1n future capital raising

We also face other risks that could adversely affect our business, results of operations or financial
condition, which include:

* any requirement to restate financial results in the event of mappropnate apphcaunon of accounting
pnnciples or otherwise,

¢ any event that could damage our reputation,
« failure of our processes to prevent and detect unethical conduct of employees,
¢ asigmficant failure of internal controls over financial reporting,

» falure of our prevention and control systems related to employee comphance with internal policies and
regulatory requirements, and

« falure of corporate governance pohcies and procedures

ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS

None

ITEM 2. PROPERTIES

Our business 15 supported by our extensive manufactunng network and flexible production capabiliies Our
manufacturing footprint encompasses 32 strategically located beverage manufactunng and fruit processing
facihiues, including 20 1n the United States, five 1n Canada, five 1n the United Kingdom and one 1in Mexico, as
well as one vertically-integrated global concentrate manufactunng facility i Columbus, Georgia

Total square footage of our beverage production facihttes ts approximately 3 6 nullion square feet in the
Umited States, 0 9 million square feet mn Canada, 0 9 million square feet in the United Kingdom, and 0 1 mullion
square feet n Mexico This square footage does not include 29 separate leased warehouses and three owned
warehouses that compnise 2 8 million square feet and four leased office spaces that compnse 0 2 nullion square
feet Lease terms for non-owned beverage production facihties expure between 2012 and 2020

The beverage production facilittes and square footage amounts noted above do not include vacant or
underunlized properties
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ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

We are subject to vanous claims and legal proceedings with respect to matters such as governmental
regulations, income taxes, and other actions ansing out of the normal course of business Management belhieves
that the resolution of these matters will not have a matenal adverse effect on our financial position or results
from operations

ITEM 4. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES
Not Applicable
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SUPPLEMENTAL ITEM PART L. EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF THE REGISTRANT

The following 15 a hst of names, ages, offices and backgrounds of all of our executive officers as of
February 21, 2012 Our officers do not serve for a set term

Office ﬁ
Jerry Fowden . Cheef Executive Officer 55
Neal Cravens Chief Financial Officer 59
Michael Creamer Vice President—Human Resources 55
Gregory Leiter Senior Vice President, Chief Accounting Officer and Assistant Secretary 54
William Reis Senior Vice President, Chuef Procurement Officer 56
Marni Morgan Poe Vice President, General Counsel and Secretary 42
Michzael Gibbons President—U S Business Unt 53

Jerry Fowden was appointed Chuef Executive Officer on February 18, 2009 Prior to this appointment,
he served as President of our international operating segments and Intenm President, North America
from May 2008 to February 2009, and as Intennm President of our Umnited Kingdom operating segment
from September 2007 to May 2008 He served as Cheef Executive Officer of Trader Media Group Ltd ,
a medha company, and as a member of its parent Guardian Media Group plc’'s Board of Directors from
2005 until 2007 From 2001 until 2004, he served 1n a vanety of roles with AB InBev S A Belgium, an
alcoholic beverage company, including President, European Zone, Western, Central and Eastern
Europe from 2003 to 2004, Global Chief Operating Officer from 2002 to 2003 and Chief Executive
Officer of Bass Brewers Ltd , a subsidiary of AB InBev S.A Belgium, from 2001 to 2002 Mr Fowden
was a director of Chesapeake Corporation (now known as Canal Corporation) when 1t filed a voluntary
Chapter 11 petition 1n the Untted States on December 29, 2008 On May 12, 2009, Chesapeake’s
operating businesses were sold to a group of mvestors and Mr Fowden resigned from his position as a
director Mr Fowden currently serves on the board of directors of Constellation Brands, Inc , a
premum wine company Mr Fowden has served on our board since March 2009

Neal Cravens was appointed Chief Financial Officer on August 20, 2009, effective September 8, 2009
Mr Cravens spent approximately 20 years with Seagram Company, Ltd , the beverage, consumer
products, and media entertainment company, where he served as Vice President, Planmng, Mergers and
Acquisittons, Semior Vice President, Finance and Chief Accounting Officer, and Executive Vice
President and Chief Financial Officer at the divisional level. In 2004, Mr Cravens joined Warmer
Music Group as Sentor Vice President Finance He then served 1n the Chuef Financial Officer role for
Almatis GmbH, a global chemical company, dunng 2006, and Advantage Sales & Marketing, a
consumer products broker, from 2007 to 2008 Immediately pnor to jotmng the Company, Mr Cravens
was a financial consultant to FM Facihity Maintenance, a facilities maintenance company formerly
known as Integrated Process Technologies Mr Cravens has announced his retirement as Chuef
Fianeial Officer of Cott, effective March 20, 2012 He will continue wath us through 2012 1o facilitate
a transition to Mr Jay Wells, who will become Chief Financial Officer of Cott upon Mr Cravens’s
retirement

Michael Creamer was appointed Vice President of Human Resources for International and Tampa,
Flonda in Apnl 2007 and promoted to Vice President of Human Resources for Cott 1n August 2008
Mr Creamer currently serves as our Corporate Homan Resources Vice President Prior to joimng Cott,
Mr Creamer was Semor Director of Human Resource Operations and Internanonal for Avanade
Corporation, a global IT consultancy formed as a joint venture between Accenture and Microsoft
Corporation From 1990 to 2004, Mr Creamer held several positions within Microsoft, including
semor global human resources positions

Gregory Leater was appointed Vice President, Corporate Controller and Assistant Secretary of Cott in
November 2007, and appomted Semor Vice President and Controller in Apnl 2008 Mr Leiter took on
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the additional role of Chuef Accounting Officer in January 2010 Mr Leiter currently serves as our
Sentor Vice President, Chief Accounting Officer and Assistant Secretary Pnior to joumng Cott, he
served from October 2006 to October 2007 as Practice Manager—Govemance, Risk & Comphance
with the international software firm SAP Amenca From January 2003 to September 2006, he held two
posittons with Graham Packaging Company, an mtemational manufacturer of custem blow-molded
plastic contamers From February 2006 to September 2006, he served as Graham Packaging’s Vice
President—Global Business Process and from Jannary 2003 to February 2006, he served as Director of
Internal Aundst

Willlam Reis was appointed Senior Vice President, Chief Procurement Officer in March 2007 Prior to
Jouung Cott, he served from February 2004 to February 2007 as Sentor Vice President and Chuef
Procurement Officer for Revion From February 2001 to February 2004, he served as Vice President of
Global Procurement for Goldman Sachs

Marm Morgan Poe was appointed Vice President, General Counsel and Secretary in February 2010
Pnor to her appointment, she served as Corporate Counsel of the Company from September 2008 unul
her appointment Prior to jommng the Company, Ms Poe was the co-founder and Cluef Executive
Officer of Let’s Eat Dinner, Inc, a franchisor of dinner preparation kitchens, from 2006 to 2008 From
2000 to 2006, she was a partner at the law firm of Holland & Kmght LLP and an associate of the law
firm from 1995 to 2000

Mike Gibbons was appointed President of Cott’s U S business umt mm October 2010 Prior to hus
appomntment, Mr Gibbons held several positions with Cott from 2004 to 2010, including General
Manager of Cott’s U.S busmness umt, Semor Vice President / General Manager of Cott’s Canadian
business umt, and Vice President of Sales of Cott’s Canadian business umt. Prior to joimng Cott, he
served as Director of Sales for ConAgra
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PART 1

ITEM 5. MARKET FOR THE REGISTRANT’S COMMON EQUITY AND RELATED

SHAREOWNER MATTERS

Our common shares are hsted on the TSX under the ticker symbol “BCB,” and on the NYSE under the

ticker symbol “COT ™

The tables below show the lugh and low reported per share sales prices of common shares on the TSX (1n

Canadian dollars) and the NYSE (1n U.S dollars) for the indicated periods for 2011 and 2010

Toronto Stock Exchange (C$)
2011 2010
High Low High Low
First Quarter . $897 $749 $898 $692
Second Quarter $855 3755 3889 %594
Third Quarter . $815 35696 3860 3566
Fourth Quarter $768 $621 3900 $746
New York Stock Exchange (U.S.$)
2011 2010
High Low High Low
First Quarter $908 3768 $8.65 $672
Second Quarter $905 3772 $888 $558
Thurd Quarter $I860 3666 $842 3541
Fourth Quarter $757 §$594 $9.08 $735

As of February 21, 2012, we had 1,091 shareowners of record This number was determined from records
maintained by our transfer agent and it does not include beneficial owners of secunties whose secunties are held
1n the names of vanous dealers or cleaning agencies The closing sale price of our common shares on
February 21, 2012 was C$6 58 on the TSX and 36 58 on the NYSE '

We have not paid cash dividends since June 1998, and do not 1ntend to change that practice at this ime
There are certan restrictions on the payment of dividends under our ABL facility and under the indentures
governing the 2017 Notes and 2018 Notes The ABL facility and the indentures governing the 2017 Notes and
2018 Notes are discussed 1n “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of
Operations™ beginning on page 29

If we pay dividends to shareowners who are non-residents of Canada, those dividends will generally be
subject to Canadian withholding tax Under current Canadian tax law, dividends paid by a Canadian corporation
to a nonresident shareowner are generally subject to Canadian withholding tax at a 25% rate Under the current
tax treaty between Canada and the Umted States, U S residents who are entitled 1o treaty benefits are generally
eligible for a reduction 1n this withholding tax rate to 15% (and to 5% for a shareowner that 1s a corporaton and
15 the beneficial owner of at least 10% of our voting stock) Accordingly, under current tax law, our U § resident
shareowners who are entitled to treaty benefits will generally be subject to a Canadian withholding tax at a 15%
rate on dividends paid by us, provided that they have comphed with applicable procedural requirements to claim
the benefit of the reduced rate under the tax treaty The fifth protocol to the tax treaty between Canada and the
U S places addiuonal restnictions on the ability of U S residents to claim these reduced rate benefits U S. |
residents generally will be entitled on their U § federal income tax retums to claim a foreign tax credit, or a
deduction, for Canadian withholding tax that applies to them, subject to certain applicable hmitanons U S
investors should consult their tax advisors with respect to the tax consequences and requirements applicable to
them, based on thewr individual circumstances
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For information on secuniies authonized for 1ssuance under our equity compensation plans, see Item 12,

“Secunty Ownership of Certamn Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Shareowner Matters "

Dunng 2009, 2010 and 2011, no equity secunttes of the Company were sold by the Company that were not

registered under the Secunues Act of 1933, as amended

Calculation of aggregate market value of non-affiliate shares

For purposes of calculating the aggregate market value of common shares held by non-affiliates as shown
on the cover page of this report, 1t was assumed that all of the outstanding shares were held by non-affiliates
except for outstanding shares held or controlled by our directors and executive officers This should not be
deemed to consutute an admission that any of these persons are, n fact, affihates of us, or that there are not other
persons who may be deemed to be affiliates For further information concerming shareholdings of officers,

directors and principal stockholders see Item 12, “Secunty Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and
Management and Related Shareowner Matters ™

Shareowner return performance graph

The following graph shows changes over our past five fiscal years in the value of C$100, assuming

rexnvestment of dividends, mvested 1n (1) our common shares, (11) the Toronto Stock Exchange’s S&P/TSX
Composite Index, and (1) a peer group of publicly-traded companies in the bottling industry compnsed of Coca-
Cola Enterpnises Inc , Coca-Cola Bottling Co Consohidated, National Beverage Corp., Pepsi Bottling Group Inc
and PepsiAmencas Inc The closing price of Cott’s cormmon shares as of December 31, 2011 on the TSX was

C$6 40 and on the NYSE was $6 26 The following table 1s 1n Canadian dollars

COMPARISON OF CUMULATIVE TOTAL RETURN

140.00
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—e— Coftt Corporation - S&P/TSX Composite —a— Peer Group

ASSUMES $100 (CANADIAN} INVESTED ON JAN 01, 2007
ASSUMES DIVIDEND REINVESTED
FISCAL YEAR ENDING DECEMBER 31, 2011

Company/Market/Peer Group 1273002006 12/26/2007  1227/2008  1/22010 1072000 1243172010
Cott Corporation $10000 $ 3951 3 880 $5193 3 5372 $ 3816
S&P/TSX Composite $10000 $109 75 36793 $9937 511688 $106 70
Peer Group $10000 $106 42 39249 $9554 310030 $11069
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ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

The following selected financial data reflects the results of operations This information should be read in
conjunction with, and 1s qualified by reference to *Management’s Discusston and Analysis of Financial
Condition and Results of Operations” and the consolidated financial statements and notes thereto inciuded
¢lsewhere 1n thus repont. The financial information presented may not be indicative of future performance

(in millions of U.S, dollars, except per share amounts)

Revenue, net
Cost of sales

Gross profit

Selling, general and administrative expenses
Loss on disposal of property, plant & equipment
Restructuring, goodwill and asset impairments
Restructunng

Goodwill impairments

Asset imparments

Intangble asset impairments

Operating income (loss)

Contingent consideration eamm-out adjustment
Other expense (income), net

Interest expense, net

Income (loss) before income taxes
Income tax (benefit) expense

Net income (loss)

Less Net income attnbutable to non-controlhing
interests

Net income (loss) attributed to Cott
Corporation

Net income (loss) per common share
attributed to Cott Corporation

Basic

Diluted .

Financial Condition

Total assets .

Short-term borrowings

Current mawunues of long-term debt

Long-term debt

Equity
Cash dividends paud

December 31, January |, January 2, December 27, December 29,
2011 20111 010 2008 2007 :
(52 weeks) (52 weeks) (53 weeks) (52 weeks) (52 weeks)
$2,334.6 $1.8033 $1,5967 $1,6481 $1,776 4
2,058.0 1.5370 11,3469 1,467 1 1,578 0

276.6 2663 249 8 1810 198 4
172.7 166.7 146.8 1798 1619
1.2 11 05 13 02
— 05 i5 67 243
— — — 692 558
0.6 — 36 370 107
14 — — — —
100.7 990 974 {1130) (54 5)
0.9 (203) —_ - —
2.2 40 44 @7 @7
5.1 369 297 323 328
40.5 784 633 (140.6) (82 6)
0.7) 186 (22.3) (195) (139)
$ 412 $§ 598 % 861 $(1211) $ (6837)
3.6 51 46 17 27
$ 376 § 547 % 815 $(1228) § (714)
$ 040 & 064 8 110 $ (173) $ (099
$ 040 $ 063 % 108 $ (173) 3% (099
$1,5089 51,5292 § 8738 § 8731 $1,1444
—_ 79 202 107 5 1370
34 60 176 76 24
602.1 6055 2332 294 4 2690
568.2 5352 4013 2465 451 8

t In 2010, we completed the acquisition of substantially all of the assets and ltabilities of Cliffstar Corporation and its
affihated companies for approxumately $503 O rullion in cash, $14 0 mullion in deferred consideration to be paid
over three years and contingent consideratton of up to $55 0 mulhion. The first $15 0 mullion of the contungent
consideration was based upon the achievement of mlestones 1n certain expansion projects in 2010, which were
achieved in 2010 The remainder of the contingent constderation was based on the achuevement of certain
performance measures dunng the fiscal year ending January 1, 2011 We were notified on May 9, 2011 by the seller
of Chffstar of cenain objecuons to the performance measures used to calculate the contingent constderaton, and the
seller asserted a claum for amounts in excess of the amounts accrued as contingent consideration at July 2, 2011
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During the third and fourth quarters of 2011, Cott made intenm payments to the seller equal to $21 0 nulhon and
$8 6 mullion, respectively The payment of 521 0 mullion was net of a $4 7 milhion refund due to Cott as a result of
the final detemunation of working caprtal, and the payment of $8 6 million included $0 9 million 1n settlement of
certain of the seller’s objections to the calculation of the contingent consideration The seller’s remaimng
objecuons to the calculation of the contingent consideratton are subject to an ongoing binding arbitratton process
under the terms of the asset purchase agreement The seller 15 seeking up to $12 1 mullion 1n additional contingent
consideration The final resolution of these matters may result in amounts payable to the seller that may vary
matenally from our current esumated far value We are currently unable to predict the ulumate outcome of this
action Also, duning the thurd quarter of 2011, Cott made a payment equal to $4 7 nullion to satisfy the first of
three annual deferred consideration payments

Durning 2007, we acquired 100% of the business assets of El Riego, a Mexican water bottler, for $2 2
mllion. Effecuve December 31, 2006, we adopted the provisions related to uncertam tax posiuons 1n
Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC") No 740, “Income Taxes,” and recorded an 38 8 mullion charge
to our shareowners equity as of the first day of the year ended December 29, 2007
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ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND
RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

Overview

We are one of the world’s largest beverage compantes focusing on pnvate-label products and contract
manufactuning Our objective of creating sustainable long-term growth 1n revenue and profitability 1s predicated
on workang closely with our retailer partners and our customers for whom we produce beverages on a contract
basis, to provide proven profitable products As a “fast follower” of innovanve products, our goal 15 to dennfy
which new products are succeeding i the marketplace and develop similar private-label produscts to provide our
reta1] partners and their consumers with high qualhity products at a better value This objective 18 increasingly
relevant in more difficult economic umes

The beverage market 1s subject to some seasonal vanahons Our beverage sales are generally lgher during
the warmer months and also can be influenced by the ttming of holidays and weather fluctuations This
seasonality also causes our working capstal needs to fluctuate with mventory being higher in the first half of the
year to meet the peak summer demand and accounts recervable dechining 1n the fall as customers pay thewr
higher-than-average outstanding balances from the summer delivenes

We typically operate at low margins and thesefore relatively small changes in cost structures can materially
impact results In 2009, 2010 and 2011, industry carbonated soft dink (“CSD”) sales continued to decline, and
ingredient and packaging costs remained volatile

Ingrecient and packaging costs represent a sigmficant portion of our cost of sales These costs are subject to
global and regronal commodity price trends Qur largest commodines are aluminem, polyethylene terephthalate
(“PET™) resan, corn, fruit and fruit concentrates We attempt to manage our exposure to fluctuations 1n ingredient
and packaging costs of our products by entertng into fixed price commitments for a poruon of our ingredient and
packaging requurements and implementing pnice increases as needed In 2011, we had fixed pnce commutments
for a majonty of our forecasted aluminum, and fruit concentrate and fruit requirements for 2011 and entered nto
fixed price commitments for over half of our aluminum requirements and a portion of our fruit concentrate and
fruit requirements for 2012, as well as a portion of our aluminum requirements for 2013 In 2011, we had fixed
price commutments for all of our high fructose corn syrup (*HFCS™) requirements for 2011 and entered 1nto fixed
pnice commatments for all of our HFCS requuremnents for 2012

On August 17, 2010, we completed the acquisitton of substantially all of the assets and habilittes of Cliffstar
Corporation (“Chffstar”) and its affiliated compames for approximately $503 0 mithion in cash, $14 0 million 1n
deferred consideration to be paid over three years and contingent consideration of up to $55 0 mallion (the
“Clffstar Acquisiion™) The first $15 0 mallion of the contingent consideration was based upon the achrevement
of mulestones 1n certan expansion projects n 2010, which were aclueved in 2010 The remainder of the
contingent consideration was based on the achrevement of certain performance measures duning the fiscal year
ending January 1, 2011 As discussed 1n the Notes to the Consohdated Financial Statements, the seller of
Cliffstar notified us of certain objections to the performance measures vsed to calculate the contingent
consideration and such objections to the calculation of the contingent consideration are subject to an ongoing
binding arbitration process under the terms of the asset purchase agreement. The seller 1s seeking up to
$12.1 mullion 1n additional contingent consideration The final resolution of these matters may result :n amounts
payable to the seller that vary matenally from our current esumated fair value which consists of payments to the
seller amounting to $34.3 million We are currently unable to predict the ulumate outcome of this action

The Chffstar Acquisition was financed through the closing of a pnivate placement offenng by Cott
Beverages Inc of $375 0 million aggregate principal amount of 8 125% semor notes due 2018 (the “2018
Notes™), the underwritten public offening of 13.4 milion of our common shares (the “Equity Offening”) and
borrowings under our asset based lending (“ABL™) facility, whrch we refinanced in connection with the Chiffstar
Acquasition, to increase the amount available for borrowings to $275 0 mullion
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Qur financial hquidity, as of December 31, 2011, improved from 2010, due to significant cash outflow
related to the Cliffstar Acquisition and the repurchase of our semor subordinated notes due 1n 2011 (the *20}1
Notes™) in 2010

We supply Walmart and uts affihated companes, under annual non-exclusive supply agreements, with a
vanety of products in the United States, Canada, U K and Mexico, including CSDs, clear, sull and sparkhng
flavored waters, Juice, jwice-based products, bottled water, energy dnnks and ready-to-dnnk teas In 2011 we
supplied Walmart with all of s pnivate label CSDs in the United States In the event Walmart were to utihize
addinonal suppliers to fulfill a portion of its requirements for such products, our operating results could be
matenially adversely affected Sales to Walmart 1n 2011, 2010 and 2009, accounted for 31 6%, 31 0% and 33 5%
respectively, of total revenue

In 2011, our capital expenditures were devoted pnmanly to mantaining existng beverage production
facilites, equpment upgrades 1n the United States and Canada to meet customer needs, and expanding can and
energy-related dnnk production capability in the United Kingdom

Summary Financial Results

Our net income 1n 2011 was $37 6 million or $0 40 per diluted share, compared with net income of $54 7
mullion or $0 63 per diluted share 1n 2010

The following items of signtficance impacted our 2011 financial results

» our filled beverage case volume increased 15 3% dnven by a 17 6% increase 1n the North Amenca
reporung segment, due pnmanly to the Chffstar Acgusition,

» our revenue mcreased 29 5% n 2011 compared to 2010 due pnmanly to the Chifstar Acquisition.
Excluding the impact of the Cliffstar Acqumsition and foreign exchange, revenue increased 6 7%,

+ the Chffstar Acqusiion contnibuted $385 6 million of the increase in revenue, and $19 6 million of the
Increase In operating 1ncome,

* our gross profit as a percentage of revenue declned to 11 8% 1n 201! from 14 8% n 2010 Gross profit
i 201 1 was adversely impacted by higher commodity costs,

* our selling, general and administrative (“SG&A”) expenses creased to $172 7 mulhion from $166 7
million, due pnmanly to the full year inclusion of Chiffstar,

* our wmterest expense increased 54 7% due pnmanly to the 1ssuance of the 2018 Notes 1n the third
quarter of 2010, and

« g year-to-date tax benefit of $0 7 million 1n 2011 compared to income tax expense of $18 6 mallion 1n
2010 due primanly to lower pre-tax income 1n the United States, the reorganization of our legal entity
structure and refinancing of intercompany debt

The following wems of significance impacted our 2010 financial results

« our filled beverage case volume increased 7 3% dniven by a 7 7% ncrease n the North Amenca
reporting segment, due pnmanly to the Chffstar Acquisition,

= our revenue increased 12 9% m 2010 compared to 2009 Absent foreign exchange impact, revenue
increased 12 2% n 2010, due pnmarily to the Chiffstar Acqusinon,

« the Chffstar Acqumsition contritbuted $232 2 mulhion to revenue and $5 2 milhion to operating income,
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our gross profit as a percentage of revenve dechined to 14 8% in 2010 from 15 6% 1n 2009 Gross profit
in 2010 incleded $12 0 mullton of Chffstar related purchase accounting adjustments, which reduced
gross profit as a percentage of revenue by 0.6% Excluding this amount, gross profit as a percentage of
revenue was 15 4%,

the transaction costs related to the Chffstar Acquisition were $7 2 mullton and integration costs were
$6 7 miilion, which are included 1n SG&A,

our 2010 results were favorably impacted by the reduction of the contingent consideration earn-out
accrual of $20 3 mlhon related to the Chiffstar Acquisition

the interest expense increased 24 2% in 2010 compared to 2009 due to the 1ssuance of the 2018 Notes,

the income tax expense changed from a benefit of $22 8 mullion 1n 2009 to an expense of $18 6 miilion
1n 2010 due pnmanly to the fact that the prior year included the utihzation of valuation allowances and
the utibization of accruals related to uncertain tax positions, and

The following items of significance impacted our 2009 financial results,

»

a shght decrease 1n filled beverage case volume reflecting a 1 2% decrease 1n our North Amenca
reporting segment which was partrally offset by a 2 0% increase 1n our U K reporting segment,

our revenue declined 3 1% in 2009 compared to 2008 Excluding foreign exchange impact, revenue
increased 2 4% 1n 2009,

umproved gross profit as a percentage of revenue of 15 6% 1n 2009 from 11 0% wn 2008, reflecting the
benefit of local currency pnice increases, improved product mix and lower mngredient and packaging
costs,

the consumer shift toward retailer brand products as a result of weak economic conditions,
SG&A cost saving imtiatives that resulted 1n an SG&A decrease of $33 0 mulhion,

the weakemng value in the Canadian dollar, pound sterling and Mexican peso each relative tothe U S
dollar resulted 1n a $88 | mullion adverse impact on revenues, a $12 0 million adverse unpact on gross
profit and a $8 0 mullion posiive impact on SG&A,

the restructunng, severance and lease termination costs of $1.5 million n connection with the plan
implemented 1n 2009 that resulted 1n a reduction of our workforce in 2009 (the “2009 Restructunng
Plan™) and asset impairment costs of $3 6 mithion relating primanly to the loss of a customer;

a loss on the buyback of our 2011 Notes of $3 3 muillion;

a tax benefit resulting pnmanly from the reversal of accruals relating to uncertam tax positions, plus
interest and penalties, which generated a $17.5 million benefit and a $25 0 mtllion income tax benefit
resulting from the reversal of U S valuation allowances These valuation allowance reversals were
caused by the carryback of net operating losses in the United States due to recent changes in tax law
and the utihization 1n the current year of U S deferred tax assets with valuation allowances These
benefits were partially offset by $19 7 nulhon of income tax expense resulting mostly from current
year earmings, and

an extra week 1n fiscal 2009 that 1s estimated to have contnibuted 9 1 mullion additional beverage cases,
$20 3 mi1llion of additional revenue and $1 3 milhion of additional operating income
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Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

Our cnucal accounting pohcies require management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the
reported amounts 1n the consohdated financial statements and the accompanying notes These estimates are based
on historical expenence, the advice of external expernts or on other assumptions management believes to be
reasonable Where actual amounts differ from estimates, revisions are 1ncluded in the results for the penod 1n
which actuals become known Histoncally, differences between esumates and actuals have not had a significant
impact on our consohdated financial statements

Cnncal accounting polictes and estimates vsed to prepare the financial statements are discussed with our
Audit Commuttee as they are implemented and nclude the following

Impairment testing of goodwill

Goodwill represents the excess purchase pnice of acquired businesses over the fair value of the net assets
acquired Goodwill 1s not amortized, but instead 1s tested at least annually for impamrment 1n the fourth quarter or
more frequently if we determine a tnggenng event has occurred dunng the year Any impaurment loss 1s
recogmzed 1n our results of operations We evaluate goodwill for impairment on a reporting unit basis Reporting
umts are operattons for which discrete financial information 15 available, and are at or one level below our
operaung segments For the purpose of testing goodwiil for impairment, our reporing umits are U S, Canada and
RCI The evaluation of goodwill for each reporting umit 15 based upon the following approach We compare the
fair value of a reporting umnit to 1ts carrying amount Where the carrying amount 1s greater than the fair value, the
umphed fair vatue of the reporting umit goodwill 1s determuned by allocating the fair value of the reporting unit to
all the assets and habilities of the reporting umt with any of the remainder being allocated to goodwill The
unplied fair value of the reporting umt goodwill 1s then compared to the carrying amount of that goodwill to
deternune the impairment loss Any impairment n value 1s recogmzed 1n net income (loss) We had goodwill of
$129 6 million on our balance sheet at December 31, 2011, which represents amounts for the U 8 , Canada and
the RCI reporting units

We measure the fair value of reporting units using a mix of the immcome approach (which 1s based on the
discounted cash flow of the reporting unit) and the public company approach We believe using a combinauon of
the two approaches provides a more accurate valuation because 1t incorporates the actual cash generation of the
Company 1n addition to how a third party market participant would value the reporting unit Because the business
15 assumed to continue 1n perpetuity, the discounted future cash flow includes a terminal value We used a
weighted average terminal growth rate of 1% for our U S reporting unit in 2011 and 2% for our Canada and RCI
reporting umits 1n 2011 and 2010 The long-term growth assumptions icorporated into the discounted cash flow
calculauon reflect our long-term view of the market (including a decline ;n CSD demand), projected changes 1n
the sale of our products, pnicing of such products and operating profit margins. The estimated revenue changes 1n
this analysis for the U 8 reporting unit ranged between 2 2% and 3 4% for 2011 The esumated revenue changes
in this analysis for the Canada reporting urut ranged between -7 2% and 1 9% for 2011 and between -7 9% and
7 2% for 2010 The esnmated revenue changes i thus analysis for the RCI reporting umit ranged between 4 5%
and 10 6% for 2011 and between -9 0% and 10 1% for 2010

The discount rate used for the fair value estimates 1n this analysis ranged from 11% to 12% for 2011 and
10% to 12% for 2010 These rates were based on the weighted average cost of capital a market participant would
use 1f evaluating the reporting unit as an mvestment. The nsk-free rate for 201 1 was 2 6% and was based on a
20-year US Treasury Bill as of the valuation date.

Each year duning the fourth quarter, we re-evaluate the assumptions used to reflect changes in the business
environment, such as revenue growth rates, operatng profit margins and discount rate Based on the evatuation
performed thus year uuhizing the assumpuions above, we determined that the fair value of each of our reporting
units exceeded their carrying amount and as a result further inpairment testing was not required We anatyzed
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the sensitivity these assumphons have on our overall impairment assessment and note that as of the
December 31, 2011 annual assessment, the fair value for each of these reporting umits was substantally 1n excess
of its carrying value

Impairment testing of intangible assets with an indefinite life

Our only intangible asset with an indefinite hfe relates to the 2001 acqusiuon of intellectual property from
Royal Crown Company, Inc including the nght to manufacture our concentrates, with all related inventions,
processes, technologes, technical and manufactuning information, know-how and the use of the Royal Crown
brand outside of North America and Mexico (the “Rughts”) which has a net book value of $45.0 mullion Prior to
2001, we pard a volume based royalty to the Royal Crown Company for purchase of concentraies There are no
legal, regulatory, contractual, competitive, economic, or other factors that hrmit the useful Life of this intangible

The Iife of the Rights 1s considered to be indefinite and therefore not amortized, but instead 1s tested at least
annually for impairment or more frequently if we determine a inggenng event has occurred dunng the year For
an intangible asset with an indefinite life, we compare the carrying amount of the Rights to their fair value and
where the carrying amount 1s greater than the fair value, we recognize in income an impairment loss To
determune fair value, we use a relief from royalty method which calculates a fair value royalty rate that 1s apphied
to a forecast of future volume shupments of concentrate that 1s used to produce CSDs The forecast of future
volumes 15 based on the estmated inter-plant shipments and RCI shupments The relief from royalty method 15
used since the Rights were purchased n part to avord making future royalty payments for concentrate to the
Royal Crown Company The resulting cash flows are discounted using a discount rate of 16% and estimated
volume changes between 4 6% and 10 6% No impairment was calculated for the year ended December 31, 2011
Absent any other changes, 1f our inter-plant concentrate volume declines by 1 0% from our estimated volume, the
value of our Rights would dechine by approximately $1 1 mulhion If our RCI volume declines by 1 0% from our
estimated volume, the value of the Raghts would dechine by approximately $1 9 milhon If our discounted
borrowing rate increases by 100 basis ponts, the value of the Rights would decline by approximately $3 6
mulhion

Other intangible assets

As of December 31, 2011, other intangible assets were $296 1 mlhon, which consisted pnncipally of
$248 4 million of customer relationshups that arose from acquisitions, $15 7 milhon of financing costs, $10 7
mllion of information technology assets, and trademarks of $5 9 million Customer relattonships are amortized
on a straight-hne basis for the peniod over which we expect to recerve economuc benefits We review the
estimated useful Life of these intangible assets annually, taking nto consideration the specific net cash flows
related to the intangible asset, unless a review 1s required more frequently due to a tnggenng event such as the
loss of a customer The permanent loss or significant decline 1n sales to any customer included 1n the intangible
asset would result 1n impatrment 1n the value of the intangible asset or accelerated amortuizaton and could lead to
an impawrment of fixed assets that were used to service that customer In 2010, we recorded $216 9 milhon of
customer relattonships acquired 1n connection with the Cliffstar Acquisition. In 2011, we recorded an asset
impairment charge of $1 4 million related pnmanly to customer relationshups

Impairment of long-lived assets

When adverse events occur, we compare the carrying amount of long-lived asselts to the estimated
und:scounted future cash flows at the lowest level of independent cash flows for the group of long-hived assets
and recognize any impairment loss 1n the Consolidated Statements of Operattons, taking into consideration the
tumung of testing and the asset’s remaimng useful life The expected Life and value of these long-Lived assets 15
based on an evaluation of the competitive environment, history and future prospects as appropnate In 2011, we
recorded an impawment of long-lived assets of $0 6 million related to a production plant 1n Mexico that ceased
operattons We did not record any iumpairments of long-hved assets 1n 2010 or 2009
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Inventory costs

Inventones are stated at the lower of cost, determined on the first-1n, first-out method, or net realizable
value Finished goods and work-mn-process include the cost of raw matenals, direct labor and manufacturing
overhead costs As a result, we use an inventory reserve to adjust our costs down to a net reahzable value and to
reserve for estumated obsolescence of both raw and fimshed goods Our accountng policy for the inventory
eserve requires us to reserve an amount based on the evaluation of the aging of inventory and a detailed analysis
of finished goods for hugh-risk customers

Income taxes

We are subject to income taxes in Canada as well as 1n numerous foreign junsdictions  Sigruficant
judgments and estumates are required 1n determuning the tncome tax expense in these junsdictions Our income
tax expense, deferred tax assets and hablities and reserves for unrecogmzed tax benefits reflect management’s
best assessment of estimated future taxes to be paid 1n the junsdictions in which we operate

Deferred income taxes arise from temporary differences between the tax and financial statement recogmuon
of revenue and expense In evaluating our ability to recover our deferred tax assets within the junsdiction from
which they anse we constder all available posiive and negative evidence, including scheduled reversals of
deferred tax habilities, projected future taxable income, tax planmng strategies and recent financial operations In
projecting future taxable income, we begin with histonical results adjusted for the results of discontinued
operations and changes 1n accounting policies and incorporate assumptions including the amount of future
Canadian and foreign pretax operating income, the reversal of temporary differences, and the implementation of
feasible and prudent tax planning strategies These assumptions require significant judgment about the forecasts
of future taxable income and are consistent with the plans and estimates we are using to manage the underlying
businesses

Changes 1n tax laws and rates could also affect recorded deferred 1ax assets and Liabilhinies 1n the future
Management 1s not aware of any such changes that would have a matenal effect on our results of operations, cash
flows or financial posiion

The calculation of our tax habilines mvolves deahing with uncertanties in the applicatton of complex tax
laws and regulations 1n a mulutude of junsdictions across our global operations

FASB ASC Topic 740, “Income Taxes™ (“ASC 740") provides that a tax benefit from an uncertan tax
posiion may be recognized when it 1s more Likely than not that the positon will be sustained upon examunation,
including resolunons of any related appeals or htigation processes, based on the technical ments ASC 740 also
provides guidance on measurement, derecogrution, classification, interest and penalties, accounting 1n interim
penods, disclosure and transition

We recogmize tax habilities 1n accordance with ASC 740 and we adjust these habihues when our judgment
changes as a result of the evaluation of new information not previously available Due to the complexity of some
of these uncertainties, the ultimate resolunon may result in a payment that 1s matenally different from our current
estinate of the tax habuhities These differences wall be reflected as increases or decreases (o come tax expense
1n the period in which they are determined

Pension plans

We account for our pension plans in accordance with ASC No 715-20, “Compensation—Defined Benefit
Plans—General” (“ASC 715-20") The funded status 1s the difference between the fair value of plan assets and
the benefit obhgation The adjustment to accumulated other comprehensive income represents the net
unrecogmzed actuanial gans or losses and unrecogmzed prior service costs Future actuanal gans or losses that
are not recognized as net periodic benefits cost in the same penods will be recogmzed as a component of other
comprehensive mcome
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We maintain two defined-benefit plans that cover certain employees in the U K and certain other employees
under a collective bargaining agreement at one plant in the United States We record annual amounts relating to
these plans based on calculations specified by GAAP, which include vanous actuanal assumptions such as
discount rates (4 1% to 4 6%) and assumed rates of return (5 7% to 7 0%) depending on the pension plan
Matenal changes 1n pension costs may occur in the future due to changes tn these assumptions Future annual
amounts could be impacted by changes 1n the discount rate, changes 1n the expected long-term rate of return,
changes 1n the level of contnbutions to the plans and other factors

The discount rate 1s based on a model portfolio of AA rated bonds with a matunty matched to the estimated
payouts of future pension benefits. The expected return on plan assets 1s based on our expectation of the long-
term rates of return on each asset class based on the current asset mix of the funds, considening the histoncal
returns earned on the type of assets m the funds, plus an assumption of future inflation The current investment
policy target asset allocation differs between our two plans, but 1t 15 between 50 0% to 65 0% for equities and
35 0% to 50 0% for bonds The current inflaton assumption 1s 3 3% We review our actuanal assumptions on an
annual basis and make modifications to the assumptions based on current rates and trends when appropnate The
effects of the modifications are amortized over future periods

Recently issued accounting pronouncements—see Note 1 of the Consohidated Financial Statements.
Non-GAAP Measures

In this report, we supplement our reporting of revenue determined 1n accordance with GAAP by excluding
the impact of foreign exchange to separate the impact of curmrency exchange rate changes from Cott’s results of
operations and, 1n some cases, by excluding the umpact of the Chffstar Acquisiton Addiuonally, Cott
supplements 1ts reporung of SG&A, cost of sales, gross profit, and operating income 1n accordance with GAAP
by excluding the impact of the Chffstar Acquisition Cott excludes these 1tems to better understand trends in the
business and the impact of the Chffstar Acquisiton. Because Cott uses these adjusted financial results in the
management of its business and to understand business performance independent of the Cliffstar Acquisiion,
management believes this supplemental informatocn 15 useful to mnvestors for their independent evaluation and
understanding of Cott's core business performance and the performance of its management The non-GAAP
financial measures descnbed above are in addition to, and not meant to be constdered supenor to, or a substitute
for, Cott's financial statements prepared i accordance with GAAP In additon, the nen-GAAP financial
measures included 1n this report reflect management’s judgment of particular items, and may be different from,
and therefore may not be comparable to, ssimilarly titled measures reported by other compantes
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The following table summanzes our Consohidated Statements of Operations as a percentage of revenue for
2011, 2010 and 2009

2011 2010 2009
Percent of Percent of Percent of

{in millions of U.S. dollars, except percentage amounts) Revenue Revenue Revenne
Revenue $2,334.6 1060.0% 18033 1000% 1,5967 1000%
Cost of sales . 2,058.0 88.2% 1,5370 852% 1,3469 844%
Gross profit 276.6 11.8% 2663 148% 2498 15 6%
Selling, general, and admunistrative expenses 172.7 74% 1667 92% 1468 9 2%
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment 1.2 0.1% 11 01% 05 00%
Restructunng - 0.0% (05) 00% 15 01%
Asset impaiwrments 0.6 0.0% — 00% 36 02%
Intangible asset impairments . 1.4 01% — 00% — 0 0%
Operating income 100.7 43% 990 55% 974 61%
Contingent constderation eam-out adjustment 0.9 0.0% (203) -11% — 0 0%
Other expense, net . 22 0.1% 40 02% 44 03%
Interest expense, net . 57.1 24% 369 20% 297 19%
Income before income taxes 40.5 1.8% 784 44% 633 39%
Income tax (benefit) expense 0.7) 0.0% 186 10% (228 -1.4%
Net income . 41.2 1.8% 59.8 34% 861 5.3%
Less: Net mcome attnbutable to

non-controlling interests .6 0.2% 5.1 03% 46 03%
Net income attributed to Cott

Corporation $ 176 1.6% 547 31% 815 50%
Depreciation & amortization $ 953 41% 740 41% 662 41%

The following table summanzes revenue, cost of sales, gross profit, SG& A expenses, and operating income for
the years ended December 31, 2011 and January 1, 2011, respectively

For the Year Ended Cott Excluding

December 31,2011  Cliffstar  Adjustments ! Acquisition
Revenue, net $2,334.6 $617.8 $— $1,716.8
Cost of sales 2,058.0 560.0 _— 1,498.0
Gross profit 276.6 578 — 2188
Selling. general and admimstrative expenses 172.7 323 s 136.6
Loss on disposal of property, plant & equipment 1.2 0.7 _ 0.5
Restructuning . —_ —_ — —
Asset umpairments . 2.0 _ — 2.0
Operating income . $ 100.7 $ 248 $(3.8) $ 797

I In2011, we recorded 33 8 million of integration costs related to the Chffstar Acqusition
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For the Year Ended Cott Excinding
January 1, 2011 Cliffstar Adjustments! Acquisition

Revenue, net . $1.8033 $2322 5 — $1.5711
Cost of sales . 1,5370 2118 — 1,3252
Gross profit . 2663 204 — 2459
Selhng, general and admimistrative expenses 1667 152 139 1376
Loss on disposal of property, plant & equipment 11 — — 11
Restructuning . 05) — —_ 05
Asset impairments —_ —_ —_ —
Operating income . $ 990 $ 52 $(13.9) $ 107.7

1 In 2010, we recorded $7 2 million of transaction costs and $6 7 million of integration costs related to the
Chffstar Acquisition.

The following table summanzes our revenue and operating income by reporting segment for 2011, 2010 and
2009

(in millions of U.S Dollars) 2011 2010 2009
Revenue

North Amenca . . $1,809.3 $1,3573 $i,1739
United Kingdom 479 3671 3593
Mexico 518 501 427
RCI . 25.6 288 208
Total . $2,334.6 51,8033 31,5967
Operating income (loss)

North Amernca $ 704 5 750 % 776
United Kingdom . 275 245 230
Mexico N 44) 5) an
RCI . . . 7.2 7.0 39
Total . $ 1007 § 990 3 974

The following table summarnzes our beverage case volume by reporting segment for 2011, 2010 and 2009

(in millions of cases) 2011 2010 2009
Volume 8 oz. equivalent cases—Total Beverage (including concentrate)

North Amenca 808.7 6970 648 6
United Kingdom 209.0 1929 189 5
Mexico . 371 349 264
RCI . . 2594 2986 2201
Total 13142 1,2234 1,084 6
Volume 8 oz. equivalent cases—Filled Beverage

North Amenca 7216 6186 5742
United Kingdom 194.7 1782 174 6
Mexico 371 349 264
RCI . 0.1 01 02
Total 959.5 831 8 7754
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Revenues and volumes are attnbuted to reporting segments based on the location of the plant

The following tables summanze revenue and beverage case volume by product for 2011, 2010 and 2009
For the Year Ended December 31, 2011

North United
(in millions of US. dollars) America  Kingdom Mexico RC1 Total
Revenue
Carbonated soft drinks . $ 7314 51792 §396 $ — 3 9502
Juice RN 5877 123 27 _ 6027
Concentrate 91 28 — 256 375
All other products 4811 253.6 95 —_ 744 2
Total . . $1,8093 $4479 3518 $ 256 $2,3346
For the Year Ended December 31, 2011
North United
{in millions of cases) America Kingdom Mexico RCI Total
Volume 8 0z. equivalent cases - Total Beverage (including
concentraie
C nated solt dnnks . . 3499 976 267 — 4742
Juce . . . 1344 35 20 — 1399
Concentrate . 811 140 — 2594 3545
All other products . . 2433 939 84 — 3456
Total . 8087 2090 371 2594 13142
For the Year Ended January 1, 2011
North United
(in miilions of US. dollars) America  Kingdom Moexico RC1 Total
Revenue
Carbonated soft drninks . % 7055 $1595 3434 § — % 9084
Juice . . . 2253 100 08 — 2361
Concentrate . 75 4.1 — 288 404
All other products . 4190 1935 59 — 6184
Total $1,3573 $3671 3501 3 288 $1,8033
For the Year Ended January 1, 2011
North United
(in millions of cases) America Kingdom Mexico RCI Total
Volume 8 oz. equivalent cases - Total Beverage (including
concentrate
C nated soft dnnks - . 3431 935 281 — 464 7
Juice . . 572 31 06 —_ 609
Concentrate 784 157 — 298 6 3927
All other products 2183 806 62 — 3051
Total 6970 1929 349 2986 1,2234
For the Year Ended January 2, 2010
North United
(in millions of US dollars) America  Kingdom Mexico RClI Total
Revenue
Carbonated soft drinks . $ 7600 351619 3364 $ — $ 9583
Juce —_ 10.1 04 —_ 10.5
Concentrate 65 4.6 — 197 308
All other products . 407 4 182.7 59 11 5971
Total $1,1739 33593 85427 $ 208 $1,5967
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For the Year Ended January 2, 2010
North United

(in millions of cases) Americn  Kingdomn Mexico RCI Total
Volume 8 oz. equivalen: cases - Total Beverage (including

concentrate)
Carbonated soft drinks 3597 879 203 — 4679
Juice . . — 43 04 -— 47
Concentrate . 74 4 149 — 2199 3092
All other products 214 5 824 57 02 3028
Total 648 6 1895 264 2201 1,0846
Results of Operations

The following table summanzes the change 1n revenue by reporting segment for 2011

For the Year Ended December 31, 2011
North United

(in millions of US. dollars, except percentage amounts) Cott America Kingdom Mexico RCI
Change tn revenue . $5313 $4520 3808 $17 % (32)
Impact of foreign exchange ! 24 1) s 454 142y —
Change excluding foreign exchange $5072 $4445 $654 3505 $(32)
Percentage change 1n revenue 2905% 333% 220% 34% -111%
Percentage change in revenue excluding foreign exchange 281% 327% 178% 10% -11.1%
Impact of Chffstar Acquisition (3856) (3856) — — —_—
Change excluding foreign exchange and Cliffstar Acquisition 51216 3 589 $654 $05 % (3.2)
Percentage change 1n revenue excluding foreign exchange and

Chffstar Acquisiion . . 67% 43% 178% 10% -111%

I Impact of foreign exchange 1s the difference between the current year's revenue translated utihzing the
current year's average foreign exchange rates less the current year's revenue translated utihzing the pnor
year's average foreign exchange rates.

The following table summanzes the change 1n revenue by reporting segment for 2010

For the Year Ended Jannary 1, 2011
North United

{in millions of U.S dollars) Cott America Kingdom Mexico RCI
Change n revenue $2066 $1834 $78 §$74 $80
Impact of foreign exchange ! (118 700 80 28 —
Change excluding foreign exchange . $1948 $1664 $158 $46 $ 80
Percentage change 1n revenue 129% 156% 22% 173% 385%
Percentage change in revenue excluding foreign exchange 122% 142% 44% 108% 385%
Impact of Chffstar Acquisiion (2322 (2322) — - —_
Change excluding foreign exchange and Chffstar Acquisitzon $(374)3 (658) $158 $46 $ 30
Percentage change 1n revenue excluding foreign exchange and

Clffstar Acquisiion 23% -56% 44% 108% 385%

! Impact of foreign exchange 1s the difference between the current year’s revenue transtated unlizing the
current year's average foreign exchange rates less the current year's revenue translated utihzing the prior
year's average foreign exchange rates
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2011 versus 2010 ‘

Revenue increased $531 3 mulhon or 29 5% in 2011 from 2010 The Chffstar Acquisition contributed
$385 6 mullion to revenue Excluding the impact of the Chffstar Acquisiuon and foreign exchange, revenue
increased 6 7% due pnmaniy to improved beverage case volume and lugher pnces 1n the U.K and North
Amernica, offset m part by lower beverage case volume in RCI

2010 versus 2009

Revenue increased $206 6 milhion or 12 9% 1n 2010 from 2009 The Cliffstar Acquisition contributed
$232 2 millron to revenue Excluding the impact of the Cliffstar Acquisiion and foreign exchange, revenue
decreased 2 3% due pnmanly to lower North Amenca beverage case volume offset 1n pant by unproved beverage
case volume in the U K , Mexico and RCI

Revenue Results for Reporting Segments
2011 versus 2010

North Amertca revenue increased $452 0 mulhon or 33 3% 1 2011 from 2010 The Chffstar Acquisition
contributed $385 6 million of the increase i revenue Excluding the impact of foreign exchange and the Chiffstar
Acquisition, revenue increased 4 3%, due to a 4 4% unprovement 1n beverage case volume that resulied
pnmarnly from new business wins and the introduction of new products, as well as lugher prices Net selling
price per beverage case (which 1s net revenue divided by beverage case volume) increased 13 7% 1n 2011 from
2010, due pnmanly to improved product nux related to juice volume resulung from the Chffstar Acquisinon.
Excluding the impact of the Cliffstar Acquisition, net selling pnce per beverage case remaned flat 1n 2011 from
2010

UK revenue increased $80 8 mullion or 22 0% 1n 2011 from 2010, pnmarly as a result of a 9 3% increase
1n beverage case volume and improved product mix (pnmanly increases in energy and sports 1sotoruc products)
Net selling price per beverage case increased 11 7% in 2011 from 2010 due primanly to commodity-driven
customer price increases and a favorable product mix Absent foreign exchange impact, U K. revenue increased
17 8% 1n 2011 from 2010

Mexico revenue increased $1 7 muthon or 3 4% m 2011 from 2010, due pnmanly to a 6 3% increase in
beverage case volume offset 1n part by a 2 8% decrease 1n net selling price per beverage case in 2011 from 2010
Absent foreign exchange impact, Mextco revenue increased 1 0%

RCI revenue decreased $3 2 million or 11 1% in 2011 from 2010, due pnmanly to the timing of shuipments
to our largest customer located 1n Asia and the decreased demand from our customer 1n Synia as a result of the
political deteriorauon 1n that region Net selling pnice per beverage case remained flat in 2011 from 2010 RCI
pnmanly sells concentrate

2010 versus 2009

North America revenue mcreased $183 4 mulhion or 15 6% 1n 2010 from 2009 The Chffstar Acquisition
contrtbuted $232 2 nulhon to revenue Excluding the impact of foreign exchange and the Cliffstar Acquisition,
revenue decreased 5 6%, due pnmanly to a 1 8% dechne in beverage case volume that resulied from national
brand promotional activity in the first half of 2010 Net selling price per beverage case (which 1s net revenue
divided by beverage case volume) was down shghtly for 2010 from 2009

U K. revenue ncreased $7 8 million or 2 2% 1n 2010 from 2009, pnmanty as a result of a 2 1% increase in
beverage case volume, and improved product mix (pnmanly imcreases m energy and sports 1sotonic products),
offset 1n part by the weakening of the pound sterhng Net selling price per beverage case remained flat 1n 2010
from 2009 Absent foreign exchange umpact, U K. revenue increased 4 4% mn 2010 from 2009 U K total case
volume ncreased 1 8%

40




Mexico revenue increased $7 4 mullion or 17 3% tn 2010 from 2009, due prnimanly to a 32 2% increase in
beverage case votume Net selling price per beverage case decreased 11 1% 1n 2010 from 2009 The increase in
beverage case volume and decrease 1n net selling price was due primanly to new business in the retail channetl
and the commencement of shipments to a new bottled water customer Absent foreign exchange impact, Mexico
revenue increased 10 8% i 2010 from 2009

RCI revenue ncreased $8 0 milhion or 38 5% 1n 2010 from 2009, prumanly as a result of a 35 7%
umprovement in total case volume due primarily to expansion of existing customer channels Net selling pnce per
beverage case remained flat 1n 2010 from 2009 RCI primanly sells concentrate

Cost of Sales
2011 versus 2010

Cost of sales represented 88 2% of revenue 1n 2011 compared to 85 2% 1n 2010. Excluding the impact of the
Cliffstar Acquisition, cost of sales represented 87 3% of revenue 1n 201} compared to 84 3% 1n 2010 The
ncrease in cost of sales was due pnmanly to higher commodity costs Vanable costs represented 77 7% of total
sales m 2011, up from 74 7% 1n 2010 Major elements of these vanable costs included ingredtent and packaging
costs, distnbution costs and fees pad to third-party manufacturers

2010 versus 2009

Cost of sales represented 85 2% of revenue 1n 2010 compared to 84 4% 1n 2009 Of the 85 2%, 0 9% was
attnibutable to the Chffstar Acquisition Excluding the impact of the Cliffstar Acquisition, cost of sales
represented 84 3% of revenue m 2010 The cost of sales as a percent of revenue for Chffstar was 91 2% m 2010
This percentage was higher than normal due 1n part to increases 1n fixed costs resulting from upgrades of some of
our production hines, and finished goods on hand being measured at fair value at the closing date for the Cliffstar
Acquisiton Vanable costs represented 74 7% of total sales in 2610, down from 74 9% 1n 2009 Major elements
of these vanable costs included ingredient and packaging costs, distnbution costs and fees paid to third-party
manufacturers

Gross Profit
2011 versus 2010

Gross profit as a percentage of revenue decreased to 11 8% 1n 2011 from 14 8% 1n 2010 Excluding the
impact of the Chiffstar Acquisttion, gross profit as a percentage of revenue decreased to 12 8% in 2011 from
15 7% 1n 2010 The decline 1n gross profit was due prumanly to hugher commodity costs

2010 versus 2009

Gross profit as a percentage of revenue decreased to 14 8% in 2010 from 15 6% n 2009 Excluding the
impact of the Cliffstar Acqusition, gross profit as a percentage of revenue remained flat at 15 7% in 2010
compared to 2009

Selling, General and Administrative Expenses
2011 versus 2010

SG&A 1n 201} increased $6 0 mullion, or 3 6%, from 2010 The impact of the Chiffstar Acquisiton was $7 0
mullion, and included addimional SG&A expenses of $17 | muithion resulting from the full year inclusion of
Cliffstar, offset in part by a reduction of 32 9 mullion 1n integration costs, and transaction costs of $7 2 mullion
incurred 1n the prior year penod Excluding the impact of the Clhiffstar Acquisitton, SG&A decreased $1 0
mithon As a percentage of revenue, SG&A was 7 4% in 2011 and 9 2% 1n 2010

2010 versus 2009

SG&A 1n 2010 increased $19 9 nullion, or 13 6%, from 2009 The Chffstar Acquisition contnibuted $15 2
mullion of SG&A costs, or 10 4% of the increase, 1n 2010 Excluding the impact of the Cliffstar Acquisition,
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SG&A decreased $9 2 million or 6 3% from 2009 The increase in the overall SG&A costs in 2010 was pnmanly
the result of $7 2 million of transaction costs related to the Chffstar Acquisition, and $6 7 million of integration
costs, partially offset by a $3 3 mullion reduction 1n technology related costs, lower professional fees of $2 3
mullion, and lower compensation of $2 0 million As a percentage of revenue, SG&A was 9.2% n 2010 and
2009, respectively

Restructuring, Goodwill and Asset Impairments
2011 versus 2010

We did not record any restructuring charges in 2011 In 2010, we recorded a gain of 30 5 milhion related to a
lease contract termination In 2011 we recorded an intangible asset imparrment of $1 4 nulhion related to a
customer hist that was impaired due to the loss of a customer Also in 2011, we recorded a $0 6 milhion
impaiment of long-lived assets related to a production plant in Mexico that ceased operations

2010 versus 2009

Restructuning and asset imparment charges 1n 2010 decreased $5 6 mullion from 2009 In 2010, we
recorded a gain of $0 5 million related to a lease contract termination In 2009, we recorded restructuring and
asset impairments of $5 | milhon, which included $3 6 mullron for asset impairments primanly related to
customer relatonships and severance costs of $1 5 milhon related to the orgamzational restructuring and
headcount reductions associated with the 2009 Restructuning Plan

Operating Income
2011 versus 2010

Operating imcome 1n 2011 was $100 7 milhon, compared to operating mcome of $99 0 nullion n 2010 The
Chiffstar Acquisiion contnibuted $19 6 nullion of the increase in operating income i 2011, and $5 2 mullion to
operating mncome 1n 2010 Excluding the impact of the Chffstar Acquisition, operating mcome declined by $28 0
malhon or 26 0% from 2010

2010 versus 2009

Operating mcome 1n 2010 was $99 0 milhon, compared to operating income of $97 4 mullion 1n 2009 The
Chffstar Acqusiion contnbuted $5 2 milhon of operating income 1n 2010 Excluding the impact of the Chffstar
Acquisition, operating income increased by $10 3 rmlhon or 10.6%

Other Expense, Net
2011 versus 2010

In 2011, we recorded $2 2 million of foreign exchange losses primarily related to intercompany loans In
2010, we recorded a $1 4 million wnite off of financing fees and $2 6 million of foreign exchange losses related
primanly to intercompany loans

2010 versus 2009

In 2010, we recorded a 31 4 mullion wnite off of financing fees and $2 6 mullion of foretgn exchange losses
related primanly to mtercompany loans In 2009, we recorded a $3 3 mulhion charge on the repayment of the
2011 Notes and $1 1 million of foreign exchange losses

Interest Expense, Net

2011 versus 2010

Net interest expense in 2011 mcreased 54 7% from 2010 due primanly to a higher average debt balance
resulung from the 1ssuance of the 2018 Notes in the thard quarter of 2010
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2010 versus 2009

Net interest expense 1n 2010 increased 24 2% from 2009 due pnmanly to a lngher average debt balance
resulung from the 1ssuance of the 2018 Notes

Income Taxes
2011 versus 2010

In 2011, we recorded a tax benefit of $0 7 mullion compared to tax expense of $18 6 million i 2010 The
difference between these two amounts was due pnmanly to lower pre-tax income in the United States, the
reorganization of our legal entity structure and refinancing of intercompany debu, offset in part by the
reestablishment of a U S federal valuation allowance

2010 versus 2009

We recorded income tax expense of $18 6 mlhion 1n 2010 compared with an income tax benefit of $22 8
mulhon 1n 2009 The tax benefit in 2009 was pnmanly the result of the utihizaton of $17 5 nmulhon 1n accruals
related to uncertain tax positions, and $25 0 million resulting from the reversal 1n 2009 of U S$ valuation
allowances [n 2010, we utihzed $2 2 million of accruals related to uncertain tax positions and $0 7 mulkion
relating to the utihzation of U S valuation allowances

Liquidity and Capital Resources

The following table summanzes our cash flows for 2011, 2010 and 2009 as reported 1n our Consolidated
Statements of Cash Flows 1n the accompanying Consolidated Financial Statements

For the Years Ended

December 31, January 1, January 2,
(in millions of US doltars) 2011 2011 2010
Net cash provided by operating activities $163.5 $1784 $1551
Net cash used in investing achivities . . (90.2) (5547 (322)
Net cash (used 1n) provided by financing activiues (20.3) 39313 (107 5)
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash (0.3) 0.3 08
Net increase in cash & cash equivalents 52.7 17.3 162
Cash & cash equivalents, beginning of penod 48.2 309 147
Cash & cash equivalents, end of penod $100.9 $ 482 $ 309

Operating Activities

Cash provided by operatng activities in 2011 was $163 5 milhon compared to $178 4 milhon in 2010 and
$155 1 mallion 1n 2009 The $14 9 millton decrease 1n 2011 compared to 2010 was due primanly to the uming of
disbursements and the receipt of tax refunds in the prior year, offset in part by a reductton 1n inventory purchases

The $23 3 muilton increase 1n 2010 compared to 2009 was due pnmanly to improved working capital as a
result of the receipt of tax refunds, and an increase 1n interest accruals, partially offset by investment 1n
inventory

Investing Activities

Cash used 1n investing activities was $90 2 muthion in 2011 compared to $554 7 mithion in 2010 and $32 2
million 1n 2009 The $464 5 nmullion decrease 1n 2011 compared to 2010, and the $522 5 milhon 1ncrease from
2010 to 2009 were due primanly to the purchase pnce pard 1n 2010 1n connection with the Chffstar Acquisiion
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The decrease 1n 201 1 compared to 2010 was offset 1n part by $34 3 mllion of payments made 1n 2011
related to contingent consideration and deferred consideration paid in connection with the Chiffstar Acgusition

The 1increase 1n 2010 compared to 2009 was also impacted by an increase 1n capital expenditures of $11 7
mihon

Financing Activities

Cash used 1n financing activities was $20 3 millvon 1n 2011 compared to cash provided of $393 3 mullion 1n
2010 and cash used of $107 5 mullion 1n 2009 Dunng 2011, we made payments of $6 8 million on our long-term
debt In 2011, we made net payments of $7 8 million on our ABL facility, which reduced our borrowings to ml

In 2010, we receaved proceeds of $375 0 million from the 1ssuance of the 2018 Notes and $7¢ 1 mllion 1n
net proceeds from the Equity Offenng, partially offset by $14 2 mithon of financing fees, $12 5 milhon in net
payments under the ABL facility, $18 7 million 1n payments of long-term debt, and $7 4 mulhon of distnbutions
to non-controthing interests

In 2009, we substanbally reduced our ABL facility borrowings, repurchased $257 8 nuilion of the 2011
Notes offset by the receipt of $47 5 mullion 1n net proceeds from the pubhc offenng of 9,435,000 common shares |
at a pnece of $5 30 per share completed on August 11, 2009 and $211 9 mulhon from the 1ssuance of $2150 '
mullion of sentor notes that are due on November 15, 2017 (the “2017 Notes™)

Financial Liquidity |
As of December 31, 2011, we had $608 0 mulhion of debt and $100 9 million of cash and cash equivalents
compared to $622 2 millron of debt and $48 2 rullron of cash and cash equivalents as of January 1, 2011

We believe that our level of resources, which includes cash on hand, available borrowings under the ABL
facility and funds provided by operations, will be adequate to meet our expenses, capital expenditures, and debt
service obligations for the next twelve months Qur ability to generate cash to meet our current expenses and debt
service obligations will depend on our future performance If we do not have enough cash to pay our debt service
obligations or if the ABL facility, 2017 Notes, or 2018 Notes were to become currently due, either at matunty or
as a result of a breach, we may be required to take actions such as amending our ABL facihity or the indentures
goverming our 2017 Notes and 2018 Notes, refinancing all or part of our existing debt, sellimg assets, incurring
additional indebtedness or raising equity If we need to seek additional financing, there 1s no assurance that thus
additional financing will be available

Should we desire to consummate sigmficant acquisition opportumties or undertake sigmficant expansion
activities, our capital needs would increase and could result in our need to increase available borrowings under
our ABL factlity or access public or private debt and equity markets

As of December 31, 2011, our total availability under the ABL facility was $239 7 milhon, which was based
on our borrowing base (accounts recervables, inventory, and fixed assets) We had no outstanding borrowings
under the ABL facility and $9 7 million 1n cutstanding letters of credit. As a result, our excess availability under
the ABL facihity was $230.0 million Each month’s borrowing base 1s not effective until submutted to the lenders,
which usually occurs on the fifteenth day of the following month

Dunng the third quarter of 2010, we completed the Chffstar Acqumsiton The Chffstar Acqusition was
financed through the 1ssuance of the 2018 Notes (the “Note Offering”), the Equity Offening, and borrowings
under our ABL facility, which we refinanced 1n connection with the Chiffstar Acquisiion The ABL facility was
refinanced to, among other things, provide for the Chffstar Acquisition, the Note Offening and the application of
net proceeds therefrom, the Equity Offering and the application of net proceeds therefrom and to increase the
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amount available for borrowings to $275 O milhon We drew down a portion of indebtedness under that facality
1n order to fund the Chffstar Acquisiton We mcurred $5 4 mulhion of financing fees 1n connection with the
refinancing of the ABL facility Net proceeds from the Equity Offening were $71 1 mullion, after deducting
expenses, underwriting discounts and commissions

Net proceeds resulung from the Note Offering were $366 4 multion after 1ssuance costs of $8 6 milhion The
2018 Notes are semor unsecured obligations and rank equaily with all other existing and future unsubordinated
indebtedness, including indebtedness under our credit facihties We are subject to covenants and limntatrons on
our and/or our subsidiaries’ ability, subject to certan exceptions and quabfications, to (1) pay dividends or make
distnbutions, repurchase equity secunties, prepay subordinated debt or make certain investments, {u) wncur
additional debt or 1ssue centain disqualified stock or preferred stock, (11} create or incur liens on assets secunng
mdebtedness, (1v) merge or consohidate with another company (which applies to Cott and Cott Beverages Inc
only) or sell all or substantially all of our assets taken as a whole, (v) enter into transactions with affiliates and
(v1) sell assets

Dunng the fourth quarter of 2009, we repurchased $237.1 mullion 1n aggregate principal amount of the 2011
Notes, pursuant to a public cash tender offer, in which we also paid an early tender premuum, accrued interest and
associated fees and expenses. We also purchased $20 7 million of the 2011 Notes in the third quarter of 2009
The extingmshment of these 2011 Notes that were vahdly tendered resulted in a charge of $3 3 aullion which
was recorded to Other Expense (Income) in the Consolidated Statements of Operations for the year ended
January 2, 2010 On February 1, 2010, we completed the redemption of the remaiming $11 1 million of the 2011
Notes

Dunng the fourth quarter of 2009, we completed our offering of $215 0 mullion 1n aggregate principal
amount of the 2017 Notes resulting tn net proceeds of approximately $206 8 mulhion after a discount of $3 1
milhon and 1ssuance costs of $5 1 milhion The 2017 Notes mature on November 15, 2017 and pay interest
semuannually on May 15% and November 15% of each year The 2017 Notes are semor unsecured obligations and
rank equally with all other existing and future unsubordinated indebtedness, including indebtedness under our
credit faciities We are subject to covenants and hmitations on our and/or our subsicianes’ ability, subject to
certain exceptions and quabficatons, to (1) pay dividends or make distnbutions, repurchase equty secuntes,
prepay subordinated debt or make certain investments, (11) incur additronal debt or 15sue certain disqualified stock
or preferred stock, (1) create or incur hens on assets, (1v) merge or consolidate with another company (whtch
applies to Cott and Cott Beverages Inc only) or sell all or substantially all assets taken as a whole, (v) enter into
transactions with affihates and (v1) sell assets

We may, from time to tme, depending on market conditions, including without hmitanon whether the 2017
Notes or 2018 Notes are then trading at discounts to their respective face amounts, repurchase the 2017 Notes or
2018 Notes for cash and/or in exchange for shares of our common stock, warrants, preferred stock, debt or other
consideration, 1n each case in open market purchases and/or pnvately negotiated transactions The amounts
involved 10 any such transactions, individually or in aggregate, may be matennal However, the covenants in our
ABL facility subject such purchases to certain hmtations and conditions

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

We have no off-balance sheet arrangements as defined under Item 303(a)}{4) of Regulanon 8-K as of
December 31, 2011
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Contractual Obligations

The following table shows the schedule of future payments under certain contracts, including debt
agreements and guarantees, as of December 31, 2011

Payments doe by period

(in millions of US dollars) Total 2012 013 2014 015 2016  Thereafter
8 375% Semor notes due 1n 2017 . $ 2150 $§ — 3$— $— $— S$— 32150
8 125% Semor notes due 1n 2018 375.0 — — — — — 37150
ABL facility ! — — — — — — —
GE Obhgation? 6.4 26 10 1.1 12 05 -
Capital leases 138 06 0.7 0.7 07 03 08
Other long-term debt . 1.5 02 02 03 03 03 02
Interest expense? 310.7 491 490 490 495 486 655
Operating leases .. 90.6 191 151 140 122 97 205
Guarantee purchase eqmpment 20.5 205 — — — — —
Pension obligations . 11 1t — — — — —
Purchase obhgauons 4 2843 2078 245 168 165 131 56
Total* $1,308.9 $301.0 3$90.5 $81.9 $80.4 $72.5 $682.6

! The ABL facility 1s considered a current hability As of December 31, 2011, we had no outstanding
borrowings under the ABL facility

2 We funded new water botthing equipment through an intenm financing agreement signed 1n January 2008
(the “GE Obhgation™) At the end of the GE Obligation, we may exchange $6 0 mallion of deposits for the
exunguishment of $6 0 nulhon n debt

3 Interest expense mcludes fixed interest on the 2018 Notes, the 2017 Notes, the GE Obligation, the ABL
facility, capital leases and other long-term habihities Actual amounts will differ from estmates provided

¢ Purchase obhgations consist of commitments for the purchase of inventory and energy These obligations
represent the mimmum contractual obhgations expected under the normal course of bustness

5 The contractual obligations table excludes the Company’s ASC 740 uncertain tax posihons hability of $9 0
muilhion because the Company cannot make a rehiable estimate as to when such amounts will be settled




Debt

Our total debt as of December 31, 2011 and January 1, 2011 1s as follows

(in millions of U.S. dollars)

8 375% sentor notes due 1n 2017 !
8 125% sentor notes due 1n 2018
ABL facility

GE Obhgation .

Other capital leases

Other debt

Total debt .
Less Short-term borrowings and current debt
ABL facility

Total short-term borrowings

GE Obhgation—current maturities
Other capital leases—current matunities
Other debt—current matunties

Total current debt
Long-term debt before discount
Less discount on 8 375% notes

Total long-term debt

December 31, January 1,
2011 2011
215.0 2150
375.0 3750

_ 79
124 165
4.1 58
1.5 20
608.0 6222
—_ 79
—_ 79
2.6 41
0.6 14
0.2 05
34 139
604.6 608 3
(2.5) (28)
$602.1 $605 5

! Our 8 375% semor notes were 1ssued at a discount of 1 425% on November 13, 2009

Asset Based Lending Facility

On March 31, 2008, we entered into a credst agreement with JPMorgan Chase Bank N A as Agent that
created an ABL facility to provide financing for our North Amenca, U K and Mexico reporting segments In
connection with the Chffstar Acquisition, we refinanced the ABL facility on August 17, 2010 to, among other
things, provide for the Cliffstar Acquisition, the Note Offening and the application of net proceeds therefrom, the
Equity Offering and the application of net proceeds therefrom and to mcrease the amount available for
borrowings to $275 0 mullion We drew down a portion of the indebtedness under the ABL facility 1n order to
fund the Clffstar Acqusinon We incurred $5 4 million of financing fees 1n connectton with the refinancing of
the ABL facility The financing fees are being amortized using the straight line method over a four-year penod,
which represents the duration of the ABL facility

As of December 31, 2011, we had no outstanding borrowings under the ABL facility The commitment fee
was 0 5% per annum of the unused commutment, which was $265 3 mtllion as of December 31, 2011

The effectuve interest rate as of December 31, 2011 on LIBOR and Pnime loans 15 based on average
aggregate availability as follows

Average te Availability ABR Canadian Eurodotlar CDOR LIBOR

(in millions of U.S. dollars) Spread Prime Spread Spread Spread Spread

Qver 3150 1 50% 1 50% 2 50% 250% 250%

$75- 150 175% 175% 275% 275% 275%

Under $75 2 00% 2 00% 3 00% 300 300% '
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8.125% Senior Notes due in 2018

On August 17, 2010, we 1ssued $375 0 milhon of 2018 Notes The 1ssuer of the 2018 Notes 1s our wholly-
owned subsidiary Cott Beverages Inc , but we and most of our U S, Canadian and United Kingdom subsidiaries
guarantee the 2018 Notes The interest on the 2018 Notes 1s payable semi-annually on March 1+ and
September 1% of each year

We mcurred $8 6 mullion of financing fees in connection with the issuance of the 2018 Notes The financing
fees are being amoruzed using the effective interest method over an eight-year period, which represents the
duration of the 2018 Notes

8.375% Semor Notes due in 2017

On November 13, 2009, we 1ssued $215 0 mullion of 2017 Notes The 2017 Notes were 1ssued at a $3 1
mullion discount The 1ssuer of the 2G17 Notes 1s our wholly-owned subsidtary Cott Beverages Inc , but we and
most of our U § , Canadian and Umited Kingdom subsidiaries guarantee the 2017 Notes The interest on the 2017
Notes 15 payable semi-annually on May 15% and November 15% of each year

We mncurred $5 1 mullion of financing fees tn connection with the 2017 Notes The financing fees are being
amortized using the effective interest method over an eight-year period, which represents the duration of the
2017 Notes

8% Senior Subordinated Notes due in 2011

We repurchased the remaining outstanding 2011 Notes on February 1, 2010, and recorded a loss on buyback
of $0 1 milion The 2011 Notes acquired by us have been retired, and we have discontinued the payment of
interest

In 2009, the Company repurchased $257 8 milhion 1n principal amount of the 2011 Notes, and recorded a
loss on buyback of $3 3 mullion

GE Firancing Agreement

We funded $32 S mullion of water bottling equipment purchases through a finance lease arrangement
2008 The quarterly payments under the lease obligation totaled approximately $8 8 million per annum for the
first two years, $5 3 mullion per annum for the subsequent two years, then $1 7 mullion per annum for the final
four years

Credit Ratings and Covenant Compliance
Credit Ratings

Our objective 1s to maintain credit raungs that provide us with ready access to global capital and crednt
markets at favorable interest rates

As of December 31, 2011, the Company’s credit raungs were as follows

Credit Ratings
Standard and Poor’s
Moody’s Rating Rating
Corporate credit rating . B2 B
2017 Notes B3 B
2018 Notes B3 B
Outlook - Stable Stable




Any downgrade of our credit raungs by either Moody’s or S&P could increase our future borrowing costs or
impatr our ability to access capital markets on terms commercially acceptable to us or at all.

Covenant Comphance
8 125% Senior Notes due tn 2018

Under the indenture goverming the 2018 Notes, we are subject to a number of covenants, including
covenants that himut our and certain of our subsidianes” ability, subject to certain exceptions and quabficauons, to
(1) pay dividends or make distibutions, repurchase equity secunties, prepay subordinated debt or make certan
mvestments, (1) incur additional debt or 1ssue certain disquahfied stock or preferred stock, (1) create or incur
Liens on assets securing indebtedness, (1v) merge or consolidate wath another company or sell all or substantially
all of our assets taken as a whole, (v) enter into transactions with affihates and (vi) sell assets We have been 1n
comphiance with all of the covenants under the 2018 Notes and there have been no amendments to any such
covenants since the 2018 Notes were 1ssued

8 375% Sentor Notes due in 2017

Under the indenture govermng the 2017 Notes, we are subject to a number of covenants, including
covenants that hmut our and certain of our subsidiantes’ ability, subject to certain exceptions and qualifications, to
(1) pay dividends or make distnbutions, repurchase equity secunties, prepay subordinated debt or make certain
mvestments, (u) incur additional debt or 1ssue certain disquahfied stock or preferred stock, (111) create or icur
Liens on assets secunng indebtedness, (1v) merge or consohdate with another company or selt all or substantially
all of our assets taken as a whole, (v) enter into transactions with affiliates and (vi) sell assets We have been in
compliance with all of the covenants under the 2017 Notes and there have been no amendments to any such
covenants since the 2017 Notes were 1ssued

ABL Faciity

Under the credit agreement govermng the ABL facility, we and our restrnicted subsidianes are subject to a
number of business and financial covenants, including a covenant requinng a mmimum fixed charge coverage
ratio of at least 1 1 to 1 0 effective when and 1f excess availabihity 1s less than the greater of (2) $30 0 milhion and
(b) the lesser of (1) 12 5% of the amount of the aggregate borrowing base or (u) $37 5 nulhon Although the
covenant was not tnggered as of December 31, 2011, our fixed charge coverage ratio as calculated under thts
covenant was greater than 1 1 to 1 0 If availabibity 1s less than $37 5 mulhon, the lenders will take dominion over
the cash and will apply excess cash to reduce amounts owing under the facility The credit agreement governing
the ABL facility requires us to mawntain aggregate avalability of at least $15 0 mulhon We were 1in comphiance
with all of the applicable covenants under the ABL facility on December 31, 2011

Capital structure

Since January 1, 2011, equity has increased by $33 0 million The increase was primanly the result of net
income of $37 6 million, $3 6 mllion of non-controlling interest income, $2 9 milkion of share-based
compensation expense, and contnbutions to non-controlling interests of $1 8 mullion offset in part by a $4 7
mallion foreign currency translation loss on the net assets of self-sustaning foreign operations, $6.0 million of
distnbutions to non-controlling interests, and an increase in pension habikities of $3 1 million

Dividend payments

There are certain restrictions on the payment of dividends under our ABL facility and under the indentures
governing the 2017 Notes and 2018 Notes No dividend payments were made 1n 201§ and we do not expect to
pay dividends 1n the foreseeable future
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ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

We do not trade market nsk sensitive instruments

Currency Exchange Rate Risk

We are exposed to changes in foreign currency exchange rates Operattons outside of the United States
accounted for 32 5% of 2011 revenue and 34 2% of 2010 revenue, and are concentrated pnncipaliy in the U.K .
Canada and Mexico We translate the revenues and expenses of our foreign operations using average exchange
rates prevailing dunng the penod The effect of a 10 0% change 1n foreign currency exchange rates among the
U S dollar versus the Canadian dollar, pound sterling and Mexican peso as of December 31, 2011, at current
levels of foreign debt and operations would result in our revenues m 2011 changing by $72 | milhion and our
gross profit in 2011 changing by $7 7 mithon This change would be matenal to our cash flows and our results of
operations.

Qur pnmary exposure to foreign currency exchange rates relates to transactions mn which the currency
collected from customers 1s different from the currency utilized to purchase the product sold In 2011, we entered
into foreign currency contracts to hedge some of these currency exposures for which natural hedges do not exast
Natural hedges exist when purchases and sales within a specific country are both denominated in the same
currency and, therefore, no exposure exists to hedge with foreign exchange forward, opuon, or swap contracts
(collectively, the “foreign exchange contracts”) We do not enter into foreign exchange contracts for trading
purposes The nsk of loss on a foreign exchange contract 1s the nsk of non-performance by the counterparties,
which we minimize by limiting our counterparties to major financial institutions The fair values of the foreign
exchange contracts, which are $0.6 million, are estimated using market quotes As of December 31, 2011, we had
outstanding foreign exchange forward contracts with nottonal amounts of $14 7 m:llion

Debt obligations and interest rates

We have exposure to interest rate risk from the outstanding pnncipal amounts of our short-term and long-
term debt Our long-term debt 1s fixed and our short-term debt 1s vanable Our ABL facility i1s vulnerable to
fluctuations 1n the U S short-term base rate and the LIBOR rate Since we did not have any ABL borrowings
outstanding at year end as of December 31, 2011, a 100 basis point increase 1n the current per annum interest rate
for our ABL facility (excluding the $9 7 million of outstanding letters of credit) would not result 1n additional
interest expense or be matenial to our cash flows or our results of operations The weighted average interest rate
of our debt outstanding at December 31, 2011 was 8 1%

We regularly review the structure of our debt and consider changes to the proportion of vanable versus fixed
rate debt through refinancing, interest rate swaps or other measures in response to the changing economic
environment Histoncally, we have not used denvative instruments to manage interest rate nsk If we use and fail
to manage these denivative instruments successfully, or if we are unable to refinance our debt or otherwise
increase our debt capacity 1n response to changes i the marketplace, the expense associated with debt service
could increase This would negauvely impact our financial condition and profitability.
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‘The information below summarizes our market nsks associated with long-term debt obligations as of
December 31, 2011 The table presents pnncipal cash flows and related interest rates by year of matunty Interest
rates disclosed represent the actual weighted average rates as of December 31, 2011

Debt Obligations
Weighted average
QOutstanding Interest rate for debt

({in millions of U.S dollars) debt balance matoring
Debt maturing in:

2042 . $ 34 7 6%
2013 . 20 7 6%
2014 . . 21 7 4%
2015 . 22 7 6%
2016 11 80%
Thereafter . 5972 81%
Total $608.0 ! 81%

I We funded the purchase of new water botthng equipment through the GE Obligation At the end of the GE
Obligation, we may exchange $6 0 muthion of deposits for the exunguishment of $6 0 miilion 1n debt or elect
to purchase such equipment

Commodity Price Risk

The competiive marketplace in which we operate may Limit our ability to recover increased costs through
higher prices As a result, we are subject to market nsk with respect to commeodity pnce fluctuauons principally
refated to our purchases of aluminum, PET resin, comn for HFCS, fruit and frut concentrates When possible, we
manage our exposure to thus risk pnmanly through the use of supplier pnicing agreements, which enable us to
establish the purchase prices for certain commodities We estumate that a 10% increase in the market pnces of
these commodities over the current market prices would cumulatively increase our cost of sales dunng the next
12 months by approximately $29 0 million. This change would be matenal to our cash flows and our results of
operations

ITEM 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA

Financial statements and exhibits filed under this item are hsted 1n the index appearning 1n Item 15 of tus
report

ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND
FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE

None

ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES
Disclosure Controls and Procedures

The Company maintains disclosure controls and procedures as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) of
the Secunities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”) The Company's management, under the
supervision and with the participation of the Company's Chuef Executive Officer and Chief Financtal Officer,
camed out an evaluation of the effectiveness of the design and operation of the Company’s disclosure controls
and procedures as of December 31, 2011 (the “Evaluvation™) Based upon the Evaluation, the Company’s Chuef
Executive Officer and Chuef Financial Officer conctuded that, as of December 31, 2011, the Company’s
disclosure controls and procedures were effective to ensure that tnformation required to be disclosed by the
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Company 1n reports filed or submutted under the Exchange Act s recorded, processed, summarized and reported
within the nme penods specified in SEC rules and forms, and accumulated and commumicated to the Company’s
management, including the Company’s Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, to allow timely
decisions regarding required disclosure.

Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

The Company's management 1s responsible for establishing and mantaining adequate intemnal control over
financial reporting as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f). Management, under the
supervision and wath the participation of the Company's Ctuef Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer,
evaluated the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2011
using the critena set forth by the Commuttee of Sponsonng Organizations of the Treadway Commussion
(“COSQO™) it Internal Control—Integrated Framework. Based on that evaluation, management concluded that
the Company’s internal control over financial reporting was effective as of December 31, 2011

The effecuveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2011 has
been audited by PncewaterhouseCoopers LLP, the Company's independent registered cernfied public accounting
firm, who also audited the Company’s consolidated financial statements mcluded in thus Annual Report on Form
10-K, as stated 1n thear report which appears herein

Remediation of Material Weakness

Management first reported a matenal weakness 1n the Company’s intemal control over financial reporting,
related to the commumcation and evaluation of a certain customer’s discount and pncing programs that affected
revenue, accounts receivable and accrued expenses, on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended Januvary 1, 2011, filed
on March 15, 2011 A matenal weakness 15 a deficiency. or a combination of deficiencies, 1n internal control
over financial reporting such that there 1s a reasonable possibility that a matenal misstatement of the Company's
annual or ntenm financial statements wall not be prevented or detected on a umely basis

Dunng 2011, with oversight from the Audit Commuttee of the Company’s Board of Directors, the
Company’s management made the following changes and enhancements to its internal controls over financial
reporting to remedate the matenal weakness previously reported

1 Starting in the first quarter of 2011 and continung through the third quarter of 2011, the Company
made personnel changes, including the termination and demotion of certain staff that were responsible
for the operation of certain internal controels that falled, and the addition of new, more semior and
expenenced finance staff to oversee the specific customer activities

2 The Company revised and enhanced the polictes, procedures and internal controls surrounding the
accounting for customer discounts and pnicing to obtain reasonable assurance that the revenue,
accounts recervable and accrued expenses reported in its consohidated financial statements are in
accordance with U S GAAP These specific revisions and enhancements included the following

* In the first quarter of 2011, the Company expanded and centrahzed reviews and evaluations of
customer accounts receivable aging and promotional activities

+  Dunng the fourth quarter of 2011, the Company msttuted addittonal processes for vahdanon of
customer order pncing prior to shupment and procedures for imely resolution of pricing
discrepancies on customer orders

« Dunng the fourth quarter of 2011, the Company mstituted addiuonal procedures for the
wdenufication and umely review of customer pricing and discount discrepancies tdentified after the
customer 1s mnvoiced, and for apphicable adjustments to the financial statements to be made timely

The Company completed the documentation and testing of the corrective processes descnbed above and. as
of December 31, 2011, has concluded that the steps taken have remediated the matenal weakness related to
accounting for revenue, accounts recesvable and accrued expenses

52




Changes in Internal Controt Over Financial Reporting

As described above under the heading entitled "Remediation of Matenal Weakness,” there were changes in
internal control over financial reporting dunng the quarter ended December 31, 2011 that have matenally
affected, or are reasonably likely to matenally affect the Company’s intenal control over financial reporting

ITEM 9B. OTHER INFORMATION
Not Applicable
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PART IIl

ITEM 10. DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF THE REGISTRANT

The information required by this item regarding directors 1s incorporated by reference to, and will be
contamned 1, the “Election of Directors™ section of our definttive proxy circular for the 2012 Annual Meetng of
Shareowners, which will be filed within 120 days after December 31, 2011 (the “2012 Proxy Circular”) The
informauon required by this item regarding audit committee financial expert disclosure 1s incorporated by
reference to, and will be contained 1n, the “Corporate Governance™ section of our 2012 Proxy Circular The
information required by this item regarding executive officers appears as the Supplemental Item 1n Part [ There
have been no matenal changes to the procedures by which shareholders may recommend norminees to our Board
of Directors

The Audit Commuttee of our Board of Directors 15 an “audit commuttee™ for the purposes of
Secron 3(a)(58)(A) of the Secunties Exchange Act of 1934, as amended The Audit Commuttee charter 1s posted
on our website at www cott com The members of the Audit Commuttee are Graham Savage (Chairman), George
Bumett and Gregory Monahan As required by the NYSE rules, the board has determined that each member of
the Audit Commuttee 1s financially hterate and that Mr Savage qualifies as an “audnt commuttee financial expent™
within the meaning of the rules of the US Secunties and Exchange Commussion

All of our directors, officers and employees must comply with our Code of Business Conduct and Ethics In
addition, our Chief Executive Officer, Chuef Financiat Officer and pnincipal accounting officer and certain other
employees have a further obligatton to comply with our Code of Ethucs for Semor Officers Our Code of
Business Conduct and Ethucs and our Code of Ethucs for Sentor Officers are posted on our website,
www cott com and we intend to comply with oblhigations to disclose any amendment to, or warver of, provisions
of these codes by posting such information on our website

Section 16(2) Beneficial ownership reporting compliance

The information required by this item 15 incorporated by reference to, and wall be contained 1n, the “Secuon
16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Comphiance”™ section of our 2012 Proxy Circular.

ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

The information required by this 1tem 1s incorporated by reference to, and will be contained 1n, the
“Compensation of Executive Officers™ section of our 2012 Proxy Crrcular

ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT
AND RELATED SHAREOWNER MATTERS

The information required by tlus item 13 incorporated by reference to, and will be contamned 1n, the
“Principal Shareowners,” “Security Ownership of Directors and Management™ and “Equity Compensation Plan
Information™ sections of our 2012 Proxy Circular

ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS, AND DIRECTOR
INDEPENDENCE

The information required by this item s incorporated by reference to, and will be contained in, the “Certain
Relauonships and Related Transactions™ section of our 2012 Proxy Circular

ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES

The information required by thts item 1s incorporated by reference to, and will be contained 1n, the
“Independent Registered Certified Public Accounting Firm™ section of our 2012 Proxy Circular
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PART IV

ITEM 15. EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES
(a) The documents filed as part of thus report are as follows.
1 Financial Statements

The consolidated financial statements and accompanying report of independent registered certfied
public accounting firm are histed mn the Index to Consohdated Financial Staternents and are filed
as part of this report.

2 Financial Statement Schedules
Schedule H-—Valuation and Quahfying Accounts
3 Exhibits
Exhibits required by Item 601 of Regulation S-K set forth on the “Exhubit Index "

All other schedules called for by the apphcable SEC accounting regulations are not required under the
related instructions or are mapplicable and, therefore, have been omutted
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Signatures

Pursuant to the requiremnents of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Secuniues Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has
duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authonzed

Cott Corporation

/s/ JERRY FOWDEN

Jerry Fowden
Chief Execuative Officer
Date* February 29, 2012

Pursuant to the requirements of the Secunties Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the
following persons on behalf of the registrant and 1n the capacities and on the dates indicated.

/s/ JERRY FOWDEN Date February 29, 2012 /s/ GREGORY MONAHAN Date February 29, 2012
Jerry Fowden Gregory Monahan
Chief Executive Officer, Director Director
(Principal Executive Officer)
/s/ NEAL CRAVENS Date February 29,2012  /s/ MAaRrI0 PiLozzi Date February 29, 2012
Neal Cravens Mario Pilozzl
Chief Financial Officer Director
(Principal Financial Officer)
/s! GREGORY LEITER Date February 29, 2012 /s/ GEORGE A BURNETT Date- February 29, 2012
Gregory Leiter George A, Buroett
Senlor Vice dent, Chief Accounting Director
Officer and Assistant Secretary
(Principal Accounting Officer)
/s/_Davip T GiBBONS Date Febmuary 29,2012 /s/ ANDREW PROZES Date February 29, 2012
David T Gibbons Andrew Prozes
Chairman, Director Director
/s/ MARK BENADIBA Date February 29,2012 /s/ GRAHAM SAVAGE Date February 29, 2012
Mark Benadiba Graham Savage
Director Director
/s/ STEPHEN H HALPERIN Date February 29,2012 /s/ ERIC ROSENFELD Date February 29, 2012
Stephen H. Halperin Eric Rosenfeld
Director Director
/s/  BETTY JANE HESS Date February 29, 2012
Betty Jane Hess
Director
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Report of Independent Registered Certified Public Accounting Firm

To the Board of Directors and Shareholders of
Cott Corporation

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements hsted 1n the accompanying mdex present farly, in all
matenal respects, the financial position of Cott Corporation and its subsidianes at December 31, 2011 and
January 1, 2011, and the results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the three years in the penod
ended December 31, 2011 in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted n the United States of
Amenca In additon, in our opimen, the financial statement schedule histed in the index appearing under
Item 15(a)2 presents fairly, 1in all matenal respects, the informantion set forth therein when read 1n conjunction
with the related consohdated financial statements Also 1n our opimon, the Company mamtained, in all matenal
respects, effective intemal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2011, based on cntena established
in Internal Control—Integrated Framework 1ssued by the Commuttee of Sponsonng Organizations of the
Treadway Commussion (COSQO) The Company's management 1s responsible for these financial statements and
financial statement schedule, for maintaiming effective internal control over financial reporting and for its
assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporung, included 1n Management’s Report on
Internal Control Over Financial Reportung appeantng under Item 9A Qur responsibility 1s to express opinions on
these financial statements, on the financial statement schedule, and on the Company’s internal control over
financial reporting based on our integrated audits We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of
the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (Umted States) Those standards requure that we plan and
perform the audits to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of matenal
musstatement and whether effective internal control over financial reporung was maintained mn all matenal
respects Qur audits of the financial statements included examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the
amounts and disclosures 1n the financial statements, assessing the acconnting principles used and sigmficant
estimates made by management, and evaluating the overall financial statement presentation Our audit of internal
control over financial reporting included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporung,
assessing the nsk that a matenal weakness exists, and testing and evaluating the design and operating
effecuveness of internal control based on the assessed nsk Our audits also included performing such other
procedures as we considered necessary 1n the circumstances 'We believe that our audits provide a reasonable
basis for our opinions

A company’s internal control over financial reporting 1s a process designed to provide reasonable assurance
regarding the rehabihity of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes 1n
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles A company’s internal control over financial reporting
includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, 1n reasonable detail,
accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company, (1) provide reasonable
assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparatton of financial statements 1n accordance
with generally accepted accounting prmciples, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made
only 1n accordance with authonzations of management and directors of the company, and (11) provide reasonable
assurance regarding prevention or umely detection of unauthonzed acquisition, use, or disposition of the
company’s assets that could have a matenal effect on the financial statements

Because of 1ts inherent lim:tattons, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect
rmisstatements  Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness te future penods are subject to the nsk that
controls may become inadequate because of changes 1n condittons, or that the degree of comphance with the
policies or procedures may deteriorate

fs!  PncewaterhouseCoopers LLP

Tampa, Flonda
February 29, 2012
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Cott Corporation

Consolidated Statements of Operations
(in milhons of U S dollars, except share and per share amounts)

For the Years Ended
December 31, January i, Jannary 2,
2011 2011 10

Revenue, net $2,3346 51,8033 $1,596.7
Cost of sales . . . 2,058.0 1,5370  1,346.9
Gross profit 276.6 2663 2498
Selling, general and admumistrative expenses - 172.7 1667 146 8
Loss on disposal of property, plant & equipment 1.2 11 05
Restructunng and asset unparments

Restructuring — 05) 15

Asset iImpairments 0.6 — 36

Intangible asset impairments co 14 — —
Operating income . . 100.7 90 97 4
Conungent consideration earn-cut adjustment . 0.9 (203) _
Other expense, net . 22 40 44
Interest expense, net 57.1 369 297
Income before income taxes 40.5 784 633
Income tax (benefit) expense . 0.7} 186 (228)
Net income $ 412 § 598 § 861
Less Net income attributable to non-controlling interests 36 51 46
Net income attributed to Cott Corporation $ 3716 3 547 % 815
Net income per common share attributed to Cott Corporation

Basic . . $ 040 3 064 $ 110

Duluted . . . 0.40 0.63 108
Weighted average outstanding shares (thousands) attributed to Cott

Corporation
Basic . . 94,241 85,588 74,207
Diluted - 95,001 86,185 75,215

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these conschdated financial statements
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Cott Corporation
Consolidated Balance Sheets

(in mlhions of U § dollars, except share amounts)

ASSETS

Current assets

Cash & cash equivalents

Accounts recervable, net of allowance of $5 7 (37 0 as of January 1, 2011)
Income taxes recoverable

Inventones .

Prepaid expenses and other current assets

Total current assets
Property, plant & equipment
Goodwll

Intangibles and other assets
Deferred income taxes
Other tax receivable

Total assets

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY
Current liabilities

Short-term borrowings

Current maturities of long-term debt
Contingent consideration earn-out
Accounts payable and accrued habihties

Total current liabilities
Long-term debt

Deferred income taxes
Other long-term habilites

Total liabilities
Commitments and Contingencies—Note 17

Equuy

Capntal stock, no par—95,101,230 (January 1, 2011—94,750,120) shares 1ssued
Treasury stock . .
Additional pard-in-capatal .

Retamed eamings .

Accumulated other comprehensive loss

Total Cott Corporation equity
Non-controlling interests

Total equity
Total liabilities and equity

Approved by the Board of Directors

Is!  Graham Savage
Darector

December 31, January 1,
2011 2011
$ 1009 § 482
210.8 2136
9.9 03
210.0 2155
19.3 327
550.9 5103
482.2 5038
129.6 1302
1.1 3711
41 25
1.0 113
$1,5089 $1,5292
$ — $ 79
34 60
— 322
281.1 2766
284.5 3227
602.1 605 5
M. 43.6
20.0 222
940.7 994.0
395.9 3956
2.1) 32)
42.6 408
144.1 106 5
(24.7) (17 5)
555.8 5222
124 130
568.2 5352
$1,508.9 $15292

The accompanying notes are an integral pan of these consohdated financial statements
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Cott Corporation

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
(i millions of U S dollars)

For the Years Ended
December 3], Janvaryl, Januoary2,
2011 2011 2010
Operating Activities
Net income $ 412 $ 598 $ 861
Deprectanion & amortization 95.3 740 662
Amortizanion of financing fees 39 27 15
Share-based compensation expense 29 47 13
{Decrease) increase in deferred tncome taxes {3.7) 170 62
Write-off of financing fees —_ 14 —_
Laoss on dhsposal of property, plant & equipment 1.2 11 05
Loss on buyback of Notes —_ ol 15
Asset impairments 0.6 —_— —_
Intangible asset impanrments 14 —_ 35
Conungent consideration eam-out adjusiment -— (203) ——
Contract termtnation charge -—_ 36 —_—
Contract termnation payments 3.1 (54) (38
Other non-cash 1tems 4.9 55 27
Change in operating assets and habilities, net of acquisition
Accounts recesvable 5.0) 39) 208
Inventones 65 284 160
Prepaid expenses and other curren assets 58 26 (1 6)
Other assets (1 0]] (16) (12
Accounts payable and accrued liabilites 11.5 398 65
Income taxes recoverable 08 257 (38 1)
Net cash provided by operating activities 163.5 178 4 1551
Investing Activities
Acquisition (34.3) 5077 —
Adduions to property plant & equipment (48.8) 440) (323
Additions to intangibles and other assets (&%) (42) 6)
Proceeds from sale of property, plant & equipment 04 12 17
Other investing activities (L.8) _ _
Net cash used i invesung activities (90.2) (554 7) (322)
Financing Activities
Payments of long-term debt (6.8) (187 (265 5)
Issuance of long-term debu -_— 3750 211%
Borrowings under ABL 2241 3665 768 1
Payments under ABL (231.9) 3719 0) (856 6)
Distrbutions 1o non-controlling interests 6.0) (74) 66)
Issuance of common shares, net of offering fees 03 7 475
Financing fees _— (14 2) 62)
Other financing activities — — on
Net cash (used ) provided by financing acuvities (20.3) 39313 (107 5)
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash (0.3) 03 08
Net increase In cash & cash equivalents 527 173 162
Cash & cash eqaivalents, beginning of period 43.2 309 147
Cash & cash equivalents, end of period $1009 §$ 482 $ 309
Supplemental Non-cash Investing and Financing Activities
Capital lease additions $ 02 $ 24 $ 02
Deferred consideration —_ 132 -—_
Contingent consideratien earm-out - 322 —_
Working capual adjustment _ “n -
Supplemental Disclosnres of Cash Flow Information.
Cash paid for imterest $ 533 $ 228 $ 238
1.3 (243) 110

Cash paid (recerved) for income taxes, net

The accompanying notes are an mtegral part of these consolidated financial statements
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Balance at December 27, 2008
Common shares 1ssued
Treasury shares 1ssued—PSU Plan
Treasury shares 1ssued—EISPP
Share-based compensation
Options exercised
Dhstnbutions to non-controlling interests
Comprehensive imncome
Currency translation adjustment
Net income

Balance at January 2, 2010

Common shares 1ssued
Common shares 1ssued—Directors’ Share
Award
Tax tmpact of common shares
1ssuance
Treasury shares tssued—PSU Plan
Treasury shares 1ssued—EISPP
Share-based compensation
Distnibutions to non-controlling 1nterests
Comprehensive income
Cuirency transtation adjustment
Pension benefit plan, net of tax
Unrealized loss on denvative
instruments, net of tax
Net income

Balance at January 1, 2011

Common shares 1ssued—Dhrectors’ Share
Award
Treasury shares 1ssued—PSU Plan
Treasury shares 1ssued—EISPP
Share-based compensation
Options exercised
Contributions to noa-controlling
interests
Distmbutions to non-controlling
tnierests
Comprehensive income
Currency translation adjustment
Pension benefit plan, net of tax
Unrealized gam on denvative
instruments, net of tax
Net income

Balance at December 3%, 2011

Cott Corporation

Consolidated Statements of Equity
(in muthons of U S dollars, except share amounts)

Cott Corporation Equity

Number of Number of
Common  Treasury

Accumaolnted

Shares (In Slnrts(ln Comman Treasury  Additions]l  Errnings Comprebensive Non-Controlling Total
thousands) thousands) Shares Pald-lo-Capital (Defkit) Income (Loss) {nterests Equity
71,871 2,307 $275.0 $(64) $38.1 $(29.7) $(47.8) $17.3 $246.5
9435 — 475 — —_ — — — 475
— (560) —_ 14 {14) —_ —— — —
— (243) —_ 06 06) —_ _ _ —_
—_ — —_ —_ 13 —_ —_ —_— 13
25 — -— - — _ — —_ —_
— —_ —_ — — — - (6 6) (66)
—_ — - - — _ 265 — 265
— _ —_ —_ — BlS — 46 861
81,331 1,504 $322.5 $(4.4) $374 $ 51.8 $(21.3) $15.3 $401.3
13,340 — mnr — —_ — — — TH 1
2 J— - = 07 — — - 07
— — 20 — — - - —_ 20
—_ (437 —_ 12 (13 — — -— on
_ (16) —_ —_ —_ —_ —_ —_ —_
— — — — 40 — — —_ 40
_ — —_ — —_ —_ — (7 4) (74)
— — —_— — — — 45 —_ 45
— — — —_ —_ (04) —_ (0 4)
_— _— —_ —_ —_ —_ 03) —_ (03)
—_ — — _ —_ 547 _ 51 598
94,750 1,051 $395.6 $(3.2) $40.8 $106.5 $11.5) $13.0 $535.2
76 — —_ —_ 07 — —_ — 07
— (181) — 5 ©Ss) — — — —
— (9% — 06 ©6) _ - — —
— — - 22 — - — 22
215 — 03 — - - — - 03
_ —_ —_ —_ _ — —_ 18 18
_ — —_ —_ —_ —_ —_ (60} ©0)
—_ —_ —_ — — —_ 47 —_ 47
- - - - — - an - an
- - - = - — 06 — 06
— — — _ —_ 376 —_ 36 412
95,101 674 $3959 $(21) $42.6 SE4.1  $(24.7) $12.4 $568.2

The accompanymg notes are an wntegral part of these consolidated financial statements
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Cott Corporation

Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income
(in mullions of U S. dollars)

For the Yenrs Ended
December 31, January 1, Jaoparyl,
2011 2011 2010
Net income $41.2 $598 $ 861
Other comprehensive (loss) income
Currency translation adjustment 4.7 45 265
Penston benefit plan, net of tax ! 3.1 04) —_
Unrealized gain (loss) on denvative instruments, net of tax 2 0.6 03 —
Total other comprehensive (loss) income . . . (7.2) 38 265
Comprehensive income . $34.0 3636 1126
Less Net itncome attributzble to non-controlling interests 36 51 46
Comprehensive income attributed to Cott Corporation $30.4 3585 3108 0

1,2011.

Net of a $0 6 m:lhon and $0 6 mithon tax benefit effect for the years ended December 31, 2011 and January

Net of a $0 3 milhon tax expense and $0 1 muillion tax benefit effect for the years ended December 31, 2011

and January 1, 2011

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consohdated financial statements
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

Description of Business

Con Corporauon, together with 1ts consolidated subsidianes (“Coit,” “the Company,” “our Company,”
*Cott Corporation,” “we,” “us,” or “our), 1s one of the world's largest beverage compames focusing on pnvate-
label products and contract manufactunng Our product lines include carbonated soft drinks (“CSDs™), clear, sull
and sparkling flavored waters, energy-related dnnks, juice, juice-based products, bottled water and
ready-to-drink teas

Note 1-—Summary of Significant Accounting Pelicies
Basis of presentation

These consohdated financial statements have been prepared tn accordance with U S generally accepted
accounting principles (“GAAP”) using the U S dollar as the reporting currency, as the majonty of our business
and the majonty of our shareowners are mn the Umited States

For the years ended December 31, 2011 and January 1, 2011, we had 52 weeks of acuvity, compared to 53
weeks of activity for the year ended January 2, 2010

We have five reporung segments—North Amenca (which includes our U § operaung segment and Canada
operating segment), United Kingdom (“U K ") (which mncludes our United Kingdom reporting unit and our
Continental European reporting unit), Mexico, Royal Crown International (“RCI”) and All Other (which includes
our international corporate expenses)

Basis of consolidation

The financial statements consoltdate our accounts, our wholly-owned and majonty-owned subsidianes and
Jomnt ventures which we control All intercompany transactions and accounts have been eliminated 1n
consohdation

Estimates

The preparation of these consohdated financial statements 1n conformity with GAAP requires management
to make estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts of assets and habihues and disclosure of contingent
assets and habhittes at the date of the financial statements and the amount of revenue and expenses during the
reporuing period  Actual results could differ from those esumates The consolidated financial statements wclude
esumates and assumnptions which, in the opimion of management, were significant to the underlying amounts
representing the future valuation of intangible assets, long-hived assets and goodwill, accounung for share-based
compensation, realization of deferred income tax assets and the resolution of tax contingencies Determumng
whether impaimment has occurred requures vanous estimates and assumptioas mncluding esumates of cash flows
that are directly related to the potentially impaired asset, the useful life over which cash flows will occur and
thetr amounts The measurement of an impairment loss requires an estimate of fair value, which includes
estumates of cash flows and the appropnate discount rate

Accounting Policies
Revenue recognition

We recogmze revenue, net of sales returns, when ownership passes to customers for products manufactured
1n our own plants and/or by thurd parties on our behalf, and when prices to our customers are fixed and collection
15 reasonably assured This may be upon shupment of goods or upon delivery to the customer, depending on

contractual terms Shipping and handling costs paid by the customer to us are included 1n revenue Although we
accept returns of products from our customers occasionally, such retums, histonically, have not been matenat
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Sales incentives

We participate 1in vanous incentive programs with our customers, including volume-based incentives,
promotional allowances and contractual rebates Volume incentives are based on our customers achieving
volume targets for a period of tume They are deducted from revenue and accrued as the incentives are earned and
are based on management's estimate of the total the customer 1s expected to earn and clam. Contractual rebates
are handled similarly Promotional allowances are accrued at ume of shipment and deducted from revenue based
on either the volume shipped or the volume sold at the retailer locaton, depending on the terms of the allowance
We regularly review customer sales forecasts to ensure volume targets will be met and adjust incentive accruals
accordingly

Cost of sales

We record shupping and handling and fimished goods inventory costs 1n cost of sales Fimshed goods
inventory costs include the cost of direct labor and matenals and the applicable share of overhead expense
chargeable to production

Selling, general and administrative expenses
We record all other expenses not charged to production as selling, general and admuustrative expenses

Share-based compensation

Share-based compensation expense for all share-based compensation awards granted after January 1, 2006,
15 based on the grant-date fair value We recognized these compensation costs net of a forfeiture rate on a
straight-line basts over the requisite service penod of the award, which 1s generally the vesung term of three
years No estimated forfeitures were included in the calculation of share-based compensation for the 2011, 2010
and 2009 share-based awards

Additional pard-in capital 15 adjusted by the tax impact related to the difference between the amount
deducted for tax purposes and the compensation cost for accountung purposes. Where the tax deduction exceeds
book compensation cost, an tncrease 1n additional paid-in capital 1s recorded Where the tax deduction is less
than book compensation cost, a reduction 1n additional paid-in capital 1s recorded to the extent there 1s an
accumulated balance or charged to income tax expense 1f a shortfall remains after the accumulated additional
pard-in capital 1s brought to zero

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash eqmvalents include all haghly hquid investments with original maturines not exceeding three
months at the tume of purchase The fair values of our cash and cash equivalents approximate the amounts shown
on our Conschidated Balance Sheets due to their short-term nature

Allowance for doubtful accounts

A portion of our accounts recetvable 1s not expected to be collected due to non-payment, bankruptcies and
sales returns and deductions Qur accounting policy for the provision for doubtful accounts requires us to reserve
an amount based on the evaluaton of the aging of accounts receivable, sales return trend analysis, detailed
analysis of mgh-nsk customers’ accounts, and the overall market and economtc conditions of our customers

Inventories

Inventones are stated at the lower of cost, determined on the first-1n, first-out method, or net rezhizable
value Returnable bottles are valued at the lower of cost, deposit value or net realizable value Fimshed goods and
work-in-process mclude the cost of raw matenals, direct labor and manufacturing overhead costs
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Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation Depreciation 1s determuned
using the strayght-line method over the esttimated useful lives of the assets as follows

Buldings . . 10 to 40 years
Machinery and equipment . 7 to 15 years
Furniture and fixtures . . . . 3w 10 years
Plates, films and molds . . . 1 to 10 years
Vendng . . . . 5to 10 years
Transportation equipment .. . . 3 to 15 years

Leasehold improvements are amortized using the straight-line method over the remaining hife of the lease
Maintenance and repairs are charged to operaung expense when incurred.

Goodwill and indefinite life intangible assets:

The following table summarizes our goodwill on a reporting segment basis as of December 31, 2011 and
January 1, 2011

(in millions of U.S. dollars) December 31, 2011 January 1, 2011
North America
Balance at beginning of year . $1257 %261
Goodwill acquired during the year . — 98 2
Foreign exchange . . . (0 6) 14
Balance at end of year . . . $1251 $1257
RCI
Balance at beginning of year $ 45 $ 45
Goodwill acquired during the year - —_ _
Foreign exchange . —_ —
Balance at end of year . . $ 45 $ 45
Total
Balance at beginming of year . $1302 $ 306
Goodwill acquired dunng the year . . . — 982
Foreign exchange . . 06 14
Balance at end of year . . $1296 $1302

Goodwill represents the excess purchase pnice of acquired businesses over the fair value of the net assets
acquired Goodwill 1s not amortized, but instead 15 tested at least annually for impairment in the fourth quarter or
more frequently if we determne a tnggenng event has occurred duning the year. Any impairment loss 1s
recognuzed 1n our results of operations We evaltuate goodwill for impairment on a reporting unit basis Reporting
vnits are operatens for whach discrete financial information 1s available, and are at or one level below cur
operating segments For the purpose of testing goodwill for impairment, our reporting units are U § , Canada and
RCI The evaluation of goodwlil for each reporung unit 1s based upon the following approach We compare the
fair value of a reporting unit to its carrying amount Where the carrying amount i1s greater than the fair value, the
implied fair value of the reporting unit goodwill 1s determined by allocatung the fair value of the reporting unit to
all the assets and habilities of the reporting umit with any of the remainder beang allocated to goodwill The
implied farr value of the reporting umt goodwill 1s then compared to the carrying amount of that goodwall to
determune the imparment loss Any impairment 1n value 1s recogmzed in the Consohidated Statements of
Operations The goodwill on our balance sheet at December 31, 2011 represents amounts for the North America
reporing segment (which includes our U S and Canada reporting umts) and RCI reporting unit
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We measure the fair value of reporting units using a mux of the income approach (whch 1s based on the
discounted cash flow of the reporting umt) and the public company approach We believe using a combinauon of
the two approaches provides a more accurate valuation because it incorporates the actual cash generauon of the
Company 1n addition to how a third party market parttcipant would value the reporting unit. Because the business
15 assumed to continue 1n perpetuity, the discounted future cash flow includes a terminal value We used a
weighted average terminal growth rate of 1% for our U S reporting urut 1in 2011 and 2% for our Canada and RCI
reporting units 1n 2011 and 2010. The long-term growth assumptions incorporated into the discounted cash flow
calculation reflect our long-term view of the market (ancluding a decline in CSD demand), projected changes in
the sale of our products, pricing of such products and operating profit margins The estimated revenue changes in
this analysis for the U S reporting umit ranged between 2 2% and 3 4% for 2011 The estumated revenue changes
1n this analysis for the Canada reporting umit ranged between -7 2% and 1 9% for 2011 and between -7 9% and
7 2% for 2010 The estmated revenue changes in this analysis for the RCI reporting unit ranged between 4 5%
and 10 6% for 2011 and between -9 0% and 10 1% for 2010

The discount rate used for the fair value estimates 1n this analysis ranged from 11% to 12% for 2011 and
10% to 12% for 2010 These rates were based on the weighted average cost of capital a market participant would
use if evaluating the reporting unit as an investment The nisk-free rate for 2011 was 2 6% and 2 7% and was
based on a 20-year US Treasury Bill as of the valuation date

Each year dunng the fourth quarter, we re-evaluate the assumpuons used to reflect changes 1n the business
environment, sich as revenue growth rates, operating profit margins and discount rate Based on the evaluanon
performed this year utithzang the assumptions above, we determuned that the fair value of each of our reporting
units exceeded their carrying amount and as a result further impairment testing was not required We analyzed
the sensitivity these assumptions have on our overall impairment assessment and note that as of the December
31, 2011 annual assessment, the fair value for each of these reporting units was substantially 1n excess of its
carrying value

Intangible and other assets

As of December 31, 2011, other intangible assets were $296 1 mullion, which consisted pnncipally of $248 4
mulhon of customer relationships that arose from acquisitions, $15 7 mullien of financing costs, $10 7 millhion of
information technology assets, and trademarks of $5 9 million. Customer relattonships are amortized on a strmght-
line basis for the period over which we expect to receive economic benefits We review the estimated useful life of
these intangible assets annually, taking into consideration the specific net cash flows related to the intangible asset,
unless a review 15 required more frequently due to a tnggenng event such as the loss of a customer The permanent
loss or significant decline 1n sales to any customer included in the intangible asset would result in impairment in the
value of the intangible asset or accelerated amortization and could lead to an impatrment of fixed assets that were
used to service that customer In 2010, we recorded $216 9 mullion of customer relationships acquured 1n connection
with the Chiffstar Acquisinon In 2011, we recorded an asset impairment charge of $1 4 mullion related primanly to
customer relationshups.

Our only intangible asset with an indefinite hife relates to the 2001 acquisition of intellectual property from
Royal Crown Company, Inc including the nght to manufacture our concentrates, with al related inventions,
processes, technologies, techmcal and manufactunng information, know-how and the use of the Royal Crown
brand outside of North America and Mexico (the “Rights™) which has a ret book value of $45 0 mullion Prior to
2001, we paid a volume based royalty to the Royal Crown Company for purchase of concentrates There are no
legal, regulatory, contractual, compeutive, economic, or other factors that mut the vseful Lfe of thus intangible.

The life of the Rughts 1s considered to be indefinite and therefore not amorunzed, but instead 1s tested at least
annually for impairment or more frequently if we determine a tnggenng event has occurred duning the year For
an intangible asset with an indefinite hfe, we compare the carrying amount of the Rughts to their fair value and
where the carrying amount 1s greater than the far value, we recognize i income an impairment loss To
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determune fair value, we use a relief from royalty method which calcutates a fair value royalty rate that 1s applied
to a forecast of future volume shipments of concentrate that 1s used to produce CSDs The forecast of future
volumes 15 based on the esimated inter-plant shipments and RCI stupments The relief from royalty method 1s
used since the Rights were purchased 1n part to avord making future royalty payments for concentrate to the
Royal Crown Company The resulting cash flows are discounted using a discount rate of 16% and estunated
volume changes between 4.6% and 10 6% No umpairment was calculated as of January 1, 2011 Absent any
other changes, if our inter-plant concentrate volume declines by ! 0% from our estimated volume, the value of
our Rights would decline by approximately $1 | million. If our RCI volume declines by |1 0% from our estimated
volume, the value of the Rights would decline by approximately $1 9 mulhon If our discounted borrowing rate
increases by 100 basis points, the value of the Rights would dechine by approximately $3 6 malhion

Impairment of long lived assets

When adverse events occur, we compare the carrying amount of long-hved assets to the esumated
undiscounted future cash flows at the lowest level of independent cash flows for the group of long-hved assets
and recogmze any impawment loss in the Consolidated Statements of Operations, taking into consideration the
uming of testing and the asset’s remaining useful hfe The expected Life and value of these long-lived assets 15
based on an evaluation of the competiive environment, history and future prospects as appropnate In 2011, we
recorded an impairment of long-lived assets of $0 6 mullion related to a producuon plant 1n Mexico that ceased
operations We did not record any impairments of long-lived assets in 2010 or 2009

Foreign currency translation

The assets and habihities of non-U S active operauons, all of whuch are self-sustaining, are translated to
U S dollars at the exchange rates 1n effect at the balance sheet dates Revenues and expenses are translated using
average monthly exchange rates prevaihng dunng the period The resulting gains or losses are recorded 1n
accumulated comprehensive income under shareowners’ equity

Taxation

We account for income taxes under the asset and habihty method Deferred tax assets and habihines are
recogmzed based on the differences between the accounung values of assets and habilities and their related tax
bases using cumrently enacted income tax rates A valuation allowance 1s established to reduce deferred mcome
tax assets 1f, on the basis of available evidence, 1t 15 not more likely than not that all or a portion of any deferred
tax assets will be realized We classify interest and income tax penalties as income tax expense (benefit)

We account for uncertain tax positions using a two-step process The first step 1s to evaluate the tax posiion
for recogmtron by determiming 1f the weight of available evidence indicates that 1t 1s more Lkely than not that the
posiion will be sustained on audit, including resolution of related appeals or litgation processes, based on the
techmical ments The second step requires us to estumate and measure the tax benefit as the largest amount that 1s
more than 50% likely to be realized upon ulumate settlement It 1s inherently difficult and subjective to eshmate
such amounts, as we have to determune the probability of vanous possible outcomes We re-evaluate these
uncertaun tax positions on a quartetly basis This evaluation 1s based on factors including, but not limited to,
changes 1n facts or circumstances, changes in tax law, effecuvely settled 1ssues under audit, and new audnt
activity Such a change 1n recognitton or measurement would result 1n the recognition of a tax benefit or an
additional charge to the tax provision

We recogmze interest and penalties related to unrecogmzed tax benefits within the income tax expense line
in the accompanying Consohdated Statements of Operations, and we include accrued interest and penalties
withun the income tax payable or receivable account in the Consolhidated Balance Sheets
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Pension costs

We record annual amounts relating to defined benefit pension plans based on calculatons, which include
various actuarial assumptions such as discount rates and assumed rates of return depending on the penston plan
Material changes in pension costs may occur 1n the future due to changes in these assumptions Future annuat
amounts could be impacted by changes in the discount rate, changes 1n the expected long-term rate of return,
changes 1 the level of contnbutions to the plans and other factors The funded status 1s the difference between
the farr value of plan assets and the benefit obligation Future actuartal gamns or losses that are not recogmzed as
net penodic benefits cost 1n the same perniods will be recognized as a component of other comprehensive income

Recently issued accounting pronouncements

ASU 2010-13—Effect of Denonunating the Exercise Price of a Share-Based Payment Award n the Currency of
the Market in Which the Underlying Equity Security Trades

In Apnl 2010, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) 1ssued Accounting Standards Update
(“*ASU™) 2010-13, “Effect of Denominating the Exercise Price of a Share-Based Payment Award 1n the Currency
of the Market 1n Which the Underlying Equity Secunty Trades,” to address the classification of an employee
share-based payment award with an exercise price denominated in the currency of a market 1n whach the
underlying equity secunty trades Thus update provides amendments to Topic 718 to clanfy that an employee
share-based payment award with an exercise prnice denominated 1n the currency of a market 1n which a substantal
porticn of the entity’s equity securnities trades should not be considered to contain a condition that 1s not a market,
performance, or service condition Therefore, an entity would not classify such an award as a Lability 1f 1t
otherwise quahfies as equity We adopted the provisions of this standard dunng the first quarter of 2011 Thas
standard does not have an impact on our consolhdated financial statements

ASU 2011-05—Comprehensive Income Presentation of Comprehenswe Income

In june 2011, the FASB amended its guidance on the presentation of comprehensive income 1n financial
statements to improve the comparability, consistency and transparency of financial reporung and to increase the
promunence of items that are recorded 1n other comprehensive income The new accounting gmdance requires
entities to report components of comprehensive income 1n erther (1) a continuous statement of comprehensive
income or (11) two separate but consecutive statements The provisions of this new guidance are effective for
fiscal years, and 1intennm penods within those years, beginning after December 15, 2011 This 1s a change 1n
presentation only and will not have an impact on our consohdated financial statements

ASU 201 1-08-—Intangibles-Goodwill and Other Testing Goodw:ll for Imparrment

In September 2011, the FASB amended 1ts gmdance 1n regards to testing goodwill for impairment to address
concem raised about the cost and complexity of performung the first step of the two-step goodwill imparrment
test required under Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC™) Topic 350—"Intangibles-Goodwill and Other ™
The objective of this update 1s to stmplhify how entittes, both public and nonpublic, test goodwill for impaurment
The amendments in the update permit an entity to first assess qualitative factors to determune whether 1t 1s more
likely than not that the fair value of a reporting unit 1s less than its carrying amount as a basis for determining
whether 1t 1s necessary to perform the two-step goodwill impaument test descnbed 1in Topic 350 The more-
likely-than-not threshold 1s defined as having a hkelihood of more than 50 percent The amendments are
effective for annual and mtenim goodwill impairment tests performed for fiscal years beginning after December
15,2011 We are currently evaluating the impact on our consohidated financial statements of adopting this
guidance
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Note 2—Acquisition

On August 17, 2010, we completed the acquisition of substantially all of the assets and Liabihines of Cliffstar
Corporation (“Chffstar”) and uts affihated compames for approximately $503 0 million 1n cash, $14 0 mallion 1n
deferred consideration to be pad over three years and contingent consideration of up to $55 0 mullion (the
“Cliffstar Acquisition™) The first $15 0 million of the contingent constderaton was based upon the achievement
of mulestones in certain expansion projects 1n 2010, which were achteved 1n 2010 The remainder of the
contingent consideration was based on the achievement of certain performance measures dunng the fiscal year
ending January 1, 2011

We were notified on May 9, 2011 by the seller of Cliffstar of certain objections to the performance
measures used to calculate the contingent consideration, and the seller asserted a claum for amounts 1n excess of
the amounts accreed as conuingent consideration at July 2, 2011 Dunng the third and fourth quarters of 2011,
Cott made intenim payments to the seller equal to $21 9 million and 38 6 mullion, respectively The payment of
$21 0 mulhon was net of a $4 7 rmilion refund due to Cott as a result of the final determunation of working
capital, and the payment of $8 6 mullion inciuded $0 9 milbon 1n settlement of centain of the seller's objectuons to
the calculation of the contingent consideration The seller’s remaiming objections to the calculation of the
contingent consideration are subject to an ongoing binding arbitration process under the terms of the asset
purchase agreement. The seller 15 seeking up to $12 | milhon 1n addmonal conungent consideratnon The final
resoluticn of these matters may result tn amounts payable to the seller that vary matenally from our current
estumated fair value which consists of payments to the seller as noted above and amounung to $34 3 mulhon We
are currently unable to predict the ulumate outcome of this action Any changes i the fair value of contingent
consideration will be recorded 1n our Consolidated Statements of Operations Also, duning the third quarter of
2011, Cott made a payment equal to $4 7 million to sansfy the first of three annual deferred consideration
payments

The Chiffstar Acqmsitton was financed through the 1ssuance of $375 0 million aggregate principal amount of
8 125% semor notes due 2018 (the “2018 Notes™), the underwritten public offering of 13 4 mullion of our
common shares (the “Equity Offenng”) and borrowings under our credit facility, which we refinanced 1n
connection with the Cliffstar Acquisition, to increase the amount available for borrowings to $275 0 million

Our primary reasons for the Chffstar Acquisiion were to expand Cott’s product portfolio and manufactunng
capabilities, enhance our customer offering and growth prospects, and improve our strategic platform for the
future

The Cliffstar Acquisition ts being accounted for under the acquisition method, 1n accordance with ASC 805,
(“Business Combinations™), with the assets and habiliues acquired recorded at therr fair values at the date of the
Cliffstar Acqusition Identified intangible assets, goodwill and property, plant and equipment are recorded at
their estimated fair values per valuations The results of operations of the acquired business have been included
1n our operating results beginning as of the date of the Chffstar Acqmsition We allocated the purchase price of
the Chiffstar Acqusitton to tangible assets, habilines and idenufiable intangible assets acquired based on therr
estunated fair values The excess of the purchase price over the aggregate fair values was recorded as goodwill
The fair value assigned to dentifiable intangible assets acquired was based on estimates and assumptions made
by management Intangible assets are amortized using the straight-line amortization method

In addition to the purchase price, we incurred $7 2 million of acquisinon related costs, which were expensed
as incurred and recorded wn the selling, general, and admwmistrative expenses caption of our Consolidated
Staternents of Operations for the year ended January 1, 2011, 1n accordance with ASC 805, “Business
Combinations™
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The following table summarizes the allocaton of the purchase pnice to the fair value of the assets acquired
and habihties assumed 1n connection with the Chiffstar Acquisition

As reported at
(in millions of U.S. dollars) M
Accounts recervable . . $ 522
Inventones . . . 871
Prepaid expenses and other assets . . . . 57
Property, plant & equmpment .. . 167 3
Goodwill . . . 982
Intangsbles and other assets . . 2243
Accounts payable and accrued habilities . . 633
Other long-term habilittes . 28)
Total $568 7

Intangible Assets

In our determination of the fair value of the intangible assets, we considered, among other factors, the best
use of acquired assets, analysis of histoncal financial performance and estimates of future performance of
Clffstar’s products The estumated fair values of identified intangible assets were calculated considering market
participant expectations and using an income approach and esumates and assumptions provided by Chffstar’s
and our management The following table sets forth the components of identified intangible assets associated
with the Chffstar Acquisiton and their estimated weighted average useful Lives

As Reported at January 1, 2011
Estimated Fair Estimated

({in millions of U.S. dollars) Market Value Useful Life
Customer relationships . $216 9 15 years
Non-competiion agreements . 66 3 years
Total $223 5

Customer relationships represent future projected revenue that will be denved from sales to existing
customers of the acquired company

In conjunction with the closing of the Chffstar Acquisition, certain key employees of Chffstar executed
non-competition agreements, which prevent those employees from competing with us 1n specified restricted
terntories for a peniod of three years from the date of the Chiffstar Acquisihon The value of the Chiffstar business
could be matenally dimimshed without these non-competihon agreements

Goodwill

The principal factor that resulted in recogmition of goodwill was that the purchase pnce for the Cliffstar
Acquisiuon was based in part on cash flow projections assumng the reduction of admunistration costs and the
integration of acquired customers and products into our operations, which 1s of greater value than on a standalone
basis Goodwill 1s expected to be deductible for tax purposes
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Supplemental Pro Forma Data (unaudited)

The following unaudited pro forma financial information for the years ended January 1, 2011 and January 2,
2010 represent the combined results of our operations as if the Chffstar Acquisition had occurred on
December 28, 2008 The unaudited pro forma results reflect certain adjustments related to the Chiffstar
Acquisition such as increased amortizatton expense on acquired intangible assets resulung from the prelminary
far valuation of assets acquired The unaedited pro forma financial information does not necessanly reflect the
results of operations that would have occurred had we operated as a single entity duning such period

For the Years Ended
(in millions of U.S. dollars, except share amounts) January 1,2011  January 2, 2010
Revenue . . $2,206.5 $22680
Net income ! 67.0 871
Net income per common share, diluted . $ 078 $ 093

! For the year ended January 2, 2010, Cott recorded restructuring charges of $1 5 mlhion due to the 2009
Restructuring Plan (as defined 1n Note 3) and $3 6 millton of asset impairments primanly related to the
wnite-off of a customer list For the year ended January 1, 2011, Cott recorded a restructunng gain of $0 5
mullton related to the North Amencan Plan (as defined 1n Note 3)

Revenues for Chffstar from the date of the Chiffstar Acquisition through January 1, 2011 were $232 2
milhion and operating income was $5 2 mullion

Note 3—Restructuring and Asset Impairments

The Company implements restmictunng programs from time to time that are designed to improve operating
effectiveness and lower costs When the Company implements these programs, 1t incurs vanious charges,
including severance, contract termination and asset impairments, and other employment related costs In 2007,
the Company 1mplemented one such program, which involved the realignment of the management of our ‘
Canadian and U § businesses to a North Amencan basis, ranonalization of our product offenngs, ehimination of
underperforming assets, an increased focus on high potential accounts, and the closure of several plants and
warehouses 1n North America that resulted 1n lease contract termination losses and a partial reduction in our
workforce (the “North Amencan Plan”) The Company also implemented a plan in 2009 (the 2009
Restructuning Plan") that resulted 1n a further reduction of our workforce

Dunng 2011, the Company had no restructunng activity Dunng 2010, the Company made $5 4 million of
cash payments related to the North Amencan Plan These cash payments included $3.0 nullion related to the
settlement of one of 1ts lease obligations, which resulted 1n a gain of $0 4 milhon In addition, the Company
recorded a $0 1 mulhon gain related to other non-cash charges for the North Amencan Plan dunng 2010 In 2009,
we recorded restructuning and asset imparrments of $5.1 million, which included $3 6 million for asset
umpairments primarily related to customer relahionships and severance costs of $1 5 multion related to the
orgamzational restructuning and headcount reductrons associated with the 2009 Restructuring Plan

The following table summanzes restructuring, asset impairment and intangible asset impairment charges
(gans) for the years ended December 31, 2011, January 1, 2011 and January 2, 2010:

For the Years Ended
December 31, January 1, January 2,
(in millions of U.S. dollars) 2011 2011 2010
Restructuring $— 505 $15 ‘
Asset impairments 0.6 — ié |
Intangible asset tmpairments 14 —_ —_
$2.0 $(0 5) $51
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As of December 31, 2011, no amounts are owed under our restructuring plans

The following table 1s a summary of our restructunng habihties as of January 1, 2011, along with charges
(gains) to costs and expenses and cash payments

North American Plan.

Balance at Charge Balance at

January 2, to Costs and Payments made Janunary 1,
(in millions of US dollars) 2010 Expenses during the year 2011
Lease contract termunation loss $5.8 $(0.4) $(5.4) —_
$5.8 $(0.4) $(5.4) $—

The following table 15 a summary of our restructuning habihties as of January 2, 2010, along with charges to
costs and expenses and cash payments

Balance at Charge Balance at
December 27, toCostsand Payments made January 2,
(in millions of U.S, dollars) 2008 Expenses during the year 2010
Lease contract termnatton loss $9.6 $— $(3.8) $5.8
$9.6 $— $(3.8) $5.8
2009 Restructuring Plan;
Balance at Charge (Gam) Balance at

December 27, toCostsand  Payments made January 2,

(in millions of U.S dollars) 2008 Expenses during the year 2010
Severance and termunation benefits $— ;$;l__5 $(1.5) $m
$— $1.5 $(1.5) —

In 2009, $3 0 milhion (December 27, 2008—3$5 & milhion) of the lease contract termunation loss hability was
recorded as other long-term Liabihties and $2 8 mullion of lease contract termination loss habtlity (December 27,
2008—33 8 million) was classified as accounts payable and accrued habilities.

Year ended December 31, 2011

The following table surnmanzes our asset impaurment charges and intangible asset impairment charges on a
reporting segment basis for the year ended December 31, 2011. We did not record any restructuring charges in
2011

(in millions of U.S. dollars) North America  Mexico  Total
Asset impairments $— $06 $0.6
Intangible asset impairments 1.4 — 14

$14 $0.6 w

Asser imparrments—In 2011, we recorded an asset impairment charge of $1 4 milhon related pnmanly to
customer relattonships Also in 2011, we recorded a $0 6 million impairment of long-lived assets related to a
production plant in Mexico that ceased operations
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Year ended January 1, 2011

The following table summarizes our restructunng gain on a reporting segment basis for the year ended
January 1, 2011

(in millions of U.S. dollars) North America Total
Restructunng (gain) . . $(0.5) $(0.5)
$(0.5) $(0.5)

Restructuring—In 2010, we recorded pre-tax restructunng gams totaling $0 5 mullion pnimanly 1n
connectron with a gain on a lease contract termination

Year ended January 2, 2010

The following table summarnzes restructunng and asset impairment charges on a reporting segment basis for
the year ended January 2, 2010

{in millions of U.S. dollars) North America Total
Restructunng . $LS $1.5
Asset impairments . 36 36

$5.1 $s5.1

Restructuring—In 2009, we recorded pre-tax restructunng charges totaling $1 5 million 1n connection with
severance costs relaung to headcount reductions associated with the 2009 Restructunng Plan

Asset impairments—In 2009, we recorded an asset unparment charge of $3 6 million related primantly to
customer relationships In accordance with ASC 360, it was determuned that our customer relattonship intangible
asset no longer had future cash flows due to the loss of a specific customer As a result, the customer relationshup
was determined to have a ml carrying value

Note 4—0Other Expense, Net

The following table summanzes other expenses for the years ended December 31, 2011, January 1, 2011
and Janvary 2, 2010

For the Years Ended
December 31,  Jannary 1,  Janwvary 2,
w011 2011 2010

(in millions of U.S. dollars)

Foreign exchange loss . $2.2 $2.6 $11

Wite-off of financing fees _— 14 33

Total . $2.2 $4.0 $44
Note 5—Interest Expense

The following table summanzes interest expense for the years ended December 31, 2011, January 1, 2011
and January 2, 2010

For the Years Ended
December 31,  Janpary 1, January 2,
2011 2011 2010

(in millions of U.S. dollars)

Interest on long-term debt . $50.1 $316 $236
Other 1nterest expense " 7.0 53 6.1
Total $57.1 $369 $297
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Note 6—Income Tax (Benefit) Expense

Income before income taxes consisted of the following

For the Years Ended
December 31,  January 1,  January 2,

{in millions of U.S dollars) 2011 2011 2010
Canada $20.1 5162 $08
OQutside Canada 204 622 625
Income before income taxes . $40.5 $784 $633
Income tax (benefit) expense consisted of the following

For the Years Ended

December 31, Januvary 1, Januoary 2,
{in millions of U.S dollars) 2011 2011 010

Current

Canada $2.2 $05 $202)

Outside Canada . 0.5 18 88
$2.7 $23 $290)

Deferred

Canada $03 $40 $ 33

Qutside Canada “.2) 123 29
$3.4) $163 $ 62

Income tax (benefit) expense $00.7) $186 228

|
|

The following table reconciles income taxes calculated at the basic Canadian corporate rates with the
meome tax provision

For the Years Ended

December 31, Janvary 1, January2,
(in millions of U.S. dollars) 2011 2011 2010
Income tax expense based on Canadian statutory rates $ 109 $227 $199
Foreign tax rate differential (3.0) 42 27
Tax exempt income (14.2) (56) (28)
Dividend income 1.0 — —
Capital loss carry-over . . . 2.7) — 05
Changes 1n enacted tax rates (0.8) 05) 08
Increase {decrease) 1n valuation allowance 10.3 10 227
Decrease to ASC 740 reserve 0.9 an (13 3)
Non-controlling 1nterests 1.3) 18 (14)
Other 1tems — 03 05
Income tax (benefit) expense $ (0.7) 3186 $(228)
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Deferred income tax assets and habilities were recogmzed on temporary differences between the financial
and tax bases of exisung assets and habilities as follows

December 31,  Janvary 1,
2011

(in millions of U.S. dolars) 2011
Deferred tax assets
Lass carryforwards .- . $433 $215
Leases - s.1 68
Property, plant & equpment 32 48
Liabilitres and reserves . 1.7 122
Intangbles - —
Stock options 2.2 24
Other 7.4 43
729 520
Deferred tax liabilities
Property, plant & equipment . (59.2) (54 8)
Intangible assets . (10.5) 60)
Other (0.9) (19
(70.6) 627)
Valuation allowance . (22.2) z.n
Net deferred tax liability . $(19.9) $(234)

The increase in the valuation allowance from January 1, 2011 and December 31, 2011 was pnmanly the
result of the reestablishment of a U S federal valuaton allowance as the U § operating segment moved from a
net federal deferred tax hability position to an adjusted net deferred tax asset position

The deferred tax assets and habiliues have been classified as follows on the Consohdated Balance Sheets

December 31, January 1,
(in millions of U.S. dollars) 2011 2011

Deferred tax assets:
Current $ 10.6 $182
Long-term 4.1 25
Deferred tax liabilities:
Current . $ (0.5 $ (05
Long-term . . . . 34.1) (43 6)
Net deferred tax liability . . $(19.9) $(23 4)

As a result of certan realizattion requuements of ASC Topic 718, “Compensation—Stock Compensatnon”™
(“ASC 718"), the table of deferred tax assets and habilities shown above does not include certain deferred tax
assets at December 31, 2011 and January 1, 2011 that arose directly from tax deductions related to equuty
compensatton 1n excess of compensation recogmized for financtal reporting As of December 31, 2011, equity
will be increased by $2 0 milhion if and when such deferred tax assets are ulumately realized

As of December 31, 2011, we have claimed the indefimite reversal exceptions of ASC 740.

As of December 31, 2011, we have operaung loss carryforwards totaling $278.7 mulhion, credit
carryforwards totaling $1 4 mtlhion and capntal loss carryforwards totaling $2 7 mullion The operating loss
carryforward amount was attnibutable to Mex:co operating loss carryforwards of $17.9 milhon that will expire
from 2018 t0 2021 and U S federal and state operating loss carryforwards of $68 8 milhon and $192 0 million,
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respectively The U S federal operating loss carryforwards will expire from 2027 to 2031, and the state operating
loss carryforwards will expire from 2012 to 2031 The credit carryforward amount was atmbutable toa U S
federal alternative mummum tax credit carryforward of $0 6 mullion with an indefinite hfe and U S state credit
carryforwards of $0 8 mullion that will expire from 2014 10 2017 The capatal loss carryforward 1s a Canadian
capital loss with an indefinite life

We establish a valuation allowance to reduce deferred tax assets if, based on the weight of the available
evidence, both positive and negative, for each respective tax junsdiction, 1t 15 more hikely than not that some
portion or all of the deferred tax assets will not be realized Due to uncertainty resulting from the lack of
sustained taxable income 1n recent years 1n the U S and Mexico, we have determuned that it 15 more likely than
not that the benefit from net operating loss carryforwards and other net deferred tax assets in these junsdictions
will not be realized 1n the future In recogmition of this nsk, we have provided a valuation allowance of $12 0
mullion and $7 5 million to reduce our deferred tax assets in the U S and Mexico, respectively.

Additionally, the Company has determined that it 1s more likely than not that the benefit from 1ts capatal
losses 1n Canada will not be realized in the future due to the uncertainty regarding potential future capatal gains
the junsdiction In recognition of this nsk, we have provided a valuation allowance of $2 7 million on our
Canadian capital losses

If our assumptions change and we determine we will be able to realize these deferred 1ax assets, an mcome
tax benefit of $22 2 million will be realized as a result of the reversal of the valuation allowance at December 3§,
2011

In 2006, the FASB 1ssued guidance regarding provisions of uncertain tax positions m ASC 740, which
provides specific guidance on the financial statement recogmition, measurement, reporting and disclosure of
uncertain tax positions taken or expected to be taken 1n a tax return ASC 740 addresses the determunation of
whether tax benefits, erither permanent or temporary, should be recorded 1n the financial statements

A reconcihiation of the beginming and ending amount of our unrecognized tax benefits 1s as follows

For the Years Ended
December 31, Januvary 1, January 2,
2011 2011 2010

(in millions of US dollars)

Unrecogmzed tax benefits at beginmng of year .. $133 $147 $3387
Additions based on tax positions taken dunng a prior penod 0.2 04 22
Reductions based on tax positions taken dunng a prnior penod —_ (26) (299)
Settlement on tax positions taken dunng a pnor penod (5.8) 083) ©4)
Additions based on tax positions taken dunng the current peniod 1.7 11 17
Foreign exchange . . (0.4) 05 24
Unrecognized tax benefits at end of year $ 9.0 $133 3147

In 2011, the Company settled a mulu-junsdictional uncertain tax position that allowed 1t to treat $5 2
million of unrecogmzed Canadian tax benefits as settled Also, as a result of the settlement, the Company will
recover tax and interest 1n the amount of $8 5 mulhion associated with offsetung junsdictional benefits This
recervable 1s recorded as a current asset 1n the Company's financial statements

As of December 31, 2011, we had $9 0 mullion of unrecogmized tax benefits, a net decrease of $4 3 mullion
from $13 3 million as of January 1, 2011 If the Company recognized 1ts tax positions, approximately $4 0
mllion would favorably impact the effective tax rate We believe 1t 1s reasonably possible that our unrecognized
tax benefits will decrease or be recognized in the next twelve months by up to $1 2 millton due to the settlement
of certain tax posinons and lapses 1n statutes of hirmitatton in vanous tax junsdictions
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We recognuze interest and penalties related to unrecogmzed tax benefits 1n the provision for income taxes
We recovered $0 2 mithon, $0 2 million and 32 1 million of nterest and penalues duning the year ended
December 31, 2011, January 1, 2011 and January 2, 2010, respectively The amount of interest and penalties
recognized as an asset 1n the Consolidated Balance Sheets for 2011 and 2010 was $3 1 milbion and $2 7 mulhon,
respectively

Years pnor to 2007 are closed to audit by the Internal Revenue Service Years prior to 2006 are closed to
audit by U § state junsdictions We are also currently under audit 1n Canada by the Canada Revenue Agency
(“CRA™) for tax years 2005 through 2008 Years prror to 1997 are closed to audit by the CRA In the U K, years
pnor to 2006 are closed to audit

Note 7—Share-based Compensation

Each of our share-based compensation plans has been approved by our shareowners, except for our 1986
Common Share Optton Plan, as amended (the “Opton Plan™), which was adopted prior to our tnitial public
offering, and a stock option award granted to our Chuef Executive Officer, which was an mducement grant made
to attract and retain that executive Subsequent amendments to the Option Plan that required shareowner approvat
have been so approved

The table below summanzes the share-based compensation expense for the years ended December 31, 2011,
January 1, 2011, and January 2, 2010 Thus share-based compensation expense was recorded in selling, general,
and admimstrative expenses m our Consohdated Statements of Operations As used below (1) “PSUs" mean
performance share umts granted under our Amended and Restated Performance Share Unit Plan (the “PSU
Plan”}, (1) “Performance-based RSUs™ mean restnicted share umits with performance-based vesting granted
under the Company’s 2010 Equity Incentive Plan (the “2010 Equity Incentive Plan”), (1u1) “Time-based RSUs”
mean restricted share umts with time-based vesting granted under the 2010 Equity Incennve Plan, (1iv) “EISPP”
means common share units granted under the Restated Executive Incentive Share Purchase Plan (the “Restated
EISPP"), and (v) “Darector share units™ mean common shares granted to the non-management members of Cott’s
Board of Directors under the 2010 Equity Incentive Plan, which were 1ssued in consideration of such directors’
annual board retainer fee

For the Years Ended
December 31,  January 1, January2,
2011 201t 2010

(in millions of U.S. dollars)

Stock options . . $— $10 $01
PSUs — 02 08
Performance-based RSUs (1.2) 14 —
Time-based RSUs . . 34 13 —
Director share umts 0.7 07 —
Share appreciation nghts . —_ 01 04
Restnicted Stock . . —_ - 0t
Intennm CEQ award — — R
Total . $29 $47 513

|
|
|

Dunng the third quarter of 2011, we concluded that 1t was no longer probable that the targets established for
the Performance-based RSUs would be met, and we no longer expect these awards to ulumately vest
Accordingly, we recorded an adjustment to reverse 33 3 nullton in compensation costs that had been recorded to
date for the Performance-based RSUs
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As of December 31, 2011, the unrecogmzed share-based compensation expense and years we expect to
recognize it as future compensation expense were as follows

Unrecognized

share-based Weighted
compensation average years
expense as of expected to

December 31, recognize

£in miflions of 1J.5. dollars) 2011 compensation
Time-based RSUs . $40 13
Total . . . 340

Option Plan

No options were granted dunng the year ended December 31, 2011 Options representing 250,000 shares
were granted to our Chuef Executive Officer duning the first quarter of 2010 at an exercise price of C$8 01 per
share The fair value of thus optron gramt was estimated to be C3$5 16 using the Black-Scholes option pricing
model On August 9, 2010, the Company entered into a Common Share Option Cancellation and Forferture
Agreement to cancel this option award The cancellation was effective as of September 22, 2010 The Company
entered into thus arrangement wath the Chuef Executive Officer in order to transition hum to the Company’s 2010
Equity Incentive Plan, which was approved by shareholders on May 4, 2010 Future grants to this and other
executive officers are expected to be governed by the terms of such plan

Opuons representing 250,000 shares were 1ssued dunng the year ended January 2, 201¢ at an exercise price
of C$1 10 and vested ratably over four quarters The fair value of thus option grant was estunated at C$0 475
using the Black-Scheles options pncing model

No options were granted during the year ended December 31, 2011 The fair value of each option granted
dunng the years ended January 1, 2011 and January 2, 2010 was estimated on the date of grant using the Black-
Scholes option pricing model with the following assumptions

For the Years Ended
Jannary |,  January 2,
2011 2010

Risk-free interest rate 2 5% 23%
Average expected hife (years) 55 55
Expected volaulity 74 8% 50 0%
Expected dividend yield —_ —_
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Stock opuion acuvity was as follows

Weighted Weighted Aggregate
average  average remaining Intrinsic
Shares exercise contractual term (C¥)
(in thousands) price {years) (in thousands)
Balance at December 27, 2008 892 $27 52 2_5_0 $ —
Granted 250 110
Exercised . (25) 260
Forfened or expired . (286) 3169 _
Balance at January 2, 2010 831 $1897 46 $618 1
Granted 250 801
Forfeited or expired . 377 2033 _
Balance at January 1, 2011 . o4 $16 67 ﬂ $6250
Exercised (275) 132
Forfeited or expired (145) 3827 _
Balance at December 31, 2011 284 $20 47 17 $2630
Vested at December 31, 2011 . 284 $2047 17 $2630
Exercisable at December 31, 2011 . 284 $2047 17 $263 0

The aggregate intrinsic value amounts 1n the table above represent the difference between the closing pnce
of our common stock on December 31, 2011, which was C3$6 40 (Janvary 1, 2011—C3$8 95, January 2, 2010—
C$8 66), and the exercise price, muluphed by the number of in-the-money stock options as of the same date The
total intnnsic value of stock options exercised during the year ended December 31, 2011 was $0 4 milhon
(January 1, 201 1—ml, January 2. 2010—3$0 1 million)

Total compensation cost related to unvested awards under the option plan not yet recogmized 1s m} The total
fair value of shares that vested during the year ended December 31, 2011 was mi

Subsequent to the adoption of the 2010 Equity Incentive Plan, the Human Resources and Compensation
Commuttee of the Board of Directors (“HRCC™) determined that certain of Cott’s long-term incentive plans were
no longer needed and terminated the Option Plan In connection with the termunation of the Option Plan,
outstanding options will continue 1n accordance with the terms of the Option Plan unul vested, paid out, forfented
or terrmnated, as applicable No further awards will be granted under the Option Plan Future awards are
expected to be governed by the terms of the Company’s 2010 Equity Incentive Plan

Qutstanding oputons at December 31, 2011 were as follows

Options Outstanding Options Exercisable

Number Remaining  Weighted Number Weighted
Exercisable  Contractual  Exercise Exercisable Exerclse

Range of Exercise Prices (C$) (in thousands) Life (Years) Price(C$) (in thousands) Price (C$)
$350 75 36 $ 350 75 $ 350
$18 48 . 50 23 $1848 50 $i8 48
$2898 134 06 $28 98 134 $28 98
$2995 . 25 01 52995 25 $29 95
284 17 $2047 284 $20 47
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Long-Term Incentive Plans
2010 Equity Incentive Plan

Our shareowners approved our 2010 Equity Incentive Plan at the Annual and Special Meeting of
Shareowners held on May 4, 2010 Awards under the 2010 Equity Incentive Plan may be in the form of incentive
stock options, non-qualified stock options, restnicted shares, restricted share umits, performance shares,
performance units, stock appreciation nghts, and stock payments to employees, directors and outside consultants
The 2010 Equity Incentive Plan 1s adminstered by the HRCC or any other board commuttee as may be
designated by the board from time to tume At the incepuon of the 2010 Equuty Incentive Plan, 4,000,000 shares
were reserved for future 1ssuance, subject to adjustment upon a share split, share dividend, recapitahization, and
other simular transacuons and events

On May 6, 2011, we granted 76,110 common shares to the non-management members of our Board of
Directors under the 2010 Equity Incentive Plan The common shares were 1ssued 1n consideration of such
directors’ annual board retainer fee

In 2011, we granted 592,163 Performance-based RSUs and 151,545 Time-based RSUs to certain employees
of the Company The Performance-based RSUs vest based on the achievement of a specified target level of
pre-tax imncome for the period beginming on January 2, 2011 and ending on the last day of our 2013 fiscal year
The amount of Performance-based RSUs that may vest and the related unrecogmzed compensation cost 15 subject
to change based on the level of targeted pre-tax income that 1s aclueved duning the penod begmmng on January
2, 2011 and ending on the last day of our 2013 fiscal year The Tume-based RSUs vest on the last day of our 2G13
fiscal year

On May 4, 2010, we granted 78,790 common shares to the non-management members of our Board of
Directors under the 2010 Equity Incentive Plan The common shares were 1ssued 1n consideration of such
directors’ annual board retainer fee

In 2010, we granted 1,726,807 Performance-based RSUs and 1,396,807 Time-based RSUs to certain
employees of the Company The Performance-based RSUs vest based on the achievement of a specified target
level of pre-tax income for the penod beginning on January 3, 2010 and ending on the last day of our 2012 fiscal
year The amount of Performance-based RSUSs that may vest and the related unrecognized compensation cost 1s
subject to change based on the level of targeted pre-tax income that 1s achieved duning the penod beginming on
January 3, 2010 and ending on the last day of our 2012 fiscal year Dunng the fourth quarter of 2010, the HRCC
modified the oniginal pre-tax income targets to reflect the Cliffstar Acqmsition The Time-based RSUs vest on
the last day of our 2012 fiscal year

Amended and Restated PSU Plan

Under the Amended and Restated Performance Share Umt Plan (the “PSU Plan”™), PSUs were awarded to
Company employees The value of an employee’s award under our PSU Plan depended on (1) our performance
over a maximum three-year performance cycle, and (u) the market pnce of our common shares at the tume of
vesting Performance targets were established by the HRCC PSUs granted vested over a term not exceeding
three fiscal years As of January 1, 2011, the Trustee under the PSU Plan held 0 6 million common shares as
treasury shares The remaimng outstanding awards under the PSU Plan vested 10 February 2011 upon the
achievement of adjusted operating income exceeding zero for 2008, 2009 and 2010

Subsequent to the adoption of the 2010 Equity Incentive Plan on May 4, 2010, the HRCC determined that

certan of Cott’s long-term incentive plans were no longer needed and terminated the PSU Plan effective
February 23, 2011
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Amended and Restated SAR Plan

Under the Amended and Restated Share Appreciauon Rights Plan (the “SAR Plan”), share appreciation
nghts (“SARs™) were awarded to employees and directors of our Company SARSs typrcally vested on the third
anmversary of the grant date On vesting, each SAR represented the nght to be paid the difference, if any,
between the price of our common shares on the date of grant and their price on the vesting date of the SAR.
Payments in respect of vested in-the-money SARs were made 1n the form of our common shares purchased on
the open market by an independent trust with cash contnbuted by us Dunng the year ended January i, 2011,
154,000 SARs vested out-of-the-money On Auvgust 10, 2010, the Company entered into a Stock Appreciation
Rught Cancellatton Agreement with an executive officer to cancel 100,000 previously granted SARs The
cancellation was effective as of September 2, 2010.

Subsequent to the adoption of the 2010 Equity Incentive Plan on May 4, 2010, the HRCC determined that
certain of Cott’s long-term incentive plans were no longer needed and terminated the SAR Plan effective
February 23, 2011

Dunng the year ended December 31, 2011, EISPP, PSU, Performance-based RSU and Time-based RSU
activity was as follows

Number of Number of
Number of  Performance- Time-based

{(in thousands) EISPP PSUs hased RSUs RSUs
Balance at Januvary 1, 2011 189 188 1,727 1,397
Awarded . —_ _— 592 151
Issued (189) (188) — —_
Forfexted — — —_ —
Outstanding at December 31, 2011 — — 2,319 1,548

Other Share-Based Compensation

In connection with lus appointment, we granted to David Gibbons, our former Intenm Chief Executve
Officer, 720,000 restricted stock units on March 24, 2008, of which 360,000 units vested immediately Of the
remaiming 360,000 restnicted stock umuts, 300,000 vested ratably on a monthly basis over a five-month peniod
beginning October 24, 2008 through February 27, 2009 Mr Gibbons resigned as Intennm Chief Executive
Officer and las employment arrangements came to an end on February 27, 2009, at which ime 6,000 prorated
restricted stock umts vested and the remaiming 54,000 restricted stock umits were forfeited This award was
recogmzed as compensation expense over the vesung period The fair value and compensation costs vanied based
on share pnce This award was accounted for as a hability

Restated Executive Incentive Share Purchase Plan

In the second quarter of 2007, our shareowners approved a restated executive incentive share purchase plan
(the “Restated EISPP”), which allowed officers and semor management executives, as designated by the HRCC,
to elect 1o recerve their performance bonus (or a portion thereof) as commeon share units held on their behalf by
an independent trust If the employee elected to recerve common share umuts, we provided to the employee an
equal number of shares, which vested on January 1, 2011 due to the achievement of certan performance goals
(*Match Portion”™)

The Match Portion of the performance bonus was estumated based on the employee’s elecuion and was
amortized over the service peniod of approximately four years Dunng 2007, employees elected to defer a total of
§1 I mulhon under the Restated EISPP In 2009, the Company recorded an expense of $0 | million related to the
anticipated 2007 matching portion of the performance bonus No amount was accrued for the Match Poruon for
2008 deferrals because corporate performance goals were not achieved and no bonus amounts were deferred into
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the plan Effective as of December 27, 2008, the HRCC approved an amendment to the Restated EISPP with the
effect of freezing participation 1n the plan. The remaiming ouistanding Match Portuon vested in February 2011
upon the achrevement of cumulatnve EBIT growth of 10% per annum over the three-year performance cycle
ending at the end of fiscal 2010

Subsequent to the adoption of the 2010 Equity Incentive Plan on May 4, 2010, the HRCC determined that
certain of Cott’s long-term incentive plans were no longer needed and terminated the Restated EISPP effecuve
February 23, 2011

Average Canadian—U.S. Dollar Exchange Rates for 2011, 2010 and 2609

The werghted average exercise pnices for options 1n this Note are disclosed in Canadian dollars The table
below represents the average Canadian dollar to U S dollar exchange rate for the fiscal years ended 2011, 2010
and 2009

For the Years Ended
December 31, Jnnuary 1, January 2,
2011 2011 2010
Average exchange rate $1012 30971 30878

Note 8—Net Income per Common Share

Basic ret income per common share ts computed by dividing net income by the weighted average number of
common shares outstanding duning the penod Diluted net income per common share 1s calculated using the
weighted average number of common shares outstanding adjusted to include the effect, if dilutive, of the exercise
of in-the-money stock options, PSUs, Performance-based RSUs and Time-based RSUs

A reconciliaton of the denominators of the basic and diluted net income per common share computations 1s
as follows

For the Years Ended
December 31, Januvary 1, Janvary 2,
(inl.hﬂlﬂ 2011 2011 2010
Weighted average number of shares outstanding—basic 94,241 85,588 74,207
Diluuve effect of stock opuons . 13 191 267
Dilutive effect of PSUs - 161 741
Duutive effect of Performance-based RSUs 727 96 —
Diluuve effect of Time-based RSUs — 149 —
Adjusted weighted average number of shares outstanding—diluted 95,001 86,185 75,215

At December 31, 201 1, optrons to purchase 284,000 (January 1, 2011—704,000, Janvary 2, 2010—830,650)
shares of common stock at a weighted average exercise pnee of C$20 47 (January 1, 2011—C$16 67;
January 2, 2010—C$18 97) per share were outstanding, of which 209,000 (Fanuary 1, 2011—354,000,
January 2, 2010—439,441) were not included in the computation of diluted net income per share because the
opuons’ exercise pnce was greater than the average market price of the common shares Shares purchased on the
open market and held by independent trusts are categonzed as treasury shares under applicable accounting rules
We excluded 674,397 (January 1, 20H 1—1,051,000, January 2, 2010—1,503,763) treasury shares held in vanous
trusts n the calculation of basic and diluted earnings per share

Note 9—Segment Reporting

We produce, package and distnbute private-label CSDs, clear, sull and sparkling flavored waters, energy-
related dnnks, juice, juice-based products, bottled water and ready-to-dnnk teas to regional and national grocery,
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mass-merchandise and wholesale chains and customers in the dollar convemence and drug channels through five
reporting segments—North Amenca (which includes our U.S operating segment and Canada operating
segment), U K (which includes our United Kingdom reporting unit and our Continental European reporting
unt), Mextco, RCI and All Other

Reporting Segments
December 31, 2011
North United All

(in millions of U.S. dollars) Amerita  Kingdom Mexico RCI  Other Total
External revenue ! . $1,8093 $4479 $51.8 $256 $— $2,334.6
Depreciation and amortization 80.0 13.2 21 — — 95.3
Asset impairments . . — — 06 — — 0.6
Intangible asset impairments 14 — — — — 14
Operaung income (loss) . 704 275 44 72 — 100.7
Property, plant and equipment 383.1 89.8 93 — - 482.2
Goodwll . 123.1 — — 45 — 129.6
Intangibles and other assets 326.1 14.6 04 — —_ 3411
Total assets 1,231.3 2370 284 113 09 15089
Additions to property, plant and equipment 39.1 9.5 02 — — 48.8

I Intersegment revenue between North Amenca and the other reporting segments was $14 7 mulhon for the
year ended December 31, 2011
?  Excludes intersegment receivables, mnvestments and notes recervable

Reporting Segments
January 1, 2011

North United All
(in millions of US dollars) America  Kingdom Mexico RCI Other Total
External revenue ! . $1,3573 $367.1 $50.1 $288 $— $1,8033
Depreciation and amortization . 59.1 12.8 21 — — 74.0
Restructuning . (0.5) —_— _— _— — 0.5)
Operating income (loss) 75.0 245 a1 710 — 99.0
Property, plant and equipment 4004 202 132 — — 503.8
Goodwill 125.7 —_ —_ 45 — 130.2
Intangibles and other assets 354.7 15.7 07 — —_ .1
Total assets 2 L2759 2074 315 137 07 1,529.2
Addnons to property, plant and equipment 319 10.6 15 — —_ 4.0

! Intersegment revenue between North Amenca and the other reporting segments was $19 0 mullion for the
year ended January 1. 2011
2 Excludes mntersegment recervables, investments and notes receavable
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Reporting Segments

Janunary 2, 2010
North United All

(in millions of U.S dollars) America Kingdomn Mexico RCI Other Total
Extemnal revenue ! $1,1739  $3593 $427 3208 $— $1,5967
Depreciation and amortization 510 134 18 — — 662
Restructuning and asset impairments

Restructunng 15 — — — —_ 15

Asset impairments . 36 — — — — 36
Operaung income (loss) . . 776 230 an 39 — 97 4
Property, plant and equipment 2365 930 135 — — 3430
Goodwll . 26t — — 45 — 306
Intangibles and other assets 1370 177 08 — —_ 1555
Total assets ? . 6321 1970 334 106 07 873 8
Adduons to property, plant and equipment 227 86 10 — —_— 323

! Intersegment revenue between North America and the other reporting segments was $14 0 million for the

year ended January 2, 2010
2 Excludes intersegment recervables, investments and notes receivable

For the year ended December 31, 2011, sales to Walmart accounted for 31 6% (2010—31 0%, 2009—
33 5%) of our total revenue, 35 9% of our North Amenca reporting segment revenue (2010—335 3%, 2009-—

39 4%), 14 6% of our U K reporting segment revenue (2010—16 6%, 2009—17 7%) and 44 7% of our Mexico

reporiing segment revenue (2010—38 9%, 2009—18 4%)

Credit nsk anses from the potental default of a customer 1n meeting 1ts financial obligations with us

Concentrabons of credit exposure may arise with a group of customers that have similar economic charactenstics

or that are located 1n the same geograpluc region The ability of such customers to meet obligations would be

sumlarly affected by changing economuc, political or other conditions We are not currently aware of any facts

that would create a matenal credit risk

Revenues are attnibuted to operating segments based on the location of the customer Revenues by operating

segment were as follows

For the Years Epded
December 31, January 1, January 2,
2011 2011 2010

(in millions of U.S, dolars)

United States $1,610.5 $1,2121  $1,0341
Canada . 249.0 201 ¢ 198 7
Unuted Kingdom . 447.9 3671 3593
Mexico . . 51.8 501 427
RCI 25.6 288 208
Elimmation ! . (50.2) 559 (58 9
Total $2,334.6 $1,8033 51,5967

| Represents intercompany revenue among our operating segments, of which $14 7 mallion, $19 0 million and
$14 0 million represents mtersegment revenue between the North Amenca reporting segment and our other

operating segments for December 31, 2011, January 1, 2011, and January 2, 2010, respectively

The revenue by product table for 2009 has been revised to include the category “Jurce,” which1s a
sigmificant portion of our 2010 and 2011 revenue due to the Chffstar Acquisition
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Revenues by product were as follows

{in millions of US. dollars)

Revenue

Carbonated soft drinks

Juice
Concentrate
All other products

Total

(in milllons of U.S. dollars)

Revenue

Carbonated soft dninks
Juice

Concentrate

All other products

Total

{in millions of U.S. dollars)

Revenue

Carbonated soft dninks
Juice

Concentrate

Al other products

Total

For the Year Ended December 31, 2011

North United
America Kingdom Mexico RCI Total
$ 7314 $179.2 $39.6 $— § 950.2
587.7 12,3 27 —_ 602.7
9.1 2.8 — 25.6 7.5
481.1 253.6 925 — 744.2
$1,809.3 $447.9 S$SL8 $25.6 $2,334.6

For the Year Ended January 1, 2011

North

United

America Kingdom Mexico RCI Total

$ 7055 31595 $434 $5— § 9084
2253 100 68 — 236 1
75 41 — 288 40 4
4190 1935 59 618 4
$1,3573 $3671 3501 $288 $1.8033

For the Year Ended January 2, 2010

North

United

America Kingdom Mexico RCI Total
$ 7600 $1619 3364 3$— 3 9583
—_ 101 04 — 10.5
65 46 - 197 30.8
407 4 182.7 59 1.1 597 1
$1,1739 33593 $427 $208 $1,5967

Property, plant and equipment by geographic area as of December 31, 2011 and Januaryl, 2011 were as

follows

(in millions of US dollars)

United States

Canada .

United Kangdom

Mexico
Total

Note 10—Accounts Receivable, Net

December 31, Janvary 1,
2011 201t

$336.2 $3504

46.9 500
89.8 90 2
9.3 132

$482.2 $35038

The following table summanzes accounts receivable, net as of December 31, 2011 and Januaryt, 2011
December 31, January 1,
2011 2011

(in millions of US dollars)

Trade receivables
Allowance for doubtful accounts

Other
Total
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Note 11—Inventories

The following table summanzes inventones as of December 31, 2011 and January 1, 2011

(in millions of U.S dollars)

Raw matenals
Fimshed goods .
Other

Total

Note 12—Property, Plant & Equipment

December 31, Janoary 1,
2011

2011

$ 87.3
102.3
204

$210.0

$901
1073
181

32155

The following table summanzes property, plant and equipment as of December 31, 2011 and January 1,

2011
December 31, 2011 January 1, 2011
Accumulated Accumulated

(in millions of US. dollars) Cost Depreciation Net Cost Depreciation Net
Land and Land Improvements $34 $ 06 $298 $302 §$ 02 300
Buildings . . 156.7 58.0 987 1576 517 1059
Machinery and equipment

Owned . 636.9 331.7 3052 6007 2904 3103

Capital leases . 21.2 58 154 258 73 18.5
Plates, films and molds . M.S5 26.6 7.9 362 282 80
Vending - 13.8 120 1.8 156 131 25
Transportation equmpmentt . 0.6 0.5 0.1 07 05 0.2
Leasehold wnprovements 394 18.7 20.7 392 150 242
IT Systems . 2.7 1.3 14 32 32
Furniture and fixtures 9.7 8.5 12 91 1.0
Total . $945.9 $463.7 $482.2 59185 $4147 $503.8

Depreciation expense for the year ended December , 2011 was $63 5 mulhon ($52 6 mulhon—TJanuary 1,

2011, $48 5 mulhon—IJanuary 2, 2010)
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Note 13—Intangibles and Other Assets

The following table summanzes intangibles and other assets as of December 3i, 2011 and January 1, 2011

December 31, 2011 January 1, 2011
Accumutated Accumulated
(in millions of U.S. dollars) Cost Amortization Net Cost Amortization Net
Intangibles
Not subject to amornzation
Rughts $ 450 $ — $ 450 % 450 $ — $450
Subject to amortization
Customer relationships 366.2 117.8 2484 3693 948 2745
Trademarks . 215 21.6 59 289 211 78
Information technology 64.6 53.9 10.7 603 525 1.8
Other 11.8 5.7 6.1 103 31 T2
470.1 199.0 271.1 4688 1715 2973
515.1 199.0 3161 5138 17t 5 3423
Other Assets
Financing costs . 3.1 74 158.7 232 36 196
Deposits . . 8.1 —_ 8.1 76 — 76
Other 14 0.2 1.2 43 27 i16
326 7.6 250 351 63 28.8
Total Intangibles & Other Assets $547.7 $206.6  $341.1 $5489 $1778 $3711

Amortization expense of intangible and other assets was $35 7 mullion during 2011 ($26 5 mullion—Januvary
1, 2011, $20 2 million—January 2, 2010). Amortization of intangibles includes $2 7 milhon (32 2 million—
January 1, 2011, $4 5 milhon—January 2, 2010) relating to information technology assets and $3 9 milhion ($2 7
million—TJanuary 1, 2011, $1 6 milhon—January 2, 2010) relating to deferred financing assets

The esmated amortizaton expense for intangible and other assets over the next five years 1s

(in millions of U.S dollars)

2012 $ 309
2013 29.5
2014 27.8
2015 25.4
2016 . . 22.1
Thereafter 1354
Total $271.1
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Note 14—Accounts Payable and Accrued Liabilities

The following table summarnizes accounts payable and acerued habilities as of December 31, 2011 and
January 1, 2011

December 31, January 1,
2011

(in millions of t.S. dollars) 2011
Trade payables . . . . $165.83 $146 1
Deferred income taxes 0.5 05
Accrued compensation . 27.0 191
Accrueed sales incentives . 29.6 24 8
Accrued nterest . 12.8 14 1
Payroll, sales and other taxes . 16.0 128
Other accrued habihities . 294 592

Total $281.1 $276 6

Note 15—Debt

Our total debt as of December 31, 2011 and January 1, 2011 15 as follows

December 31, January 1,
(in millions of U.S. dollars) 2011 2011

8 375% seror notes due 1n 20171 215.0 2150
8 125% semior notes due 1n 2018 . 375.0 37150
ABL facility . . -_ 79
GE Oblhiganon . . 124 165
Other capital leases . 4.1 5.8
Other debt . 1.5 2.0
Total debt . 608.0 6222
Less Short-term borrowings and current debt
ABL facility — 79
Total short-term borrowings . -— 79
GE Obhgation—curmrent maturities . 2.6 41
Other capital leases—current matunties . 0.6 14
Other debt—current matunities 0.2 05
Total current debt . 34 13.9
Long-term debt before discount . 604.6 608.3
Less discount on 8 375% notes . (2.5) 28
Total long-term debt . $602.1 $605 5

! Our 8 375% sentor notes were 1ssued at a discount of 1 425% on November 13, 2009

F-33




The long-term debt payments (which include current matunues of long-term debt) required 1n each of the
next five years and thereafter are as follows

Long Term Debt
{in millions of US dollars) M
2012 . $ 34
2013 . 2.0
2014 . 2.1
2015 . . 22
2016 . 1.1
Thereafter . 597.2

$608.0!

I We funded the purchase of new water botthing equpment through an intenm financing agreement signed 1n
Janvary 2008 (the “GE Obhigation”} At the end of the GE Obligation, we may exchange $6 0 million of
deposits for the extinguishment of $6 0 million 1n debt or elect to purchase such equipment

Asset Based Lending Facility

On March 31, 2008, we entered into a credit agreement with JPMorgan Chase Bank, N A as Agent that
created an asset-based lending credit facility (the “ABL facility”) to provide financing for cur North Amenca,
U K and Mexico reporting segments In connection with the Chffstar Acquisition, we refinanced the ABL
facility on August 17, 2010 to, among other things, provide for the Chiffstar Acquisition, the 1ssuance of the 2018
Notes and the applicanon of net proceeds therefrom, the underwntten public offenng of 13,340,000 common
shares at a price of $5 67 per share and the application of net proceeds therefrom and to increase the amount
available for borrowings to $275 0 million We drew down a portton of the indebtedness under the ABL facility
1n order to fund the Chffstar Acquisinon We incurred $5 4 million of financing fees in connection with the
refinancing of the ABL facility The financing fees are being amortized using the straight hine method over a
four-year penod, which represents the duratton of the ABL facility

As of December 31, 2011, we had no outstanding borrowings under the ABL The commitment fee was
0 5% per annum of the unused commitment, which was $265 3 mulhon as of December 31, 2011

The effective interest rate as of December 31, 2011 on LIBOR and Pnime loans 15 based on average
aggregate availability as follows

Average Agpregate Avallability ABR  Canadian Prime FEurodollar CDOR LIBOR
{in millions of US dollars) Spread Spread Spread Spread Spread
Over $150 . 1 50% 1 50% 250% 2.50% 250%
$75-150 175% 175% 175% 275% 275%
Under $75 2 0% 200% 300 300% 300%

8 125% Semor Notes due in 2018

On August 17, 2010, we 1ssued the 2018 Notes The 1ssuer of the 2018 Notes 15 our wholly-owned
subsidiary Cott Beverages Inc , but we and most of our U S, Canadian and Umted Kingdom subsidianes
puarantee the 2018 Notes The interest on the 2018 Notes 15 payable seru-annually on March 1% and
September 1 of each year

We incurred $8 6 milhion of financing fees in connection with the 1ssuance of the 2018 Notes The financing
fees are being amortized using the effecuve interest method over an eight-year penod, which represents the
duration of the 2018 Notes
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8 375% Senmor Notes due in 2017

On November 13, 2009, we 1ssued $215 0 million of senior notes that are due on November 15, 2017 (the
“2017 Notes™) The 2017 Notes were 1ssued at a $3 1 mullion discount The 1ssuer of the 2017 Notes 1s Cott
Beverages Inc , but we and most of our U § , Canadian and United Kingdom subsidianes guarantee the 2017
Notes The interest on the 2017 Notes 15 payable semi-annually on May15% and November 15* of each year

We mcurred $5 1 millron of financing fees in connection with the 2017 Notes The financing fees are betng
amortized using the effective interest method over an eight-year penod, which represents the duration of the
2017 Notes

8% Senior Subordinated Notes due in 2011

We repurchased the remarmng outstanding 8% senior subordinated notes due December 15, 2011 {the “2011
Notes™) for $11 1 mllion on February 1, 2010, and recorded a loss on buyback of $0 1 milhon The 2011 Notes
acquired by us have been retired, and we have discontinued the payment of interest.

In 2009, the Company repurchased $257 § million in principal amount of the 2011 Notes, and recorded a
loss on buyback of $3 3 million

GE Financing Agreement

We funded $32 5 milhion of water botthing equipment purchases through a finance lease arrangement n
2008 The quarterly payments under the lease obligation totaled approximately $8 8 mullion per annum for the
first two years, $5 3 milhon per annum for the subsequent two years, then $1 7 million per annum for the final
four years

Covenant Compliance
8 125% Sentor Notes due in 2018

Under the indenture goverming the 2018 Notes, we are subject to a number of covenants, inciuding
covenants that imit our and certain of our subsidianes’ ability, subject to certain exceptions and qualifications, to
(1) pay dividends or make distnbutions, repurchase equnty secunties, prepay subordinated debt or make certain
investments, (u) incur additional debt or 1ssue certain disqualified stock or preferred stock, (u1) create or incur
liens on assets securing indebtedness, (1v) merge or consohdate with another company or sell all or substantally
all of our assets taken as a whole, (v) enter into transactions with affiliates and (vi1) sell assets We have been 1n
comphance with all of the covenants under the 2018 Notes and there have been no amendments to any such
covenants since the 2018 Notes were 1ssued

8 375% Senwor Notes due tn 2017

Under the indenture governing the 2017 Notes, we are subject to a number of covenants, including
covenants that linit our and certain of our subsidianes’ ablity, subject to certain exceptions and qualifications, to
(1) pay dividends or make distnibutions, repurchase equity secunties, prepay subordinated debt or make certain
investments, (1} incur add:tional debt or 1ssue certain disquahfied stock or preferred stock, (m) create or incur
hiens on assets secunng indebtedness, (1v) merge or consolidate with another company or sel{ all or substantially
all of our assets taken as a whole, (v) enter into transactions with affihates and (vi) sell assets We have been 1n
comphiance with all of the covenants under the 2017 Notes and there have been no amendments to any such
covenants since the 2017 Notes were 1ssved

ABL Facuity

Under the credit agreement goverming the ABL facility, we and our restncted subsidianes are subject to a
number of business and financial covenants, including a covenant requinng a mummum fixed charge coverage
ratio of at least 1 1to 1 0 effective when and 1of excess availability ss less than the greater of (2)$30 ¢ mullton and
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(b) the lesser of (1) 12 5% of the amount of the aggregate borrowing base or (1) $37 5 milhon Although the
covenant was not inggered as of December 31, 2011, our fixed charge coverage ratto as calculated under this
covenant was greater than 1 1to 1 0 If availability 1s less than $37 5 million, the lenders will take domamon over
the cash and will apply excess cash to reduce amounts owing under the facility The credit agreement governing
the ABL facility requires us to maintain aggregate availabihty of at least $15 0 mullion We were 1n comphance
with all of the applicable covenants under the ABL facility on December 31, 2011

Note 16—Benefit Plans

We maintain two defined benefit plans resulting from prior acquisitions that cover certain employees at one
plant i the United States under a collective bargaining agreement (“U S Plan™) and certamn employees in the
United Kingdom (“U K Plan™) Retirement benefits for employees covered by the U S Plan are based on years
of service multiphed by a monthly benefit factor The monthly benefit for employees under the U K. Plan 1s
based on years of service muluplied by a monthly benefit factor Penston costs are funded 1n accordance with the
provisions of the apphcable law Both plans are closed to new participants We use a December 31% measurement
date for both of our plans

Obligations and Funded Status

The following table summanizes the change 1n the benefit ocbliganon, change 1n plan assets and unfunded
status of the two plans as of December 31, 2011 and January 1, 2011

December 31, January I,
2011

(in millions of U.S. dollars) 2011

Change in Benefit Obligation

Benefit obhgation at begmning of year $345 $323
Service cost . . 0.5 04
Interest cost . L8 18
Plan parucipant contnbutions . . 0.1 01
Benefit payments SN . .. . 0.9) {096)
Acmanal losses NN . . 34 16
Translation losses . . 0.1) an
Benefit oblhigation at end of year . $ 393 $345
Change in Plan Assets

Plan assets begining of year - $ 264 $231
Employer contributions . . 1.8 17
Plan participant contnbutions . . 0.1 01
Benefit payments . . . . (0.9) (0 6)
Actual return on plan assets . 0.2 29
Translation losses . . . (0.1) 08
Fair value at end of year .. $ 275 $264
Funded Status of Plan

Projected benefit obligation R $(39.3) $(34 5)
Farr value of plan assets . 215 264
Unfunded status . . $(11.8) $@E1

The accumulated benefit cbligation for both defined benefit pension plans equaled the projected benefit
obligations of $39 3 mulhion and $34 5 mulhion at the end of 2011 and 2010, respectuvely
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Periodic Pension Costs

The components of net penodic pension cost are as follows

For the Years Ended
December 31, Januvary L, January 2,
{in millions of U.S. dollars) 2011 2011 2010
Service cost $0.5 $04 $03
Interest cost 19 18 17
Expected return on plan assets 1.9 an (12)
Amortization of prior service costs 0.1 01 01
Amortization of net loss . 0.5 05 06
Net penodic pension cost $L1 $11 15

Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income (Loss)

Amounts included 1n accumulated other comprehensive income, net of tax, at year-end which have not yet
been recogmized 1n net penodic benefit cost are as follows

For the Years Ended
December 31,  January1,  Janvary 2,
{in millions of U.S. dollars) 2001 2011 2010
Unamortized prior service benefit . $(0.9) $(05) $(0 6)
Unrecogmized net actuanal gain (loss) 8.5 58 69)
Unamortized prior service benefit (actuanal loss) $8.1 $53 $(7 5
Assumptions

Assumptions used to determune benefit obligattons at year-end

December 31, January 1, January 2,
2011 2011 2010

Discount rate 6.2% 62% 63%

Assumptions used to determine net peniodic benefit cost at year-end

December 3,  January1l,  Janvary 2,
2011 2011 2010

UK Plan
Discount rate . 4.6% 54% 53%
Expected fong-term rate of return on plan assets 5.7% 69% 72%
US Plan
Discount rate . . . 4.1% 57% 62%
Expected long-term rate of return on plan assets 1.0% 70% 7 0%
Inflation factor . . 3% 37% 37%

The discount rate for the U S Plan 1s based on a model portfoho of AA rated bonds with a maturity matched
to the estmated payouts of future pension benefiis for this type of plan The discount rate of the U K Plan 1s
based on a model portfolio of AA rated bonds, using the redemption yields on the constituent stocks of the
Memll Lynch index with a matunty matched to the estimated future pension benefits The weighted average
return for both plans for the year ended December 31, 2011 was | 4% The expected retum under the U S Plan
and the U K Plan on plan assets are based on our expectation of the long-term average rate of return on assets in
the pension funds, which 1s based on the allocation of assets
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Asset Mux
Our pension plan weighted-average asset allocations by asset category are as follows
December 31, Janoary 1,
w011 2011

UK Plan
Equnty securties 583% 65 9%
Debt secunties . 41.7% 34 1%
US Plan
uIty securnties 66.9% 65 3%
Equity
Debt securtties . 331% 347%

Plan Assets

Our investment policy 1s that plan assets will be managed utihzing an investment philosophy and approach
charactenized by all of the following, but listed in prionty order (1) emphasis on total retur, (2) emphasis on
lugh-quality secunties, (3} sufficient income and stability of income, (4) safety of pnnctpal with hmited volatility
of capital through proper diversificaton and (5) sufficient liquudity (The target allocation percentages for the
U K Plan assets are 65% 1n equty secunties and 35% 1n debt secunties The target allocation percentages for the
U S Plan assets are 50% 1n equity securnities and 50% 1n debt secunties None of our equity or debt secunties are
mcluded in plan assets )

Cash Flows
We expect to contmbute $2 0 mulhion to the pension plans dunng the 2012 fiscal year

The following benefit payments are expected to be paid
(in millions of US dollars)

Expected benefit payments

FY 2012 %09
FY 2013 . 10
FY 2014 . . 10
FY 2015 . . . 10
FY 2016 . . . 11
FY 2017 through FY 2020 . . 72

Cott pnmanly maintains defined contnbution rettrement plans covening quahfying employees The total
expense with respect to these plans was $6 4 mullion for the year ended December 31, 2011 ($3 9 mullion—
January 1, 2011; $4 1 milhon—January 2, 2010)

The fair values of the Company's pension plan assets at December 31, 2011 were as follows

December 31, 2011
(in millions of U.S. dollars) Levell Level 2 Level 3
Cash and cash equivalents:
Cash and cash equivalents . 301 s01 $—
Equities:
International mutual funds 148 — —
Index mutual funds . . 31 _ —
U S mutual funds 15 — —
Fixed income:
Mutual funds 79 — —
Total _3_2_'_/_4 $0.1 t
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The fair values of the Company’s pension plan assets at January 1, 2011 were as follows-

January 1, 2011
{in millions of U.S dollars) Level Level 2 Level 3
Cash and cash equivalents:
Cash and cash equivalents . . $01 $01 —
Equities:
International mutual funds 159 —_ —
Index mutual funds 25 - _
U S mutual funds 14 — —
Fixed income;
Mutual funds 64 — —_
Total $26.3 $0.1 $—

Note 17—Commitments and Contingencies

We lease bulldings, machinery and equmipment, computer hardware and furmiture and fixtures All
contractual increases and rent free periods included in the lease contract are taken into account when calculating
the mimmum lease payment and recogrized on a straight-line basis over the lease term Certain leases have
renewal penods and contingent rentals, which are not included n the table below The mummum annual
payments under operaung leases are as follows

{in millions of US dollars)

2012 . $19.1
2013 . . 15.1
2014 e . . 14.0
2015 L. . 12.2
2016 .. 9.7
Thereafter . . _20.5
Total m

Operatng lease expenses were

(in millions of US dollars)

Year ended December 31, 2011 - . .. $259
Year ended January 1, 2011 . . . $20.3
Year ended January 2, 2010 . 19.9
Total $66.1

Operating lease expenses are shown net of sublease income of $0 3 milhion for 2011 As of December 31,
2011, we had commutments for capital expenditures of approximately $20 5 mullion and commutments for
mnventory of approximately $271 5 milhon

In 2007, we entered 1ato a $39 7 mullion purchase obhgation for new equipment to support our bottled water
business Of the $39 7 nullion, payments of $16 5 million were made as of December 29, 2007 We funded $32 §
mullion of water botthng equipment purchases through a finance lease arrangement 1n 2008 The quarterly
payments under the lease obligation totaled approximately $8 8 mullion per annum for the first two years, $5 3
million per annum for the subsequent two years, then $1 7 mullion per annum for the final four years
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In January 2005, we were named as one of many defendants 1n a class action smt alleging the unauthonzed
use by the defendants of container deposits and the imposition of recycling fees on consumers On June 2, 2006,
the Brish Columbia Supreme Court granted the summary tnal apphication, which resulted 1n the dismissal of the
plainuffs’ action aganst us and the other defendants On June 26, 2006, the planaffs appealed the dismissal of
the action to the Bntish Columbia Court of Appeals which was demed, and an appeal to the Supreme Court of
Canada was rejected on December 20, 2007 In February 2005, stmlar class action clasms were filed 1n a number
of other Canadian provinces Claims filed 1n Quebec have since been discontinued, but 15 unclear how the
chsmmssal of the British Columbia case will impact the other cases

As of December 31, 2011, our accrued hability for htigation contingencies with a probable hikelthood of
loss was $2 9 nullion related to a single contingency Subsequent to December 31, 2011, we settled thus legal
matter for an amount not matenially different than our accrued Labihity

On August 17, 2010, we completed the Chffstar Acquisition The first $15 0 mullion of the contingent
consideration was based upon the achtevement of milestones 1n certain expansion projects tn 2010, which were
achieved 1n 2010 The remainder of the contingent consideration was based on the achievement of certain
performance measures dunng the fiscal year ending January 1, 2011

We were notified on May 9, 2011 by the seller of Chffstar of certain objections to the performance
measures used to calculate the contingent consideration, and the seller asserted a claum for amounts in excess of
the amounts accrued as contingent consideration at July 2, 2011 The seller’s remaining objections to the
calculation of the contingent consideration are subject to an ongoing binding arbitration process under the terms
of the asset purchase agreement The seller 1s seeking up to $12 1 mullion 1n additional contingent consideration.
The final resclution of these matters may result in amounts payable to the seller that vary materially from our
current esnmated fair value We are currently unable to predict the ultimate outcome of this action Any changes
in the fair value of contingent consideration wikl be recorded 1n our Consclidated Statements of Operations

We are subject to vanous claims and legal proceedings with respect to matters such as governmental
regulations, and other actions ansing out of the normal course of business Management believes that the
resolution of these matters will not have a matenal adverse effect on our financial position, resuits of operauons,
or cash flow

In addition, we are involved in legal matters where the hikehhood of loss has been judged to be reasonably
possible, but for which a range of the potential loss cannot be reasonably estumated

We had $9 7 mullion 1n standby letters of credit outstanding as of December 31, 2011 ($12 6 mullion—
January 1, 2011, $9 9 mihon—TJanuary 2)

We have future purchase obhgations of $271 5 nullion that consist of commutments for the purchase of
wnventory, energy transactions, and payments related to information technology outsourcing agreements These
obligations represent the mimmum contractual obligations expected under the normal course of business

Note 18—Shares Held in Trust treated as Treasury Shares

In May 2008, an independent trustee acting under certain of our benefit plans purchased 2 3 mullion of our
common shares to be used to sausfy future habihtres under the PSU Plan and the Restated EISPP Dunng the
year ended December 31, 2011, we distributed 0 2 mallion shares from the trust to satisfy certain PSU obligations
that had vested During the year ended December 31, 2011, we distnbuted 0 2 million shares from the trust to
sausfy certain Restated EISPP obhigations that had vested. As of December 31, 2011, 0 7 million shares were
held 1n trust and accounted for as treasury shares under applicable accounting rules Treasury shares are reported
at cost
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Subsequent to the adoption of the 2010 Equity Incentive Plan on May 4, 2010, the HRCC determuned that
certarn of Cott's long-term incentive plans were no longer needed and terrinated the PSU Plan and the Restated
EISPP effective February 23, 2011 No further awards will be granted under such plans, as future awards will be
made under the Company’s 2010 Equity Incentive Plan.

Note 19—Hedging Transactions and Derivative Financial Instruments

We are directly and indirectly affected by changes 1n foreign currency market conditions These changes in
market condiions may adversely impact our financial performance and are referred to as market nsks When
deemed appropnate by management, we use denvatives as a nsk management (ool to mingate the potential
impact of foreign currency market risks

We purchase forward contract denvanve instruments Forward contracts are agreements to buy or sell a
quantity of a currency at a predetermuned future date, and at a predetermined rate or price We do not enter into
denvauve financiat instruments for trading purposes

All denvauves are carrted at farr value 1n the Consohdated Balance Sheets i the line 1tem other receivables
The carrying values of the denivanves reflect the impact of legally enforceable agreements with the same
counterparties These allow us to net settle positive and negative positions (assets and habihties) ansing from
different transactions with the same counterparty

The accounting for gains and losses that result from changes 1n the fair values of denvative instruments
depends on whether the denvatives have been designated and quahfy as hedging instruments and the types of
hedging relauonshps The changes in fair values of denvatives that have been designated and qualify as cash
flow hedges are recorded 1n accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) (“"AOCT™) and are reclassified into
the hne item tn the Consolidated Statements of Operations 1n wiuch the hedged items are recorded 1n the same
penod the hedged items affect earmings Due to the hugh degree of effectiveness between the hedging instruments
and the underlying exposures being hedged, fluctuations 1n the value of the denvatve instruments are generally
offset by changes in the fair values or cash flows of the underlying exposures being hedged

We formally designate and document, at inception, the financial instrument as a hedge of a specific
underlying exposure, the nsk management objective and the strategy for undertaking the hedge transaction In
addition, we formally assess both at the inception and at least quarterly thereafter, whether the financial
struments used 1n hedging transactions are effective at offsetting changes 1n esther the farr values or cash flows
of the related underlying exposures Any iéffective portion of a financial instrument’s change 1n fair value 18
immedately recogmized into earmings

We estimate the fair values of our denvatives based on quoted market prices or pricing models using current
market rates (refer to Note 21} The nottonal amounts of the denvative financial imstruments do not necessanly
represent amounts exchanged by the parties and, therefore, are not a direct measure of our exposure to the
financial nsks descnbed above The amounts exchanged are calculated by reference to the notional amounts and
by other terms of the denvatives, such as interest rates, foreign currency exchange rates or other financial indices
We do not view the fair values of our denivatives 1n 1solation, but rather 1n relation to the fair values or cash
flows of the underlying hedged transactions All of our denvatives are straightforward over-the-counter
instruments with hquid markets

Credit Risk Associated with Derivatives

We have established stnict counterparty credit guidelines and enter into transactions only with financial
insttutions of investment grade or better We mutigate pre-settlement nsk by being permtted to net settle for
transactions with the same counterparty
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Cash Flow Hedging Strategy

We use cash flow hedges to mimtmuze the variability in cash flows of assets or habilities or forecasted
transactions caused by fluctuatons in foreign currency exchange rates The changes in the fair values of
denvatives designated as cash flow hedges are recorded in AOCI and are reclassified 1nto the line 1item n the
Consolidated Statements of Operations 1n which the hedged items are recorded 1n the same period the hedged
ntems affect eamings The changes in fair values of hedges that are detenmined to be meffective are immediately
reclassified from AOCI into earnings We did not discontinue any cash flow hedging relationships duning the
year ended December 31,2011 The maximum length of ime over which we hedge our exposure to future cash
flows 13 typically one year

We maintan a foreign currency cash flow hedging program to reduce the nsk that our procurement
activities will be adversely affected by changes in foreign currency exchange rates We eater into forward
contracts to hedge certain portions of forecasted cash flows denominated 1n foreign currencies When the U S
dollar strengthens significantly against foreign currencies, the decline 1n the present value of future foreign
currency cash flows 1s partially offset by gains 1n the fair value of the denvatve instruments Conversely, when
the US dollar weakens compared to other currencies, the increase n the present value of future foreign currency
cash flows 1s partally offset by losses mn the fair value of the denvative instruments. The total notional value of
denvatives that have been designated and quahfy for our foreign currency cash flow hedging program as of
December 31, 2011 was approximately $14 7 mullion

The fair value of the Company’s denivative instruments was $0 2 mulhion as of December 31, 2011

The sertlement of our derivative instruments resulted 1n a charge to cost of sales of $0 9 nulhon for the year
ended December 31, 2011

Note 20—Equity Offering

On Avgust 17, 2010, we completed an underwnitten public offenng of 13,340,000 common shares at a price
of $5 67 per share The net proceeds of the Equity Offering of $71 1 mullion, after deducting expenses,
underwnting discounts and commissions, were used to finance, 1n pant, the Chffstar Acquisinon

On August 11, 2009, we completed a public offening of 9,435,000 common shares at a price of $5.30 per
share (the “2009 Stock Offering”) Net proceeds of the 2009 Stock Offering were $47 5 million, after deducting
expenses, underwnting discounts and commussions

Note 21—Fair Value Measurements

ASC No 820 defines fair value as the exchange pnice that would be received for an asset or paid to transfer
a hability (an exit price) 1n the pnncipal or most advantagecus market for the asset or habihity 1n an orderly
transaction between market participants at the measurement date. Additionally, the inputs used to measure far
value are pnontized based on a three-level hierarchy This hierarchy requires enuuies to maximize the use of
observable inputs and munimuze the use of unobservable mputs

The three levels of inputs used to measure fair value are as follows

* Level 1-—Quoted pnices 1n active markets for identical assets or habihties

+ Level 2—Observable inputs other than quoted prices included 1n Level 1, such as quoted prices for
similar assets and habithties 1n active markets, quoted pnices for identical or similar assets and Lhabilities
i markets that are not active, or other inputs that are observable or can be corroborated by observable
market data
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* Level 3—Unobservable mputs that are supported by little or no market activity and that are sigmificant
to the fair value of the assets or habilihes Thus includes certain pricing models, discounted cash flow
methodologies and simular techniques that use sigmficant unobservable inputs

We have certamn assets and habilities that are required to be recorded at fair value on a recurnng basis in
accordance with U S GAAP

December 31, 2011
Fair Value

(in millions of U.S. dollars) Levell Level? Level3 Measurements
Assets
Denivauves — 302 $— $0.2
Assets held for sale _ 12 — 12
Total Assets $— $14 $— 514

Fair value of financial instruments

The carrying amounts reflected n the Consohidated Balance Sheets for cash, recervables, payables, short-
term borrowings and long-term debt approximate their respective faur values, except as otherwise indicated The
carrying values and estmated fair values of our significant outstanding debt as of December 31, 2011 and
January 1, 2011 are as follows

December 31, 2011 January 1, 2011
Carrying Falr Carrylng Fair

(in miflions of U.S, dollars) Value Value Velue Value

8 375% senior notes due 1n 2017! 215.0 2214 2150 2327
8 125% semor notes due 1n 2018 ! 375.0 4045 3750 441
ABL facilaty — — 79 79
Total . . $590.0 $6359 35979 56447

1 The fair values are based on the trading levels and bid/offer pnices observed by a market participant.

Fair value of contingent consideration

The fair value of the contingent consideration payable in the Chffstar Acquisition was based on significant
inputs not observed in the market and thus represented a Level 3 instrument Level 3 instruments are valued
based on unobservable inputs that are supported by hittle or no market acuvity and reflect our own assumptons in
measurning fair value

For the Years Ended
December 31,  January 1,
2011 2011

(in millions of US dollars)

Beginning balance $32.2 $ —
Acquisition date far value — 525
Payment (34.3) —
Accretion to fair value 1.2 —
Adjustments to fair value 0.9 (203)

Ending balance $ — $322
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‘We were notified on May 9, 2011 by the seller of Chffstar of certain objections to the performance
measures used to calculate the contingent consideration, and the seller asserted a claim for amounts 1n excess of
the amounts accrued as contingent consideration at July 2, 2011 Dunng the third and fourth quarters of 2011,
Cott made intertm payments to the seller equal to $21 0 million and $8 6 mullion, respectively The payment of
$21 0 muthion was net of a $4 7 mullion refund due to Cott as a result of the final determination of working
caputal, and the payment of $8 6 million included $0 9 rulhion in settlement of centan of the seller’s objections to
the calculation of the contingent consideration The seller’s remaimng objections to the calculation of the
contingent consideration are subject to an ongoing binding arbitraton process under the terms of the asset
purchase agreement. The seller 1s seeking up to $12 | milhon 10 additional contingent consideration. The final
resolution of these matters may result in amounts payable to the seller that matenally vary from our current
estimated famr value whach consists of payments to the seller as noted above and amounting to $34 3 milliron We
are currently unable to predict the ultimate outcome of this acion Any changes 1n the fair value of contingent
consideration will be recorded 1n our Consohdated Statement of Operations.

Note 22—Quarterly Financial Information (unaudited)

Year ended December 31, 2011
First Second Third Fourth

{in millions of U.S. dollars, except per share amounts) Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter Total
Revenue A . 85341 $640.0 $6113 $5492 $23M6
Cost of sales . 4645 5520 5437 4978 20580
Gross Profit . 69.6 88.0 67.6 514 276.6
Selling, general and admimstrative expenses 45.1 45.1 3s8.1 4.4 172.7
Loss (gain) on disposal of property, plant and equipment —_ — 0.5 0.7 1.2
Asset impairments - - — 0.6 0.6
Intangible asset impawrments — —_ — 14 14
Operatng income 24.5 429 290 4.3 100.7
Net income (loss) attnbuted to Cott Corporation $ 68 $265 $162 $(11.9) $ 376
Per share data
Net income (loss) per common share
Basic . . $007 $028 $ 017 $(0.13) § 040
Diluted .. . $007 $028 $ 0417 $(0.12) § 040
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(in millions of U.S. dollars, ¢xcept per share amounts)

Revenue
Cost of sales .

Gross Profit

Selling, general and admuustrauvc expenses

Loss (gain) on disposal of property, plant and equnpment
Restructuring

Operating incomne
Net income attnbutable to Cott Corporation .

Per share data
Net income per common share
Basic

Diluted

Year ended January 1, 2011

First

Second

Third

Fourth

Quzarter Quarter Quarter! Quarter? Total
$362.9 $424.7 $4869 $528.8 $1,803.3
30587 3512 4198 $4603 1,531.0
572 73.5 67.1 68.5 266.3
324 3.5 473 525 166.7
0.2 0.1) 03 0.7 L1
05 — — — 0.5)
25.1 9.1 19.5 153 99.0
$115 $223 $ 58 $151 $§ 547
$014 $028 $007 $016 $ 064
$014 $028 $007 $ 016 $ 0.63

I Dunng the third guarter of 2010, we completed the Chiffstar Acquisiton We recorded $7 2 million of
transaction costs related to the acquisiton These costs were recorded in SG&A.
?  Dunng the fourth quarter of 2010 we recorded a reduction to the contingent consideration earn-out accrual

of $20 3 mullion

Note 23—Guarantor Subsidiaries

The 2017 Notes and 2018 Notes 1ssued by our wholly-owned subsidiary, Cott Beverages, Inc , are
uncendiionally guaranteed on a sentor basis pursuant to guarantees by Cott Corporation and certain other wholly
owned subsidianes (the “Guarantor Subsidiartes”) The guarantees of the Guarantor Subsidianes are subject to
release 1n himited circumstances only upon the occurrence of certain customary conditions

We have not presented separate financial statements and separate disclosures have not been provided
concermng subsidiary guarantors because management has determined such information 15 not matenal to the

holders of the above-mentioned notes.

The following supplemental financial information sets forth on an unconsohidated basis, our Balance Sheets,
Statements of Operations and Cash Flows for Cott Corporation, Cott Beverages Inc , Guarantor Subsidianes and
our other subsidianes (the “Nen-guarantor Subsidianes™) The supplemental financial information reflects our
investments and those of Cott Beverages Inc 1n their respective subsidianes using the equity method of

accounting
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Condensed Consolidating Statement of Operations
For the year ended December 31, 2011

(in millions of U.S. dollars)

Cott Cott Guarantor Noo-Guarantor Elimination
Corporation Beverages Inc. Subsidiaries  Subsidlaries Eutries Consolidated
Revenue, net $207.0 $9323 $1,065.7 $167.3 $(37.7) $2,3M.6
Cost of sales 167 8 8255 9517 1507 377 2,0580
Gross profit 39.2 106.8 114.0 16.6 —_— 276.6
Selhng, general and
administrative expenses 301 590 718 118 — 1727
Loss on disposal of property,
plant & equipment — 04 08 — — 12
Restructuring and asset
impairments
Restructunng — — — — — —
Asset impairments — — — 06 —_ 06
Intangble asset
impairments —_ 14 — —_ — 14
Operating income 9.1 46.0 414 4.2 — 100,7
Contingent consideration
earn-out adjustment — — 09 — — 09
Other expense (income), net 16 03) 02 07 — 22
Intercompany interest (income)
expense, net 35) “hn 76 —_ —-— —
Interest expense, net 03 548 18 02 — 571
Income (loss) before income
tax expense (benefit) and
equity income (loss) 10.7 4.4) 30.9 i3 _ 40.5
Income tax expense (benefit) 29 {08 33 05 — 07N
Equity income (loss) . 298 42 08 — (34 8) —_
Net income $ 376 $ 06 $ 350 $ 28 $(348) §$ 412
Less Net income attnbutable to
non-controlling interests — — — 36 — 36
Net income (loss) attributed to
Cott Corporation $ 376 $ 0.6 $ 350 $ (0.8) $(348) §$ 316
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Condensed Consolidating Statement of Operations
For the year ended January 1, 2011
(in millions of U.S. dollars)

Cott Cott Guarantor Non-Guarantor Elimination
Corporation Beversges Inc. Sobsidiaries  Subsidiaries Entries Consolidated

Revenue, net . $201.0 $905.6 $600.4 $137.6 $(41.3) $1,803.3
Cost of sales 1580 774 3 5270 119.0 (41 3) 1,537 0
Gross profit . 430 131.3 734 18.6 — 266.3
Selhng, general and

administrative expenses 310 791 426 14.0 —_ 166 7
Loss (gain) on disposal of

property, plant &

equipment .o . — 10 01 02 — 11
Restructunng . — 05 — — — 05
Operating income . 12.0 51.7 30.9 44 —_ 99.0
Contingent consideration

earn-out adjustment — — 20 3) — — (203)
Other expense (income), net 23 13 08 (0 4) — 40
Intercompany interest (income)

expense, net . . (6 8) 82 (13) — on (0 0)
Interest expense, net . 02 356 0.9 02 — 369

Income before income tax
expense and equity income

(loss) . 16.3 6.6 50.8 4.6 0.1 78.4
Income tax expense . . 45 120 17 04 — 18.6
Equity income 429 60 09 — (49 8) —
Net income . . $ 54.7 $ 06 $ 50.0 $ 4.2 $49.Ty $ 598
Less Net income attnbutable to

non-controlling interests — — — 51 — 51
Net income (loss) attributed to

Cott Corporation . $ 547 $ 06 $ 500 $ 0.9 $49.7) $ 547
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Condensed Consolidating Statement of Operations

For the year ended January 2, 2010

(in millions of U.S, dollars)

Cott Cott
Corporatlon Beverages Inc.

Guarantor Noon-Guarantor Elimination

Sobsidiaries  Subsidiarics Entries Consolidated ‘
Revenue, net $198.7  $958.8  $360.6  SI1266  § (48.0) $1,596.7 |
Cost of sales 167.9 8059 3131 108 O 480 1,346 9
Gross profit 30.8 152.9 475 18.6 —_ 249.8
Selling, general and
admimstrative expenses 36.5 109 247 147 — 146 8
Loss (gain) on disposal of
property, plant &
equipment 02 04 on — — 05
Restructuring and asset
unparments
Restructunng 02 13 — — — 15
Asset impairments — 36 — — — 36
Operating (loss) income (6.1) 76.7 229 39 — 974
Other expense, net 0.8 3.6 — — — 44
Intercompany interest (income)
expense, net (8 1) 129 4 8) —-— —_ 00
Interest expense, net 03 28.9 03 02 — 297
Income before income tax
(benefit) expense and equity
income 0.9 31.3 274 37 —_ 63.3
Income tax {benefit) expense (16 8) 9.7) 35 02 — 22 8)
Equity mncome 638 5.7 466 — (116 1) — ‘
Net income $ 815 $ 46.7 $ 705 $ 35 $(116.1) $ 86.1
Less Net income attnbutable to
non-controlling interests — — — 46 — 46
Net income (loss) attributed to
Cott Corporation $ 815 $ 46.7 $ 705 $ (1) $(116,1) $ 815
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ASSETS
Current assets
Cash & cash equivalents
Accounts recervable, net of
allowance .
Income taxes recoverable
Inventones
Prepaid expenses and other
assets .

Total carrent assets
Property, plant & equipment
Goodwill

Intangibles and other assets
Deferred income taxes
Other tax receivable

Due from affiliates
Investments in subsidiares

Total assets

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY
Current habilines
Shon-term borrowings
Current maturities of long-
term debt
Accounts payable and
accrued habilties

Total current liabilities
Long-term debt

Deferred income taxes .
Other long-term liabilities
Due to affiliates

Total liabilities

Equity

Capital stock, no par

Treasury stock

Addinonal pad-m-capital

Retained earnings (deficit)

Accumulated other
comprehensive (loss)
income

Total Cott Corporation equity
Non-controlhing interests

Total equity
Total liabilities and equity

Consolidating Balance Sheet
As of December 31, 2011
({in millions of U.S. dollars)

Cott

Cont

Guarantor Non-Guarantor Ellmination

Corporation Beverages Inc. Subsidinries = Subsidiaries Entries Consolidated
$137 $ 207 $ 53¢ $ 76 $ - $ 100.9
224 972 136 3 14 6 597N 210.8
— 88 08 0.3 — 99
181 602 1242 15 — 2100
18 138 lé6 01 —_ 19.3
56.0 200.7 3238 30.1 39.7 550.9
480 1793 2451 98 _— 4822
269 45 98.2 — — 129.6
09 1053 216.5 184 —_ 341.1
41 — —_ — — 4,1
05 —_ 0.5 — —_ 1.0
303 166 4 79.1 419 3177) —
4598 3655 572.3 2253 (1,622 9) —
$626.5 $1,021.7  $1,535.5 $325.5 $2,000.3) $1,508.9
$ — $ — 5 — $— 0§ — 5 —
— 29 01 04 —_ 34
271 1171 1812 154 (59 7) 281.1
271 120.0 181.3 15.8 (59.7) 284.5
02 5990 12 17 _ 602.1
— 268 68 05 — 34.1
02 35 163 — — 200
432 778 168 9 278 3177 —
70.7 827.1 374.5 45.8 (3717.4) 940,7
3959 5693 1,396 5 2182 (2,184 ) 395.9
25 — — —_ — .D
426 — — — - 426
144 | (365 5) (329 0) 432) 7377 144 }
247 (92) 935 923 (176 6} (247
5558 1946 1.1610 2673 (1,6229) 5558
— — — 12.4 — 12 4
555.8 194.6 1,161.0 279.7 (1,622.9) 568.2
$6265  $1,021.7  $1,5355 $325.5  $(2,0003) $1,508.9
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ASSETS
Current assets
Cash & cash equivalents
Accounts receivable, net of
allowance .
Income taxes recoverable
Inventones .
Prepard expenses and other
assets .

Total current assets
Property, plant & equipment
Goodwill

Intangibles and other assets
Deferred income taxes
Other tax receivable

Due from affil:ates
Investments 1n subsidhanes

Total assets

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY
Current liabilures
Short-term borrowings
Current maturities of long-term
debt
Accounts payable and accrued
habihities

Total current Habilities

Long-term debt

Deferred income taxes .

Other long-term habilities

Losses and distributrons in excess of
imvestment

Due to affiliates

Total liabilities

Equuy

Capntal stock, no par

Treasury stock .

Additionat pud-in-capita

Retamed earnings (deficit)

Accumulated other comprehensive
{loss} income

Total Cott Corporation equity
Non-controlling interests

Total equity
Total liabilities and equity

Consolidating Balance Sheet
As of January 1, 2011
(in millions of U.S. dollars)

Cott
Corporation Beverages Inc. Subsidiaries  Subsidiarfes

Cott

Guarantor Non-Goaraotor Elimination

Entries  Consolidated

$ 78 §$ 91 $ 260 $ 53 § — § 482
108 6 1516 1286 173 (192 5) 2136
—_ £3 ady 03 —_ 03
18 1 66 1 124 6 67 — 2155
16 19.3 81 17 — 327
138.1 474 286.0 L3 (192.5) 5103
500 180 4 2595 139 —_ 5038
274 45 983 —_ — 1302
13 1148 2336 21 4 —_ mnt
37 —_ —_ (12 —_ 25
25 76 12 — —_ 113
2418 166 9 2209 419 (6715) —_
— 3515 — 1610 (512 5) —
$4648 $1073.1 $1,099.5 $268.3 $(1,376.5) $1,529.2
5 — $ 79 & — $ — $ — 3% 79
01 54 01 04 — 60
973 2040 1859 141 (192.5) 308 8
974 217.3 186.0 14.5 (192.5) kr 2]
— 601 9 i4 25 03) 605 5
— 38 107 11 — 436
— 54 169 —_ (01) 222
(198 4) —_ (3227 - 521t —_
432 2196 3772 317 6717 e
(57.8) 1,076.0 269.5 498 (341.5) 994.0
3956 3544 1,1826 1750 (1,7120) 3956
32 — - -~ — 32
407 04 - -— 03) 408
106 4 (350 4) (3520) (36 4) 7389 106 5
(169) (73) (0 6) 669 (59 6) (17 5}
5226 29 8300 2055 (1,033 0) 5222
— — — 130 — 130
522.6 (2.9) 830.0 218.5 (1,033.0) 535.2
$464.8  $1,073.1 $1,099.5 $263.3  $(1,376.5) $1,529.2
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Condensed Consolidating Statement of Cash Flows
For the year ended December 31, 2011
(in millions of U.S. dollars)

Cott Cott Guarantor Non-Guarantor Elimination
Corporation Beverages Inc. Subsidiaries  Subsidiaries Entries  Consolidated
Operating Activities
Net income $376 $ 06 $ 350 $28 $(348) $ 412

Depreciation & amortization 60 351 482 60 — 9513
Amortization of financing fees 03 33 03 — —_ a9
Share-based compensation

expense [ 10 017 0l — 29
Increase (decrease) in deferred

INCome taxes 04 01 39 on — 37
Loss on disposal of property,

plant & equipment —_ 04 08 —_ — 12
Asset impamments — — — 06 — 06
Intangible asset impairments —_— 14 — — -_ 14
Contract termination payments 08 23 —_ _— — an
Equity (loss) income, net of

dstributions (29 6) 42) 02 —_ 336 —_
Intercompany transactions 258 96 — — (354) —
Other non-cash items 01 11 36 03 — 49
Net change 1n operating assets and

Liabilities 25N 2104 (198 6) (38) 366 189
Net cash provided by (used 1n)

Operating activities 150 2565 (1137 57 —_ 161.5
Investing Activities
Acguisition — 343) — — — (34.3)
Additions to property, plant &

equipment (52) 339) 95 02) — (48 8)
Additions to intangtbles and other

assets (02) 53 on on — SN
Proceeds from sale of property,

plant & equipment — G4 — — -— 04
Cther investing activities —_ (18) _ — — (18
Advances to affiliates —-— o 156 1 36 (1597 -
Net cash (used in) provided by

nvesting activities (54) (749) 146.5 3 (1597) (90 2)
Financing Activities
Payments of long-term debt 01 64) —_ (0 5) - {6 8)
Borrowings under ABL — 241 — — — 224 1
Payments under ABL —_ 2319) — — — (231 9)
Advances from affihates ae) (156 — — 1597 —
Distnbutions to non-controlling

Interests — — — (50) - (60}
Exercise of options — 03 — — — 03
Net cash used 1n financing

activihes 35 (1700 — (6 5) 1597 (203)
Effect of exchange rate changes on

cash (02) — 01 02 —_ (03)
Net increase in cash & cash

equivalents 59 11.6 29 23 — 52.7
Cash & cash equivalents,

beginning of period 78 9.1 26.0 5.3 —_ 48.2
Cash & cash eqguivalents, end of

period $ 137 $ 20.7 $ 589 $7.6 s — $ 100.9

|
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Condensed Consolidating Statement of Cash Flows
For the year ended January 1, 2011
(in millions of U.S. dollars)

Operating Activities
Net income

Depreciation & amortization

Amortization of financing fees

Share-based compensation expense

Increase in deferred income taxes

Wnite-off of financing fees

Loss (gam) on disposal of property, plant &
equipment

Loss on buyback of Notes

Conungent consideration earn-out
adjustment

Contract terminatton loss

Contract termination payments

Equity (loss) income, net of distributions

[ntercompany transactions

Other non-cash items

Net change 1n operating assets and
hallities

Net cash (used 1n) provided by operating
activities

Investing Activities

Acquisitton

Additions to property, plant &
equipment

Additions to intangibles and other assets

Proceeds from sale of property, plant &
equipment

Advances to affiliates

Net cash provided by (used 1n) investing
activities

Financing Activities

Payments of long-term debt

Issuance of long-term debt

Borrowings under ABL

Payments under ABL

Advances from affiliates

Intercompany contnbutions

Dhstributions to non-controlling interests

Issuance of common shares, net of offering
fees

Financing fees

Net cash (used 1n) provided by financing

activities
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash

Net increase {decrease) in cash & cash
equivalents

Cash & cash equivalents, beglnning of
period

Cash & cash equivalents, end of
period

Cott Cott Guarantor Non-Guarentor Elimination
Corporation Beverages Inc. Subsidiaries Suobsidiaries Entries  Consolidated
$547 $ 06 $500 $4z2 $497) § 598
63 354 264 59 - 740
04 21 02 —_ — 27
07 39 01 —_ 47
23 120 17 11 —_ 170
02 10 02 — — 14
— 10 o1n 02 —_ I |
—_ 01 — ~— —_ o1
—_ —_ (203) ~— — (203)
— 36 - - — 36
_ (54) —_ — (54)
(429) (60) 09 — 498 —
89 77 — (16 5) —_
20 a8 - oy _ 55
353) 634 (179 76 16 4 342
(28 1231 394 187 —_ 178.4
- (5077 - — — (5077)
(54) (26 5) (10 6) (15 —_ (44 0)
— “2) — —_ _ 42
—_ 03 03 06 — 12
210 — (123) (88 01 —
156 (538 1) (22 6) 9N 01 (554 7)
0l (183) —_ ©0.5) (187)
—_ 3750 _ — - 3750
— 3071 594 — — 3665
— 3193) (597 — —_ (379 0)
B8 123 210) — o1n —
(898) 71 187 — —_ —_
- — — (T4) — (74)
7 _ - — —_ 711
— (142) —_ —_ — (142)
(98) 4137 (26} a9 01 3933
06 _ 0 4) 01 — 03
3.6 {1.3) 1).8 1.2 — 17.3
4.2 104 12.2 4.1 —_ 30.9
$ 78 $ 91 $ 26.0 $ 53 $ — $ 452
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Condensed Consolidating Statement of Cash Flows
For the year ended January 2, 2010
(in millions of U.S. dollars)

Cott Cott Guarantor Non-Guarantor Elimination
Corporation Beverages Inc. Subsidinries Subsidiaries Entries  Consolidated

Operating Actlvities
Net income $ 8t5 $ 467 3705 $ 35 (s $ 861

Depreciztion & amortization 81 319 146 56 — 662
Amortization of financing fees 02 11 02 —_ _ 15
Share-based compensation expense 01 12 —_ -— — 13
Increase (decrease) m deferred income

taxes 33 29 01 on — 62
Loss (gain) on disposal of property, plant &

equipment 02 04 0 1) —_ — 05
Loss on buyback of Notes 15 — —_ — — 15
Asset imparrments — 0l —_ —_ _— 01
Intangible impairments —_ 35 _ —_ —_ 35
Contract termination payments — 38 — — _ 38
Equity (loss) income, net of distnbutions 62 4) 5D “oen (3 1161 —
Intercompany transactions 86 69 — _ (155) —
Other non-cash itemns — 26 — — — 26
Net change in operating assets and

habilities (102 0) 646 (05) 118 155 (10 6)
Net cash (used i} provided by operating

activities (60 9) 158 4 381 195 — 1551
Investing Actlvities
Additrons 1o propenty, plant &

equipment 43 (18 4) (86) aom — 323)
Additions to sntangibles and other assets — {16) — — (16)
Proceeds from sale of property, plant &

equipment — 15 02 —_ — 17
Advances to affiliates 126 —_ (1 99) 85 _—
Net cash provided by (used 1n) investing

activities 83 (185) (196) (109) 85 322)
Financing Activities
Payments of long-term debt —— (265 2) — (03) — {265 5)
Issuance of long-term debt — 2119 —_ _ — 2119
Borrowings under ABL 870 5950 861 — — 768 1
Payments under ABL 90 1) (679 4) (87 1) — — (856 6)
Advances from affilrates 100 113 (12 8) —_ (8.5) —
Distnbutions to non-controlfing interests _ - — (X)) — ()]
Issuance of common shares, net of offering

fees 475 — —_ — —_ 475
Financing fees - 62) — — -— 62)
QOther financing activities — —_ _ on —
Net cash provided by (used 1) financing

activities 544 (132 6) (138) an (8.5) (107 5)
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash 03 — 0l 04 -— 08
Net increase in cash & cash

equivalents 21 7.3 4.8 L9 -— 16.2
Cash & cash equivalents, beginning of

period 21 3.1 74 2.1 — 14.7
Cash & cash equivalents, end of

period $ 4.2 $ 104 $122 $ 40 $ — $ 309
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Schedule II—Valuation and Qualifying Accounts

(in millions of US. dollars)

Description

Reserves deducted in the balance
sheet from the asset to which they
apply

Allowances for losses on

Accounts receivables

Inventones

Deferred income tax assets

(in millions of US. dollars)

Description

Reserves deducted in the balance
sheet from the asset to which they
apply

Allowances for losses on

Accounts receivables

inventones

Deferred income tax assets

(in milions of US dollars)

Description

Reserves deducted in the balance
sheet from the asset to which they
apply

Allowances for losses on

Accounts receivables

Inventones

Deferred income tax assets

Year ended December 31, 2011

Balance at Charpedto Charged to
Beginning of Reduction  Costs and Other Batance at
Year in Sales Expenses Accounts  Deductions End of Year
$C70 — $ 06 $02 305 56N
82) — 21 — 15 (88)
(127) — 94) on —_ (222)
3279 3— $(109) $01 $20 $(367)
Year ended Januoary 1, 2011
Batance at Charged to Charged to
Beginning of Redoction  Cosis and Other Balance at
Year in Sales Expenses Accounts  Deductions End of Year
$059 — 5 (06) $ONn 304 $(70
()] — a3y 02 04) (82)
(17 6) — 44 05 — (127)
$(302) — 3 25 $06 30 8) $(279)
Year ended January 2, 2010
Batance at Chargedto Charged to
Beginning of Reduction Costsand Other Balaace at
Year in Sates Expenses Accounts Dedoctions Endof Year
$G55 — 508 3506 $(02) $G59
n —_ 06 on on (67)
“xn — 227 24 — (17 6)
$(553) $— $225 $29 $(03) $(302)
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Number

Cott Corporation
Exhibit Index

Description

21

31

32

41

42

43

44

45

46

47

48

49

o1

Asset Purchase Agreement, dated as of July 7, 2010, by and among Cott Corporation, Caroline LLC,
a wholly-owned subsidiary of Cott Corporation, Chffstar Corporation, each of the Cliffstar
companies named therein, and Stanley Star, solely tn hus capacity as sellers’ representative
(incorporated by reference to Extubit 2 1 to our Form 8-K/A filed July 9, 2010)

Articles of Amalgamation of Cott Corporation (sncorporated by reference to Exhubit 3 1 to our
Form 10-K filed February 28, 2007).

Amended and Restated By-laws of Cott Corporation (incorporated by reference to Exhubit 3 2 to our
Form 10-Q filed May 10, 2007)

Indenture dated as of December 21, 2001 governing the 8 0% Semor Subordinated Notes due in
2011, between Cott Beverages Inc (as 1ssuer) and HSBC Bank USA (as trustee) (incorporated by
reference to Exhubit 4 3 to our Form 10-K filed March 8, 2002)

Registration Rights Agreement dated as of December 21, 2001, among Cott Beverages Inc , the
Guarantors named therein and Lehman Brothers Inc , BMO Neshitt Bums Corp and CIBC World
Markets Corp (incorporated by reference to Exiubit 4 4 to our Form 10-K filed March 8, 2002)

Supplemental Indenture dated as of November 13, 2009 governing the 8.0% Semor Subordinated
Notes due 2011, by and among Cott Beverages Inc , Cott Corporation, the guarantors identified
therein and HSBC Bank USA, National Associatron, as trustee (incorperated by reference to
Exhibat 4 4 to our Form 8-K filed on November 16, 2009)

Indenture dated as of November i3, 2009, goverming the 8 375% Semor Notes due 2017, by and
among Cott Beverages Inc , Cott Corporation, the guarantors 1dentified theremn and HSBC Bank
USA, Nauonal Association, as trestee (incorporated by reference to Exhibat 4 1 to our Form 8-K filed
on November 16, 2009).

Form of 8 375% Senior Note due 2017 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4 2 to our Form 8-K
filed on November 16, 2009)

Registratron Rights Agreement, dated as of November 13, 2009, among Cott Beverages Inc , Cott
Corporation, the guarantors identified therein and Barclays Capital Inc , J.P Morgan Secunties Inc
and Deutsche Bank Secunties Inc (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4 3 to our Form 8-K filed on
November 16, 2009}

Indenture dated as of August 17, 2010, governng the 8 125% Senior Notes due 2018, by and among
Cott Beverages Inc , Cott Corporation, the guarantors identified therein and HSBC Bank USA,
Natonal Association, as trustee (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4 1 to cur Form 8-K filed
August 20, 2010)

Form of 8 125% Semior Note due 2018 (included as Exhubit A to Extubat 4 7, which 1s incorporated
by reference to Exhubit 4 1 to our Form 8-K filed August 20, 2010}

Registrauon Rights Agreement, dated as of August 17, 2010, among Cott Beverages Inc , Cott
Corporation, the guarantors idenufied therein and Deutsche Bank Securities Inc., as representative to
the Imual Purchasers (incorporated by reference to Exhtbit 4 3 to our Form 8-K filed August 20,
2010)

Supply Agreement, dated December 21, 1998, between Walmart Stores, Inc and Con Beverages
USA, Inc (now “Cott Beverages Inc ™) (incorporated by reference to Exhibat 10 1 of our Form 10-K
filed March 15, 2011)
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Number

Description

1022

103!

1042

1052

106!

1072

1082

1092

10 102

10112

10122

10132

10 142

10 157

10 162

10172

10182

10192

Second Canadian Employee Share Purchase Plan effective January 2, 2001 (incorporated by
reference to Extubit 10 11 to our Form 10-K filed March 20, 2001)

Supply Agreement executed November 11, 2003, effective January 1, 2002 between Crown Cork &
Seal Company, Inc and Cott Corporation (incorporated by reference to Extubit 10.14 to our
Form 10-Q/A filed August 5, 2004)

Share Plan for Non-Employee Directors effective November 1, 2003 (incorporated by reference 1o
Exhubit 10 15 to our Form 10-K filed March 18, 2004)

Restated 1986 Common Share Option Plan of Cott Corporaton/Corporation Cott as amended
through October 20, 2004 (incerporated by reference to Extubst 10 15 to our Form 10-K filed
March 16, 2005).

Amendment to Supply Agreement between Crown Cork & Seal USA, Inc (successor to Crown Cork
& Seal Company, Inc ) and Cott Corporation, dated December 23, 2004 (incorporated by reference to
Extubit 10 17 to our Form 10-K filed March 16, 2005)

Cott Corporation Executive Incentive Share Purchase Plan (2008 Restatement) effective
December 31, 2006 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4 1 of our Form S-8 filed on June 20,
2008)

Employment Offer Letter to Wilham Reis dated January 29, 2007 (incorporated by reference to
Exhbit 10 43 to our Form 10-K filed March 11, 2008)

Employment Offer Letter to Michael Creamer dated Apnl 16, 2007 (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit {0 19 to our Form 10-K filed March 11, 2009)

Amended and Restated Retention, Severance and Non-Competition Plan (incorporated by reference
to Exhubit 10 6 to our Form 10-Q) filed August 9, 2007)

Amended and Restated Performance Share Umit Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhabat 10 7 to
our Form 10-Q filed August 9, 2007)

Amended and Restated Share Appreciation Rights Plan (incorporated by reference to Extubit 10 8 to
our Form 10-Q filed August 9, 2007)

Employment Offer Letter to Gregory Leiter, executed October 15, 2007 (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10 41 to our Form 10-K filed March 11, 2008)

Employment Offer Letter to Jerry Fowden dated February 29, 2008 (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10 29 to our Form 10-K filed March 11, 2009)

Credit Agreement dated as of August 17, 2010 among Cott Corporation, Cott Beverages Inc , Cott
Beverages Limiuted, Chffstar LLC and the other Loan Partes party thereto, the Lenders party thereto,
JPMorgan Chase Bank, N A , London Branch as UK Secunty Trustee, JPMorgan Chase Bank, N A,
as Admimistrative Agent and Admimistrative Collateral Agent, General Electnc Capital Corporation,
as Co-Collateral Agent and Bank of Amernica, N A , as Documentation Agent (incorporated by
reference to Exhitat 10 1 to our Amended Form 10-Q) filed June 20, 2011)

Employment Offer Letter to Neal Cravens dated August 19, 2009 (incorporated by reference to
Exhitut 10 1 1o our Form 10-Q filed October 29, 2009)

Amendment No 1 to Restated Executive Investment Share Purchase Plan, effective December 28,
2008 (1ncorporated by reference to Exhibit 10 1 to our Form 10-Q filed May 5, 2009)

Employment Agreement between Cott Corporation and Jerry Fowden dated February 18, 2009
(mncorporated by reference to Extubat 10 1 to our Form 8-K dated February 24, 2009)

Cou Corporation Severance and Non-Competiion Plan, dated February 18, 2009 (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10 2 to our Form 8-K dated February 24, 2009}

EX-2




Number

Description

10201

10212

10221

1023

10 24

1025

1026

10272

10281

10291

211
231
311

312

ni

322

101

Employment Offer Letter to Marm Morgan Poe dated January 14, 2010 (incorporated by reference to
Exhubit 10 1 to our Form 10-Q filed May 12, 2010)

Common Share Option Cancellaton and Forfeiture Agreement between Jerry Fowden and Cott
Corporation, dated August 9, 2010 (incorporated by reference to Exiubit 10 1 to our Form 8-K filed
August 10, 2010)

Stock Appreciation Right Cancellaton Agreement between Neal Cravens and Cott Corporauon,
dated August 10, 2010 (incorporated by reference to Exhubit 10 2 to our Form 8-K filed August 10,
2010)

2010 Equuty Incenuive Plan (incorporated by reference to Appendix B of our Defimtive Proxy
Statement on Schedule 14A filed on Apnl 1, 2010)

Amendment to 2010 Equuty Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exlubit 4 2 to our Form 8-K
filed on May 4, 2610)

Form of Restrnicted Share Unit Award Agreement with Time-Based Vesting under Cott Corporation’s
2010 Equity Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhubit 10 4 to our Form 10-Q filed
November 10, 2010)

Form of Restricted Share Unit Award Agreement with Performance-Based Vesung under Cott
Corporatien’s 2010 Equity Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhubit 10 5 to our
Form 10-Q filed November 10, 2010)

Employment Oifer Letter to Michael Gibbons dated March 6, 2009 (incorporated by reference to
Extubat 10 1 of our Form 10-K filed March 15, 2011)

Supply Agreement executed December 21, 2010, effective Janvary 1, 2011 between Crown Cork &
Seal USA, Inc and Cott Corporation (incorporated by reference to Exhubit 10 34 of our
Form 10-K/A filed January 1, 2012)

Termination of Supply Agreement and Release dated as of December 31, 2010 between Crown Cork
& Seal USA, Inc and Cott Corporation (incorporated by reference to Exhubit 10 35 of our
Form 10-K/A filed January 1, 2012)

List of Subsidianes of Cott Corporation (filed herewith)
Consent of Independent Registered Certified Public Accounung Firm (filed herewith)}

Ceruficanon of the Chuef Executive Officer pursuant to section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of
2002 for the year ended December 31, 2011 (filed herewith)

Ceruficaton of the Chief Financtal Officer pursuant to section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of
2002 for the year ended December 31, 2011 {filed herewith)

Cernification of the Chief Executive Officer pursuant to section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of
2002 for the year ended December 31, 2011 (furushed herewith)

Certfication of the Chief Financial Officer pursuant to section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of
2002 for the year ended December 31, 2011 (furmished herewith)

The following financial statements from Cott Corporation’s Annual Report on Ferm 10-K for the
year ended December 31, 2011, filed on February 29, 2012, formatted in XBRL (eXtensible Business
Reporting Language)- (1) Consoltdated Statements of Operatuons, (1) Consolhdated Balance Sheets,
{in) Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows, (1v) Consohidated Statements of Equity (v) Condensed
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income (vi) Notes to the Consolidated Financial
Statements (furmshed herewith)

1 Document 1s subject to request for confidenual treatment

2 Indicates a management contract or compensatory plan
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EXHIBIT 21.1
LIST OF SUBSIDIARIES OF COTT CORPORATION

Jurisdiction of Incorporation or Direct or Indirect

Name of Subsidiary Organizmtion Percentage of Ownershlp
1 Cott Holdings Inc Delaware 100%
2 Cott USA Finance LLC Delaware 100%
3 Cott USA Corp Georgla 100%
4 Cont Beverages Inc ! Georgia 100%
5 Northeast Retatler Brands LLC Delaware 51%
6 Cott Vending Inc Delaware 100%
7 Cott Luxembourg Sarl Luxembourg 100%
8 Intennm BCB, LLC Delaware 100%
9 Northeast Finco Inc Delaware 100%
10 Cott NE Heldings Inc Delaware 100%
11 Caroline LLC Delaware 100%
12 Chuffstar LLC Delaware 100%
13 Cott US Acqusttion L1C Delaware 100%
14 Cott U S. Holdings LLC Delaware 100%
15 Star Real Property LLC Delaware 100%
16 Cout IP Holdings Corp Delaware 100%
17 BCB International Holdings Cayman Islands 100%
18 BCB European Holdings Cayman Islands 100%
19 Cott Acqusition Linuted United Kingdom 100%
20 Cott Acqusition LLC Delaware 100%
21 Cott UK Acquisition Limited United Kingdom 100%
22 Cott Retail Brands Limited United Kingdom 100%
23 Cott Europe Trading Limited Umited Kingdom 100%
24 Cott Beverages Limited United Kingdom 100%
25 Cott Limted United Kingdom 100%
26 Cott Nelson (Holdings) Lumuted United Kingdom 100%
27 Cott (Nelson) Limited United Kingdom 100%
28 Cott Private Label Linuted Umted Kingdom 100%
29 Cott Retail Brands Netherlands BY Netherlands 100%
30 2011438 Ontano Ltd Ontano 100%
31 804340 Ontano Ltd Ontano 100%
32 Cott Embotelladores de Mexico, S A de CV Mexico 9%
33 Mexico Botthng Services, SA deCV Mexico 100%
34 Servicios Gerenciales de Mexico, SA deCV Mexico 100%
35 Cott do Brasil Industna, Comercio, Importacao e Exportacac de Bebidas

e Concentrados Ltda Brazil 100%
36 Cott Internatronal Trading, Ltd Barbados 100%
37 Cott International SRL Barbados 100%
38 Cott (Barbados) IBC Ltd Barbados 100%
39 Cot Investrment, LL C Delaware 100%
40 967979 Ontaro Limited Ontano 100%
41 156775 Canada Inc Canada 100%
42 Cott (Hong Kong) Lumted Hong Kong 100%
43 Cott (Shanghar) Trading Co, Ltd China 100%
44 Cott Maquinana y Equipo, SA deC V Mexico 100%
45 AD Personales, SA deCV Mexico 100%

! This entity also does business as Cott Beverages USA, Cott International, Cott Concentrates and RC Cola Intemanonal, each of

which 15 a division of Cott Beverages Inc




EXHIBIT 23.1
CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED CERTIFIED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

We hereby consent to the incorporation by reference in the Registration Statements on Form S-8 (File Number 333-151812,
333-122974, 333-108128, 333-56980 and 333-166507) and Form S-3 (File Number 333-159617) of our report dated February 29,
2012 relating to the financial statements, financial statement schedule and the effectiveness of mternal control over financial
reporting, which appears in this Form 10-K

Is!  PncewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Tampa, Flonda
February 29, 2012




EXHIBIT 31.1
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Jerry Fowden, certify that

1
2

1 have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Cout Corporation,

Based on my knowledge, thus report does not contain any untrue statement of a matenal fact or omut to state
a matena! fact necessary 1o make the statements made, 1n hght of the caircumstances under whach such
statements were made, not misleading with respect to the peniod covered by this report,

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included 1n thus report,
farly present in all matenal respects the financial condstion, results of operations and cash flows of the
registrant as of, and for, the penods presented 1n this report,

The registrant’s other cerufying officer and I are responsible for establishing and mantaimng disclosure

controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules13a-15(e) and 15d-15(¢)) and internal control

over financial reporting (as defined 1n Exchange Act Rules13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and
have

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to
be designed under our supervision, to ensure that matenal information relating to the registrant,
including 1ts consohdated subsidianes, 1s made known to us by others within those entities, particularly
dunng the peniod 1n which this report 1s being prepared,

(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial
reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the
rehability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes m
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles,

(c} Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this
report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end
of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation, and

(d) Dasclosed in this report any change 1n the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that
occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter 1n the
case of an annual report) that has matenally affected, or 1s reasonably hkely to matenally affect, the
registrant’s internal control over financial reporting, and

The registrant’s other centifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal
control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit commuittee of the registrant’s board
of directors (or persons performing the equvalent functions)

(a) All significant deficiencies and matenal weaknesses 1n the design or operation of nternal control over
financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record,
process, summanze and report financial information, and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not matenal, that involves management or other employees who have a
significant role 1n the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting

s/ Jerry Fowden

Jerry Fowden
Chuef Executive Officer
Dated February 29, 2012




EXHIBIT 31.2
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Neal Cravens, certify that

1
2

I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Cott Corporation,

Based on my knowledge, this repont does not contain any untree statement of a matenal fact or omut to state
a matenat fact necessary to make the statements made, n hight of the circumstances under which such
statements were made, not msleading with respect to the penod covered by this report;

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included n thes report,
fairly present in all matenal respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the
registrant as of, and for, the peniods presented 1n thus report,

The registrant’s other cerufying officer and I are responsible for establistung and mammtaiming disclosure
controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e} and 15d-15(e)) and mtemnal control
over financial reporting (as defined 1n Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)} for the regstrant and
have

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to
be designed under our snpervision, to ensure that matenal mforrmation relating to the registrant,
including its consolidated subsidianes, 1s made known to us by others within those entittes, particularly
durning the penod 1n which thus report 1s being prepared,

(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial
reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the
reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in
accordance with generally accepted accounting pnnciples,

(¢} Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented 1n this
report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end
of the peniod covered by this report based on such evaluation, and

{d) Dusclosed 1n this report any change 1n the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that
occurred dunng the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the
case of an annual report) that has matenally affected, or 15 reasonably hkely to materially affect, the
registrant’s internal control over financial reporting, and

The registrant’s other cerufying officer and I have disclosed, based on ovr most recent evaluanon of imemal
control over financial repornng, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit commuttee of the registrant’s board
of directors (or persons performing the equvalent functions)

(a) All significant deficiencies and matenal weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over
financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversety affect the registrant’s ability to record,
process, summanze and report financial information, and

() Any fraud, whether or not matenal, that involves management or other employees who have a
stgmificant role 1n the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting

/s/  Neal Cravens

Neal Cravens
Chief Financial Officer
Dated February 29, 2012




EXHIBIT 32.1
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 18 US.C. SECTION 1350 AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION
906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002.

The undersigned, Jerry Fowden, Chuef Executive Officer of Cott Corporation (the “Company™), has
executed this certification 1n connection with the filing with the Secunities and Exchange Commussion of the
Company's Annual Report on Formn 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2011 (the “Report™)

The undersigned hereby cerufies that to the best of his knowledge.

The Report fully comples with the requirements of Section13(a) or 15(d) of the Secunines Exchange Act of
1934, and

The information contained in the Report fairly preseats, 1n all matenal respects, the financial condition and
results of operations of the Company

IN WITNESS WHEREQF, the undersigned has executed thus certificatton as of the 29t day of February,
2012

s/ _Jerry Fowden

Jerry Fowden
Chief Executive Officer
February 29, 2012




EXHIBIT 32.2
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 18 US.C. SECTION 1350 AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION

906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002.

The undersigned, Neal Cravens, Chuef Financial Officer of Cott Corporation (the “Company™), has executed
this certification 1n connection with the filing with the Secunties and Exchange Commussion of the Company’s
Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2011 (the “Repon”™)

The undersigned hereby certifies that to the best of his knowledge

The Report fully complies with the requrements of Section13(a) or 15(d) of the Secunties Exchange Act of
1934, and

The information contained 1n the Report fairly presents, in all matenal respects, the financial conditon and
results of operations of the Company.

IN WITNESS WHEREQF, the undersigned has executed this certificanon as of the 29 day of February,
2012

/s/ Neal Cravens

Neal Cravens
Chief Financial Officer
February 29, 2012




